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PULSION (Group)  2012 Delta 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

IFRS in  % IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS

Revenues EUR million 34.6 5 % 32.9 31.5 28.1 28.0 28.3

Gross profit EUR million 24.7 9 % 22.7 20.1 18.6 18.6 20.5

EBITDA EUR million 11.6 35 % 8.6 6.4 4.2 2.6 6.0

EBIT EUR million 9.5 41 % 6.8 4.6 2.4 0.6 4.1

Consolidated profit/loss EUR million 7.1 51 % 4.7 2.8 0.5 -0.7 2.5

 

Cash flows used in  
operating activities

EUR million 8.2 -3 % 8.5 6.5 4.0 1.0 4.5

 

Shareholders´Equity* EUR million 23.9 13.0 % 21.1 17.2 17.0 16.2 17.1

Shareholders´Equity 
percentage*

EUR million 74 % 4 % 71 % 67 % 66 % 68 % 64 %

Total assets* EUR million 32.2 8 % 29.7 25.7 25.7 23.8 26.8

R&D expenses 2.4 -19 % 3.0 2.4 2.2 2.2 2.0

     

Employees (average) Amount 124 -2 % 126 126 139 147 141

Revenue per employee TEUR 279 7 % 261 250 202 190 200

Installed base - PiCCO 
monitors*

Units 8,150 9 % 7,500 6,860 6,247 5,743 5,256

*as at 31 December

Key Figures 2012
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“Our employees help to generate medical benefit for  

hospitals, doctors and patients every day through  

continuous innovation, training and compliance with  

the very highest quality requirements”

Patricio Lacalle

CEO
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Report of the  
Executive Director
 
 
Dear customers, shareholders and employees 

The year 2012 again largely fulfilled our expectations. 

Both sales and earnings figures were up on those of the 

previous year and our cost management endeavours 

enabled us to achieve all of our targets.

Sales rose by more than 5.1 % compared to one year 

earlier. Adjusted for currency factors, sales improved by 

4.0  %. The momentum that drove our performance in 

2011 therefore slowed moderately, primarily due to less 

favourable business conditions in the so-called “PIGS” 

countries. In contrast, however, the pace of growth rose 

sharply in a number of key regions, notably the UK and 

the USA. 

As in the previous year, the better earnings were 

again achieved amidst a backdrop of consistent  

cost discipline. We were successful in driving down 

the net OPEX (other operating expenses less other  

operating income) by approximately EUR 0.7 million to  

EUR 15.1 million. Together with the improvement in our 

gross margin, this helped to raise EBIT.

Overall, EBIT climbed by EUR 2.7 million (+41 %) from 

EUR 6.8 million to EUR 9.5 million.

In 2012 PULSION was able to achieve the financial  

targets it set for itself, namely the key performance  

indicators gross earnings, EBIT and free cash flow con-

version rate. The main task in 2013 will be to raise the 

growth rate further with the aid of improved sales man-

agement and a broader product range.

We would like to express our gratitude to all employ-

ees for their great commitment which has made this 

result possible. Thanks go on the one hand to those 

who made a contribution to above-average growth, but 

also equally to those who helped to provide stability and 

continuity in tremendously difficult circumstances.



I. A review of the financial year 2012

In the following, we wish to continue our tradition of giving you a full account of the 
extent to which we achieved the goals we set ourselves for the year 2012 in the 
previous year’s Annual Report. As shareholders, you can therefore see how we deal 
with success and failure: we believe that one can learn a lot from both of these and 
encourage a corresponding culture of intellectually honest discussion, both externally 
and within the company. 

A. �Focus on management and  
key projects 2012

1. 	 Innovation through in-house developments 	

	 and acquisitions

1.1 	Targets for 2012 as stated in the  

	 Annual Report 2011:

“We are planning to launch two new products in Europe 

in 2012 with the CE label:

a)	 one or more software releases adding a number  

of new parameters for PiCCO®, 

b)	 integration of PiCCO® technology into the  

PulsioFlex® platform and market introduction  

in Europe with the CE label.”

1.2 	Implementation in 2012

We did not launch a software release for the PiCCO2
® 

platform in 2012. The planned parameters will be sub-

ject to extensive clinical studies in both 2012 and 2013 

and the respective software release is now scheduled 

to coincide with the turn of the year 2013/ 2014.

The modular integration of the PiCCO® technology in 

the PulsioFlex® platform and also the market launch in 

Europe with the CE label were completed in August as 

planned. As a result, all technologies are now available 

on the latest PULSION monitoring platform. 

Product management is involved with ensuring that 

PULSION’s monitoring platforms are continually improved 

and suited to meet the ever-changing requirements of  

the markets. By merging both new and existing tech

nologies in devices designed to be operated intuitively,  

our innovative products offer users optimal support  

in their day-to-day work. We also work extremely  

closely with our strategic business partners. «
Malte Kochanski

Technical Product Manager 

»
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2. 	Strengthen sales processes and reduce 	

	 staff fluctuation in the field sales force

2.1 	Targets for 2012 as stated in the  

	 Annual Report 2011:

“The recipe for success – potential-orientated sales 

management and communicating the medical benefits 

than can be gained from our products – is still not be-

ing implemented and sustained on a consistent basis 

throughout the Group. We have set ourselves the task 

of improving cooperation between the sales companies 

and headquarters with a view to accelerating growth in 

our companies in Spain, the UK, France and the USA.

A second key target is to reduce employee fluctuation 

in the field sales force from its current high level. New 

management structures have been introduced in coun-

tries with the highest fluctuation rates and the entities 

concerned will receive greater levels of support across 

all functions. Local heads of sales will therefore have the 

wherewithal to lead their teams to success. The plan is 

to reduce employee fluctuation in the field sales force 

from its recent level of 35 % to below 25 % in 2012.”

The employee fluctuation rate is calculated on the basis 

of the average number of employees during the past 

12 months – to the end of the reporting period – and 

the number of employees leaving the Group during that 

period (BDA formula: fluctuation rate = departures/av-

erage number of employees x 100).

Temporary staff and apprentices are not included for the 

purposes of calculating the employee fluctuation rate.

2.2 	Implementation in 2012

In 2012 we provided our foreign sales companies with 

a far greater degree of clinically and medically based 

support. This was achieved firstly by the increased 

presence of clinically and medically trained personnel 

and secondly due to the greater inclusion of opinion 

leaders and external speakers when organizing further 

training courses and workshops held at hospitals. In the 

USA and France, the use of PiCCO® technology there-

fore grew significantly and in the UK the growth rate 

was well over 12 %. By contrast, however, sales figures 

in Spain deteriorated, which was largely attributable to 

the difficult financial situation in the public sector. How-

ever, growth was positive in all other countries where 

our sales companies operate, with double-digit figures 

recorded in some of them. For this reason, we see our 

target as having been largely achieved.

We successfully reduced the rate of fluctuation in our 

field sales team to a greater degree than planned. 

Whereas fluctuation in December 2011 was running at 

37 %, it had fallen to 18 % by December 2012, using 

the same method of measurement. Thus we have cre-

ated the basis for entering the market with a more expe-

rienced team and thereby offer our customers improved 

continuity in 2013. 

3.	 Expansion of Perfusion business unit

3.1	 Targets for 2012 as stated in the  

	 Annual Report 2011:

“In the field of perfusion imaging diagnostics, our task 

is to establish a more focused position in a number of 

targeted areas of application, namely 

�� ophthalmology, 

�� plastic surgery,

�� visceral surgery and

�� neurosurgery 

primarily by documenting and communicating the med-

ical and commercial benefits that can be achieved in 

each of these areas of application. We intend to select 

a specific sales approach to this during the first half of 

2012. 

Secondly, we want to complete the ‘patient recruitment’ 

project phase as part of an approval study for a new 

indication for ICG.”

3.2 	Implementation in 2012

Ophthalmology was again a stable pillar of this business 

field in 2012 and continues to account for more than 

half of our sales revenue. In the fields of plastic and neu-

rosurgery we have intensified collaboration with device 



suppliers and key opinion leaders, which has helped 

generate growth. However, abdominal surgery was no 

longer in the primary focus of our sales endeavours.

Patient recruitment for the approval study for a new in-

dication for ICG has been completed. We now expect 

the studies to be concluded and the first national regu-

latory approval in the course of 2013.

4.	 International growth

4.1	 Targets for 2012 as stated in the  

	 Annual Report 2011:

“The various business alliances established in 2011 must 

now be moved on to the marketing phase. Amongst 

other things, we expect that sales approval will be  

received in Mexico and that the first sales will be record-

ed on this market.

We are also planning the establishment of at least 

a)	 one new joint venture and

b)	 two new distributor agreements.”

4.2 	Implementation in 2012

Sales approval for Mexico has shifted to 2013. In the 

second half of the year, however, the approval process 

greatly benefited in terms of structure and direction with 

the help of a stronger Approvals and Regulatory Affairs 

department together with the locally based partner.

We did not enter into any new joint ventures in 2012. 

After carefully examining several target markets, for the 

time being we will proceed with the approval process 

and then begin negotiating with locally based partners.

Apart from Brazil, we have also entered into new distri-

bution agreements with Ukraine, Kazakhstan, Belarus 

and Colombia. In Brazil we have already held work-

shops that received a positive response for arranged 

tests.

B. Medium-term forecast – P5

In the course of 2012 we readjusted our medium-term 

forecast and substantiated it in individual projects. Un-

der the working title P5 (PULSION in 5 years) a total of 

some 20 individual projects were clearly assigned to the 

teams responsible. All PULSION employees are familiar 

with the project and fully focused on the targets and 

milestones that have been set.

Acquisitions

Perfusion

Emerging markets Critical Care

New products Critical Care

Base line PiCCO® 
(ex emerging markets)

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
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II. Outlook 

Focus on management and key  
projects 2013

The Executive Directors will focus in 2013 in particular 

on following areas, each aimed at achieving faster 

growth: 

P5 – PULSION in 2016, based on the forecast 

we made at the beginning of 2012

In addition to our established strengths including inno-

vation, sales management, internationalization and our 

perfusion business, the programme also includes the 

continual further development of our corporate culture. 

Our definite plans for 2013:

1.	 Innovations

	 In 2013 we want to introduce at least one new pa-

rameter on the market. Secondly we want to bring 

our two projects for the continuous non-invasive 

measurement of blood pressure and cardiac output 

significantly closer to market maturity with the aim 

of releasing the products on the market by 2014.

2. 	 Acquisitions

	 P5 has scheduled one acquisition in 2013. The goal 

is to acquire a technology that helps us supplement 

our two call points ICU and OR. In the medium term 

we plan to integrate the respective technology in our 

monitoring platform. 

	 We will, however, only go ahead with an acquisition 

if it creates economic added value. In this respect 

we do not intend to put ourselves under pressure 

and do not see it as a failure if we are unable to 

report a new deal at the beginning of 2014. 

3. 	 Internationalization

	 Primary focus on the USA: we are looking for a 

solution to significantly bolster our presence on this 

market. The US market constitutes some 40 % of 

the medical technology market worldwide and we 

see openings for our technology in this region.

4.	 Perfusion

	 For the drug ICG we want to obtain approval for a 

new application in 2013. Moreover, we want to gain 

national approval in at least two additional countries 

in order to expand our sales territory.

5.	 Sales management

	 Our approach of potential-orientated sales manage-

ment based on a CRM system with a proprietary 

database is to be fully implemented in all countries 

operating a direct sales system. 

6.	 Cultural change

	 The management team has updated and newly ad-

opted the cultural principles for PULSION. As part of 

the process of setting a good example, this group 

have it assessed over the course of the year before 

the change is incorporated throughout the entire 

enterprise. 

The cleanroom team: An international team made up of people from Germany, Italy, Madagascar, Turkey, Serbia, Bosnia, Russia and Poland 
who have been with the company for up to 17 years.



A brief description of PULSION

PULSION Medical Systems SE is one of the world’s leading providers of solutions  
for advanced haemodynamic monitoring.

PULSION products are used mainly in intensive care 

units and, since 2012, following the introduction of the 

new ProAQT® technology, in perioperative situations, 

where they measure and evaluate a large number of pa-

rameters for visualizing the oxygen supply to the body 

and the condition of its vital systems. In comparison 

to standard monitoring systems, critically ill patients in 

intensive care units and unstable patients in operating 

theatres can be monitored much more comprehensive-

ly. Medical and nursing staff can construct a complete 

picture and make correct and well-informed decisions 

more quickly – potentially life-saving advantages. 

PULSION is currently developing a second prom-

ising business line in the field of perfusion imaging 

diagnostics.

PULSION was founded in 1990 as a spin-off from the 

Technische Universität in Munich and has grown over 

the past 20 years into a medium-sized entity with ap-

proximately 130 employees. Particularly in Europe, 

it has become one of the market leaders in the field 

of haemodynamic monitoring systems for critically ill  

patients in the intensive care unit. 

Alongside its own sales activities, PULSION also works 

in partnership with leading manufacturers of integrat-

ed patient monitoring systems. Those partners are 

helping to spread the use of PULSION’s monitoring 

technologies. 

The overriding objective of PULSION’s endeavours is 

to generate measurable and provable medical bene-

fits. The requirement to generate economic benefits by  

reducing the period a patient spends in the ICU is also 

gaining in importance. It is therefore seen as a strate-

gic objective to concentrate knowledge and know-how 

within the company. This is underlined by the med-

ical background of several members of management,  

a sales force with the appropriate set of skills and a 

Medical Advisory Board comprising internationally  

renowned members.
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Two business units: Critical Care and Perfusion

In its Critical Care business units, PULSION develops 

and manufactures medical products for diagnostics 

and the monitoring of critically ill patients. The products 

are primarily for use in intensive care units and – follow-

ing the introduction of new product lines – increasingly 

also in operating theatres. Physicians are provided with 

extensive information pertaining to the condition of the 

cardiovascular system, which supplies the organs with 

oxygen, as well as information about the condition of 

other important systems in the body. The data can be 

collated by medical practitioners to create an informa-

tive, complete picture which helps them to make the 

correct decisions. The time and information thus gained 

helps the physician to start the correct therapy at an 

early stage and, hence, to avoid complications.

PULSION’s Perfusion business unit deals with the  

visualization of blood perfusion in tissues and organs. 

As an example of this, it enables pathological changes 

in blood vessels to be visualized. During surgery and 

post-operatively, it is possible to check whether there is  

an adequate blood supply to the tissues. For this  

purpose, PULSION uses its own diagnostic agent,  

ICG PULSION®. Once it has been injected into the 

bloodstream it becomes fluorescent. An optical imag-

ing system makes the blood vessels visible. It is a real 

alternative to X-rays since it enables physicians to see 

the perfusion of superficial tissue layers without any ex-

posure to radiation.

Thanks to its outstanding properties, the agent ICG 

PULSION® can be used for diagnostic purposes as well 

as for quality assurance and documentation purpos-

es in numerous fields. This technology is used, for in-

stance, in the fields of ophthalmology and neurosurgery 

as well as abdominal and plastic surgery. PULSION cur-

rently holds exclusive drug approval in nine European 

countries. The company has permission to market ICG 

PULSION® in the USA, where PULSION is one of two 

providers.

The customer is always the main focus for the customer 

service team, at both a national and international level. 

Orders, specification requirements and enquiries land 

here from all over the world and are processed by us in 

close cooperation with our colleagues in Germany and 

abroad. Our dialogue with customers is driven  

by a customer-orientated approach and the desire  

to maximize customer satisfaction.

Manuel Hackel

Customer Service

«

»



 The business model:  
Recurring revenues

Razor / Razorblade business model

To generate revenues with each application: that is the basis of PULSION’s business 
model. Like the manufacturers of ink jet printers, we do not focus exclusively  
on one-off sales of equipment. Recurring business generated with the disposable 
products required to use PULSION technologies accounts for a much bigger share  
of PULSION’s commercial and financial success. 

Monitoring catheters, measurement probes, sensors or 

the agent ICG PULSION®: these disposable items need 

to be regularly replenished by customers and – since 

they can only be purchased via PULSION – represent 

the central source of income for the company. In fact, 

all of PULSION’s products and services are designed 

to generate recurring revenues. This distinguishes us 

from the majority of medical technology manufacturers 

whose business models are limited to initial installa-

tions of equipment in hospitals and medical practices,  

supplemented at best with equipment replacement  

investments and technical services. 

The same principle applies to PULSION’s extensive and 

successful cooperation with major medical-techno

logy providers in the area of monitoring hardware. Even 

though the equipment in this case is supplied by third 

parties, the related disposables business is PULSION’s 

responsibility.

«Daniel Gaedke

Regional Sales Manager for  

North-West Germany

The sales team serves as the interface between PULSION 

and its customers. Pulsion Medical Systems’ core exper-

tise and know-how is outstanding. Each member of the 

team is capable of addressing the individual wishes and 

needs of the customer. Convincing users of the medical 

benefit of our products is just as important as achieving 

sales-related targets. Intensive sales training is carried out 

at regular intervals to ensure quality in our selling activities.

»
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PULSION’s position in the market

The medical-technology industry is extremely polarized. Numerous start-up  
companies are lined up against a small number of international “global players”.  
PULSION ranks exactly in-between – this position requires us to match the  
innovative ability of smaller companies to avoid being overtaken by new players,  
as well as demonstrate excellence in the field of sales in order to survive in  
the face of the “sales machinery” of large corporations.

As a specialist company selling medical-techno

logy products requiring a high degree of explanation,  

PULSION has the opportunity to enter into cooperation 

arrangements with the major manufacturers of integrat-

ed monitoring systems. PULSION brings new technol-

ogies to market, concentrating on the so-called “early 

markets”. PULSION’s products generally provide users 

with considerably more information than the products 

of the big companies. If the markets accept PULSION’s 

innovations and the demand for these products grows 

accordingly, it is then an interesting proposition for man-

ufacturers of integrated patient monitoring systems to 

have these new technologies integrated in their own 

platforms. Numerous large-sized monitor manufactur-

ers have already incorporated PULSION’s technologies 

into their patient monitoring systems, thereby expand-

ing the available equipment base at an above average 

rate. PULSION benefits on the one hand from the reve-

nue generated by the licence arrangement, and on the 

other from the growth in the volume of disposable prod-

uct business generated by the company.

PULSION’s ability to access the market, coupled with 

the degree of specialization discussed above, means 

that cooperation arrangements are also of interest to 

start-up and development companies. Such compa-

nies generally do not have easy access to the market or 

the sales and marketing resources to position their own 

innovative products. In contrast, although the major 

manufacturers of integrated patient monitoring systems 

have strong sales abilities, they regularly rely on new 

medically relevant parameters. It is also generally true 

to say that they cannot be innovative in all areas. This 

is precisely where PULSION comes in: promising prod-

ucts are established on the early markets, mainly using 

a medical-based marketing approach. If a substantial 

market emerges, it then becomes the joint goal to  

integrate the product into the manufacturer’s integrated 

patient monitoring systems.



Rapid diagnosis, safe therapy decisions, the ability to assess the success of  

a chosen therapy continuously: these fundamental demands made of doctors  

and medical staff are addressed by PULSION’s Critical Care business unit. 

The precise parameters measured by our products provide the user with a  

comprehensive picture of the condition of certain vital organs and their systems  

in critically ill patients. The innovative depiction of measurements with state-of- 

the-art monitors facilitates the interpretation of the vast array of information that is  

available, thus enabling users to identify the condition of a patient quickly and  

to reach well-informed decisions.
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Critical Care  
business unit

The main focus of this business unit is on cardiovascular 

monitoring of critically ill patients in intensive care units 

and in operating theatres. A reliable and adequate  

oxygen supply is essential for the proper function of  

organs and tissue. Ensuring oxygen supply to the 

body’s organs is one of the top priorities for intensive 

care specialists and anaesthetists. 

Another minimally invasive monitoring system was  

added to the range of current technologies in 2012 un-

der the umbrella of the StepWISE® – Intelligent Patient 

Monitoring brand name. A non-invasive technology will 

complete the product range in future. Exactly the right 

amount of information can be prepared depending on 

requirements. This will broaden the target markets for 

PULSION’s products and increase the benefits gained 

by the customer since monitoring can be even more 

finely tuned to suit the needs of each individual patient. 

The new PulsioFlex® platform puts this concept fully into 

practice.



Products and monitoring technologies

PULSION currently provides two 

monitoring platforms:

a)	 the traditional PiCCO® platform and

b)	 the PulsioFlex® platform introduced in 2012.

Catheters and probes are assigned to both of these 

platforms with which certain parameters at specified 

levels of accuracy can be measured.

The most important of these are:

a)	 PiCCO® technology

b)	 ProAQT® technology

c)	 CeVOX® technology

d)	 LiMON® technology

In the following section we provide a brief summary of 

these products and technologies.

PiCCO2
®

PULSION’s PiCCO2
® platform, which can be used in in-

tensive medical care in conjunction with the treatment 

of critically ill patients, is very well positioned. The finish, 

design, user interface, ease of use and visualization of 

parameters offered by this platform are amongst the 

best currently available on the market.

Thanks to its platform concept, PiCCO2
® combines 

several PULSION technologies within a single piece of 

equipment. Users are able – depending on the patient, 

complications and the progression of a disease – to 

select the relevant parameters and most appropriate 

monitoring technology. 

With the PiCCO2
® platform, the medical practitioner 

receives precise information about the oxygen supply 

within the body (CeVOX® technology), real-time cardi-

ac and circulatory measurements, the existence of any 

pulmonary complications (PiCCO® technology) as well 

as liver function and blood supply to the abdominal  

organs (LiMON® technology).
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PulsioFlex®

Perioperative medicine is another field in which the 

PiCCO2
® platform can be employed for visualizing  

parameters. This area of medicine involves all aspects 

concerned with preparing for routine or emergency  

operations, minimizing risk to the patient and prevent-

ing complications. Here also, it is essential to establish 

a stable cardiovascular system for the provision of an 

adequate oxygen supply to all tissues. PULSION’s new 

PulsioFlex® monitoring platform is geared precisely  

towards this market. With the integrated ProAQT® 

technology, it is possible to detect haemodynamic  

irregularities at an early stage and initiate the appro-

priate treatment. Since it can be flexibly assembled, it 

is also possible to market the equipment as an indi-

vidual monitor for use with the PULSION CeVOX® and  

LiMON® technologies. In 2012 we supplemented this 

monitoring platform with the PiCCO® technology for the 

field of intensive medicine so that now all technologies 

from PULSION can be used on this platform.

PiCCO®

The PiCCO® catheter is the flagship amongst the  

disposables sold by PULSION. It enables doctors and 

medical practitioners to monitor the cardiovascular sys-

tem of critically ill intensive care patients and to man-

age the selected therapy. In contrast to its competitors, 

PULSION is able to provide an especially comprehen-

sive picture of the patient with PiCCO®. An analogy 

using a car helps to illustrate the difference. Instead 

of only measuring the speed (in medical terms: cardi-

ac output – the volume of blood pumped by the blood 

in one minute), which in itself does not provide a full  

picture of motor performance, PiCCO® also provides 

other important measurements. In addition to the num-

ber of revs (pulse frequency), further measurements are 

the torque and the engine performance (contractibility 

and cardiac power), the wind and frictional resistance 

(vascular tone) and the fuel supply to the engine (cardiac 

preload). The additional information not only shows that 

the engine (heart) is unable to bring the car (blood) to a 

specific speed (if the volume of blood being pumped by 

the heart is too low); the parameters incorporated into 

the system also show the reason for these problems 

and the measures that can be taken to improve the  

situation. This is the all-important distinction between a 

simple and a complete picture.



ProAQT®

The ProAQT® probes are a simplified version of the  

PiCCO® technology. This version is not equipped to 

provide answers to the complex problems posed in the 

field of intensive care medicine, but is definitely useful 

in perioperative medicine. It is a technology which can 

be used for at-risk patients and during high-risk surgery 

for the prevention or early warning of a reduction in oxy-

gen supply and in preparation for appropriate measures 

to be taken. It is a minimally invasive technology which 

can be installed by nursing staff with access via a radial 

catheter.

CeVOX®

CeVOX® technology is designed to monitor the ox-

ygen balance on a continuous basis (ratio of oxygen 

supply to oxygen demand). It enables early detection 

of an inadequate oxygen supply – which could result in 

severe complications. CeVOX® therefore serves as an 

early warning system, enabling the appropriate counter- 

measures to be carried out in good time.

LiMON®

LiMON® technology is used to evaluate and monitor 

liver function. This product is used in intensive care 

medicine for the early detection of complications and 

to monitor the progress of patients suffering from liver 

function disorders and liver failure. In the area of hepatic 

surgery, for example, LiMON® is used to monitor liver 

function, e.g. before and after operations on the liver, or 

liver transplants. 

StepWISE® – Intelligent Patient 
Monitoring 

StepWISE®, PULSION’s latest brand, epitomizes  

PULSION’s patient monitoring philosophy and amal-

gamates all of the monitoring technologies. The aim is 

to provide all hospital patients needing haemodynamic 

monitoring with a suitable methodology to answer rele-

vant clinical questions relating to their condition.
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Markets and competition

Worldwide, up to three million intensive care patients 

and up to 15 million surgical patients could potentially 

benefit each year from improved haemodynamic mon-

itoring and management. At present, the number of  

patients benefiting from these healthcare technologies 

is below 500,000 since these methods have so far not 

become standard applications.

Apart from Edwards Lifesciences as the largest  

market competitor, PULSION is principally confronted 

with smaller rivals such as LiDCO in Europe and ICU 

Medical in the USA. PULSION still sees itself as the 

market leader in the field of intensive care. Our market 

leadership is particularly strong in Europe. 

Sales for the Edwards business field Critical Care 

grew by a total of 3.5 % in 2012. By comparison,  

the  PULSION Critical Care field grew by 3.0 % and the 

relative market share therefore remained approximately 

the same.

In the ICU segment, Edwards Lifesciences presented 

a new monitoring platform (EV1000 with VolumeView) 

in October 2010. This platform was introduced in 2011 

and fully rolled out in 2012. PULSION reacted with  

targeted countermeasures and above all vigorously  

defended its position in Europe so that its sales figures 

in the field of Critical Care again grew, as shown above. 

Based on our own assessment, however, Edwards 

Lifesciences is the market leader in the OR segment. 

PULSION also wishes to participate in this market and 

joined the race in 2011 with its PulsioFlex® / ProAQT® 

product combination. In 2012, the first complete sales 

year, PulsioFlex® / ProAQT® enjoyed a highly positive  

response and achieved almost 5 % market share in the 

field of Critical Care.



Strategy

PULSION is – after its competitor and the market lead-

er Edwards Lifesciences – the second largest provider 

of advanced haemodynamic monitoring products. The 

intention is to strengthen and build on this position. The 

main focus will be placed on the so-called “platform 

strategy”, which was initiated with PiCCO2
® and will be 

carried positively further with PulsioFlex®.

Additional technologies and improvements as well as 

new parameters will be added to the product range 

in 2013 and beyond to provide further benefits for pa-

tients and practitioners. This means that the number 

of areas of application for which PULSION monitoring 

solutions can be used will increase. A further focus will 

be on expanding cooperation arrangements with global 

players in the area of integrated patient monitoring with 

the aim of broadening the installed base by integrating  

PULSION monitoring technologies into other systems 

(see also section “Business partners”).

Research and development

Research and development work performed in recent 

years laid the foundation for the introduction of new 

technologies and products. The main focus has been 

on physiology, new parameters and algorithms. In ad-

dition, PULSION also studies the market and medical 

literature continuously and keeps abreast of develop-

ments in the patent world with a view to identifying 

potential technologies for integration into the PULSION 

product range. 

Production

Now that plastic processing activities have been  

outsourced, cooperation with our production part-

ners has been intensified. Clean room final assembly, 

quality assurance and delivery to customers remained 

unchanged at the new production location. We were 

successfully audited by the American regulatory agency, 

FDA.

The goal of the clinical application team is to establish 

and standardize haemodynamic monitoring in intensive 

medical care as the foundation for goal-directed therapy 

and, hence, better outcomes. We offer dedicated training 

services to doctors and nursing staff on the one hand and 

to our sales partners on the other, supported by extensive 

training material. 

The Internet-based e-learning platform established  

in 2012 in conjunction with the PULSION Academy  

represents a further building block. «
Johann Obermaier

Senior Clinical Application Manager

»
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Marketing

PULSION is represented in 56 different countries. The 

basis for this high level of market presence comes 

from ten subsidiaries on the one hand and distributors 

with worldwide operations on the other. PULSION has  

traditionally been very strong in Central and Western 

Europe and Poland with its subsidiaries or joint ventures.  

PULSION Mexico was founded in April together with a 

joint venture partner. Close cooperation with sales part-

ners in Eastern Europe, Asia and Latin America ensures 

that the markets in these areas are well serviced.

The sales network is focusing its efforts on evaluating 

customer potential and areas of expertise in order to 

communicate medical benefits on a more targeted  

basis. In order to achieve the best marketing results,  

an appropriate combination of medical and classical 

marketing elements is applied. 

The provision of basic and further training to customers 

and practitioners also plays an important role in mar-

keting. In this context, experts provided information at 

numerous workshops, symposia and congresses on 

selected areas of application of PULSION products.

Business partners

Strategic cooperation arrangements with numerous 

business partners in the area of integrated patient mon-

itoring, such as Philips Healthcare, Dräger Medical and 

GE Healthcare, were cemented more firmly during the 

past year. The integration of further technologies with 

major providers of monitoring equipment remains a  

fundamental objective for PULSION.



Before being able to commence with some courses of treatment or surgical 

procedures, it is essential that the state of perfusion in certain individual organs  

or specific areas of tissue is reliably assessed. PULSION has made a name  

for itself in the field of perfusion diagnostics with its own diagnostic agent  

ICG PULSION® (indocyanine green). ICG PULSION® is injected directly into the  

circulatory system. The medical practitioner is able to see the blood vessels  

with the appropriate equipment, e.g. using PULSION’s PDE solution.  

Physicians chose to use ICG PULSION® not only because it involves no radiation, 

but also because of the extremely detailed depiction of structures that this imaging 

system can provide.
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Perfusion  
business unit

The Perfusion business unit serves as the foundation for 

taking full advantage of the enormous market potential 

offered by ICG PULSION®. Numerous areas of applica-

tion – some of them not yet addressed – in the area of 

imaging diagnostics could be serviced in the future with 

ICG PULSION. As well the opportunities identified in the 

areas of breast cancer, neurosurgery and plastic sur-

gery, it is used traditionally in the field of ophthalmology.



Products

ICG PULSION®

ICG PULSION® (indocyanine green) is the core product 

of the Perfusion business unit. The agent indocyanine 

green fluoresces when stimulated by light of specific 

wavelengths. ICG PULSION® is injected directly into the 

circulatory system and allows superficial vessels to be 

visualized when used in an imaging system. There are 

numerous areas of application. In the areas of abdom-

inal and plastic surgery, ICG PULSION® allows efficient 

and reliable testing of the perfusion of newly created 

blood vessel connections. Ophthalmic physicians use 

the dye to identify pathological changes in the vascular 

bed at the fundus of the eye.

Photodynamic Eye (PDE)

Photodynamic Eye (PDE) is the name given to the 

equipment used in some of the areas of surgical  

application involving ICG PULSION® mentioned above. 

This product visualizes the agent’s fluorescence for the 

physician. A camera device is held directly on the body 

region being examined, enabling doctors and medical 

staff to assess tissue perfusion on the operating table 

or at the bedside.

Amongst other benefits, this technology brings with it 

substantial cost advantages, e.g. the use of PDE can 

reduce the necessity for repeat abdominal operations 

by 50 % or more.
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Markets and competition

The markets on which ICG PULSION® is sold are de-

veloping heterogeneously, reflecting the great diversity 

in areas of application for this product. In the area of 

ophthalmology, the use of ICG for fluorescence angi-

ography (to depict the blood vessels of the ocular fun-

dus) has become established. The market for surgical  

applications is growing. The method is, however, slowly 

becoming standard in other fields, in particular in neu-

rosurgery. Momentum is also coming from PULSION’s 

strategic cooperation with equipment manufacturers for 

imaging diagnostics. Although there is a need for effi-

cient depiction of tissue perfusion in the areas of gen-

eral surgery, plastic surgery and breast cancer surgery, 

the related markets are only gradually being built up.

Research and development

Research and development activities in the Perfusion 

business unit are currently focused on new applications 

in the area of diagnostics. The range of indications is 

expected to be expanded accordingly at the end of 

2013 / beginning of 2014.

Strategy

The razor / razorblade business model also applies 

to the Perfusion business unit. The primary aim is to 

achieve a widely installed base for PDE or other equip-

ment requiring the use of ICG in order to generate con-

tinuous revenues from the sale of ICG PULSION®. Part-

nership arrangements with other medical technology 

providers are helping in this respect. These providers 

are already using PULSION’s technology or depend on 

ICG PULSION® for other reasons. In addition to ICG 

PULSION®, PULSION sells other disposable products 

for its solutions, in particular PDE.

Production

PULSION is responsible for the production of ICG  

PULSION® in cooperation with various suppliers. 

Marketing

PULSION has approvals to market ICG PULSION® in 

nine European countries. In the USA, PULSION is one 

of two providers approved by the FDA. 



The year in review

Launch of PULSION Academy app

Introduction of PULSION Academy e-learning 

January

February

March

November

December

July

August

September

October

April

May

June
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Release to market of the PiCCO module  
for the CE region

FDA approval for PulsioFlex® with PiCCO® module

Launch of PulsioFlex® Software 3.1

Distribution agreement with Brazilian partner

Participation at the SCCM congress (Society of  
Critical Care Medicine) in Houston Texas, USA



Events and activities in 2012

The year 2012 stood for improved sales management with a  
broader product portfolio.

PULSION Academy

At PULSION, e-learning is being implemented through-

out the company at various levels of difficulty. The web-

based training scheme is a key element in ensuring a 

high degree of qualification for all staff members in each 

of the company’s specialist departments. Furthermore, 

all users and customers can use the PULSION mobile 

app for additional information on any questions relating 

to haemodynamic monitoring and gain comprehensive 

knowledge on products and applications. 

Sales support through targeted cam-
paign management

Since 2009 PULSION has managed its sales organiza-

tion through targeted campaign management. In this 

endeavour, we specifically focus on selected aspects of 

our technologies during three four-month periods. This 

focusing comprises:

a)	 Specific training of the entire field sales staff in the 

selected topics, mostly two days.

b)	 Production of specific marketing material on the 

selected topics in each of the various national 

languages.

c)	 Selective use of our key opinion leaders on the 

specified topics as multiplicators.

In 2012 the following topics in particular constituted the 

main points in our campaign management:

a)	 Perioperative monitoring in abdominal surgery. 

Insufficient tissue perfusion and intraoperative oxy-

gen deficit cause a significant and quantifiable rate 

of perioperative complications. Specified periopera-

tive therapy was the principal focus of this campaign.

b)	 ARDS. In order to offer better solutions in therapeu-

tic conflicts, the treatment of ARDS patients in inten-

sive care has been a subject in the further campaign 

“Therapeutic conflicts in cases of ARDS”.

PulsioFlex® obtains US approval

With approval for PulsioFlex® devices and the ProAQT® 

sensors, PULSION gains access to the perioperative 

haemodynamic monitoring market in the USA. After the 

successful launch of the PulsioFlex® trend monitoring 

technology in the CE area, the first sales in the USA are 

likely to be in 2013.

Product launch of PiCCO® module for 
PulsioFlex®

With the integration of the PiCCO® technology in the 

PulsioFlex® platform and its market launch across  

Europe, all of the established technologies in the latest 

generation of PULSION monitoring platforms are now 

available.
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PULSION in the US market

The USA accounts for almost 40 % of the world market for medical technical  
products and solutions, making it an extremely important region for PULSION.  
Sales figures in the US market rose by 71% compared to the previous year  
and the Critical Care field contributed with a sales increase of 38 %.

Haemodynamic monitoring in the United States is char-

acterized by a number of specific factors. In the past, 

this sector developed very differently in the USA com-

pared to Europe. The pulmonary arterial catheter (PAC) 

sold by the US company Edwards Lifesciences was the 

clinical standard for several decades. With the medical 

benefits of this procedure, compared to the additional 

risk, being increasingly questioned since the late 1990s, 

there has been a sharp reduction in its usage since then. 

An appropriate replacement has, however, not yet been 

accepted by the market. 

In many quarters, people still remain unconvinced of 

the importance of an all-encompassing approach to 

monitoring in connection with the monitoring and treat-

ment of critically ill patients. Emotional factors also play 

a role, in particular the possible risk of catheter com-

plications through infection. Cost-bearing organizations 

in the USA refuse to bear any of the cost in the event 

of such complications. Studies have shown for a long 

time, however, that the complication rate is similar to 

that of other standard procedures.

The intensification of collaboration with the manufactur-

ers of patient monitoring systems that have integrated 

PULSION technology is highly significant for boosting 

our sales power in the USA. In order to achieve this  

we need to considerably broaden our sales territory in 

the USA. 

PULSION continued to focus on specific regions, in 

particular on the east coast and in the mid-west, where 

many large-scale and important hospitals and university 

clinics are concentrated in a relatively small area. Sever-

al of the clinics acting as PiCCO® reference centres are 

amongst the USA’s top 20 institutions. 

We recorded significant growth in our core field of 

Critical Care in 2012. We registered a good level of 

growth in 2012, largely based on the increased pres-

ence we have shown at congresses and further training 

events since 2011. Sales generated with the agent ICG  

PULSION® continued to rise in 2012. Our sales strategy 

is based on our own sales team, which we intend to 

supplement through collaboration with partners.

I like working for PULSION Medical because it is an 

internationally known company with a strong infrastruc-

ture that provides me with an opportunity to grow myself 

professionally. «
Kyle Hester

Clinical Sales, USA

»



PULSION stock

Over the course of the financial year, PULSION Medical Systems SE stock continued 
its practically unbroken upward trend at an impressive speed. 

The market price of PULSION stock rose from EUR 5.50 

(closing price 2011, Xetra) to EUR 10.00 (year-end price 

2012, Xetra), an increase of 82 %. 

By comparison, in the course of the year the Prime 

Standard Pharma and Healthcare index gained 20 %; 

the SDAX also rose by 19 %. 

Key data on PULSION stock at 31 December 2012

ISIN code: DE 0005487904 (548790)

Ticker symbol: PUS

Stock market segment: Prime Standard

Sector index: Prime Pharma and Healthcare Performance Index

Bearer shares: 8,900,000 *)

Closing price 2011 (Xetra, EUR): 5.50 *)

Closing price 2012 (Xetra, EUR): 10.00

High (52 weeks, Xetra, EUR): 10.73

Low (52 weeks, Xetra, EUR): 5.45

Market capitalization (closing 2012, Xetra, EUR): 88.99 million

Earnings per share (diluted, EUR): 0.82

Issued share capital (EUR): 8,900,000

Transparency level: Prime Standard

Market segment: Regulated market

*) thereof treasury shares: 685,772.
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Employees

The PULSION field sales team has experienced a high 

degree of fluctuation in recent years. In order to im-

prove the situation, at the beginning of 2011 we decid-

ed to systematically record fluctuation and included a 

detailed report on this subject in our quarterly reports. 

These controls helped all those involved in the recruiting 

process (requirements assessment, advertising, selec-

tion, induction and management) to critically examine 

our existing approach and adjust it accordingly. The 

results of the recruiting process in 2012 show that its 

quality has improved at every level. For example, the 

requirements are now described with far greater clarity, 

there are more team interviews and each candidate is 

given a task in preparation for the interview. In addition, 

intensive sales training consisting of three modules per 

year has been held at most company locations. Overall, 

these measures have contributed towards lowering the 

fluctuation rate from 37 % in 2011 to 18 % in 2012. 

In April 2012 two company locations, which encom-

pass the fields of Marketing, R&D, Finance and Admin-

istration as well as Production, Service and Logistics, 

were merged at the site in Feldkirchen near Munich. 

The management team was strengthened by the  

arrival of a new member in the field of quality manage-

ment in 2012. With this move we wish to emphasize 

the company-wide significance of quality and process 

management, which are not solely limited to production, 

procurement and the flow of goods. The Approvals de-

partment was also strengthened with the induction of 

new staff in order to additionally facilitate our increasing 

level of internationalization. 

An e-learning platform was introduced in 2012. The 

platform comprises a three-tier learning programme, 

the first of which has meanwhile been completed by 

all of our employees. The advanced tiers have been 

completed by all those engaged in the fields of sales, 

marketing, development, the Medical department and 

management. The aim of this measure is to imbue our 

staff members with a better understanding of and great-

er identification with the sense and the content of our 

enterprise. PULSION can only grow to the degree that 

our employees grow.

Investor information

In 2012 the shareholders and the general public were 

provided with four press releases and six ad-hoc reports 

on current events and developments. PULSION also 

held a company presentation at an investors’ confer-

ence, the Equity Forum of the German Stock Exchange. 

Further information on share buy-back and capital  

reduction is available in chapter 21 of the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements.



Corporate Governance report

The German Corporate Governance Code (Code) was 

adopted to instil confidence in the corporate gover-

nance of German listed companies. The intention of 

the Code is to make rules on corporate governance 

and the monitoring of management within Germany 

more transparent for national and international inves-

tors. The Code is also expressly applicable for com-

panies structured as a Societas Europaea (SE) with a 

one-tier management system. The principles of good and  

responsible corporate governance determine the ac-

tions of PULSION SE’s management bodies. They 

promote the trust of international and national inves-

tors, customers, employees and the general public in 

management and supervision and are a key factor for 

sustainable corporate success. 

Declaration of Compliance

In accordance with §161 German Stock Corporation 

Act (AktG), management and supervisory boards of 

companies listed in Germany are required by law to re-

port once a year on which points the recommendations 

issued by the “German Government Corporate Gov-

ernance Code Commission” have been and are being 

complied with and which recommendations have not 

been and are not being applied. In this case, the reason 

for any departures from the recommendations must

be given. This requirement applies to the Company in 

accordance with Art. 9 (1) c) (ii) SE-VO, § 22 SE-AG. 

The joint Declaration of Compliance of the Administra-

tive Board and Executive Directors dated 16 Decem-

ber 2012 was made available on the PULSION Group 

website at www.pulsion.com in accordance with § 161 

German Stock Corporation Act (AktG).

Joint Declaration of Compliance of the Administrative Board 
and Executive Directors dated 16 December 2012

Pursuant to Art. 9 (1) c) (ii) SE-VO, and Art. 22 (6) SEAG 

in connection with § 161 of the German Stock Corpora-

tion Act (AktG), the Administrative Board and the Exec-

utive Directors of PULSION Medical Systems SE hereby 

present the following declaration of compliance with the 

recommendations of the 26 May 2010 version of the 

“Government Commission on the German Corporate 

Governance Code” (valid since 2 July 2010) and the  

15 May 2012 version (valid since 15 July 2012) (herein-

after referred to as the “Corporate Governance Code”):

Since issuance of the last Declaration in December 

2011, PULSION Medical Systems SE has – taking  

into account the special aspects of the one-tier system 

of management applied at the Company, described in 

point 1. below – complied with the recommendations of 

the Corporate Governance Code with the exception of 

the recommendations referred to in point 2 below (and 

for the reasons provided therein).
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I.	� Special aspects of the one-tier corporate 

governance system

Taking into account the actual legal structure of the 

Company, PULSION Medical Systems SE relates the 

recommendations contained in the Corporate Gover-

nance Code to the Company’s Administrative Board 

where the Code refers to a supervisory board and to the 

Company’s Executive Directors where the Code refers 

to a management board.

II.	� Exceptions to the recommendations of  

the Corporate Governance Code

1.	 Minimum of two Executive Directors

Contrary to section 4.2.1 of the Corporate Governance 

Code, the Company only has one Executive Director. 

Given the size of the Company and the one-tier sys-

tem of management in place, the Administrative Board 

considers that it is acceptable to do without a second 

Executive Director for a foreseeable period of time. In 

the medium term, it is planned for the Company to have 

two Executive Directors.

 

 

 

 

2.	 No committees

The Company’s Administrative Board comprises three 

members. Contrary to sections 5.3.1 to 5.3.3 of the 

Corporate Governance Code, the Administrative Board 

does not make use of committees. Since PULSION 

complies with the requirement of §23 (1) SEAG for a 

minimum of three members of the Administrative Board, 

it is considered reasonable not to set up committees for 

the Administrative Board.

3.	 Diversity

The present composition of the Administrative Board 

does not comply with the recommendations of the 

Corporate Governance Code with respect to diversity 

pursuant to section 5.4.1 of the Corporate Governance 

Code. The Administrative Board set itself the task of 

appointing a non-German with broad international man-

agement experience to the board. 

PULSION Medical Systems SE will comply in future 

with the recommendations of the Corporate Gover-

nance Code. Only the recommendations stated above 

in points 1, 2, and 3 will not be applied or will not be 

applied temporarily.

 

Feldkirchen, 16 December 2012

On behalf of the Administrative Board

Dr. Burkhard Wittek

On behalf of the Executive Board

Patricio Lacalle



Corporate governance

Shareholders and Annual General 
Meeting

Shareholders exercise their rights prior to and at the 

Annual General Meeting in accordance with the rules 

specified in the Company’s statutes and cast their votes 

at that meeting. The Annual General Meeting makes 

resolutions on all matters stipulated by law and with 

binding effect for all shareholders and the Company. 

Each share of common stock in PULSION SE carries 

one vote.

Shareholders who give notice in good time are entitled 

to attend the Annual General Meeting. Shareholders un-

able to attend in person have the option of casting their 

vote via an authorized proxy or, in line with the recom-

mendation of the German Corporate Governance Code, 

via a representative designated by PULSION SE.

Notice of the Annual General Meeting and information 

and documents relating to proposed resolutions are 

published in accordance with the German Stock Cor-

poration Act (AktG) and are made available in the Inves-

tor Relations section of PULSION SE’s website. 

Administrative Board

The Administrative Board appoints the Executive Direc-

tors, governs the Company, defines the principles of its 

activity and supervises their implementation. In accor-

dance with the Articles of Incorporation, PULSION SE’s 

Administrative Board comprises three members. As  

a result of the size of the Administrative Board, no  

committees have been formed since all members are  

involved in the performance of the tasks that would oth-

erwise be transferred and since no added value would 

be gained. No members of the Administrative Board hold 

more than a total of three mandates on non-PULSION  

Group administrative boards / supervisory boards of 

listed companies or in other bodies with compara-

ble requirements. The names of the members of the  

Administrative Board are shown in note 34 of the con-

solidated financial statements.

Executive Directors

The Executive Directors of PULSION SE manage the 

Company’s business and represent the Company both 

judicially and extra-judicially. Their activities and deci-

sions are directed at furthering the business interests 

of the Company, having given due consideration to the 

interests of shareholders, employees and other stake-

holders and with the ultimate objective of generating 

sustainable added value. The Executive Directors report 

regularly, fully and in good time to the Administrative 

Board on all matters relating to business performance, 

the implementation of corporate strategies and poten-

tial risks. The Company currently has one Executive Di-

rector. The Administrative Board is currently seeking to 

appoint a second Executive Director in the course of 

2013. The name of the Executive Director is shown in 

note 34 of the consolidated financial statements.

Risk management

In accordance with § 91 (2) of the German Stock Cor-

poration Act (AktG), the Administrative Board has set 

up a group-wide risk management system as an in-

tegral part of the Group’s planning, management and 

reporting processes. The risk management system is 

integrated in the organization, enabling risks to be iden-

tified at an early stage and managed appropriately. The 

risk management system is audited as part of the ex-

ternal annual audit. Further details are provided in the 

Group Management report. 

Compliance

The Administrative Board, together with the Company’s 

Executive Directors is responsible for ensuring that all 

provisions of national and international law and inter-

nal regulations of PULSION SE are complied with by all 

PULSION Group entities.
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Cooperation between Administrative 
Board and Executive Directors

Good corporate governance depends on close and ef-

ficient cooperation between the Administrative Board 

and the Executive Directors. The Administrative Board 

and the Executive Directors work together closely in the 

interests of the enterprise. Open discussion is of the 

utmost importance. The Administrative Board defines 

the principles of the Company’s activities and agrees 

upon matters with the Executive Directors, in particular 

with regard to the strategic direction to be taken by the 

Company. The Administrative Board is kept informed 

about the implementation of business strategies, about 

business performance and forecasts as well as the 

Group’s risk profile and risk management system. Major 

transactions require the approval of the Administrative 

Board. 

The Chairman of the Administrative Board reports every 

year to shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 

the activities of the Administrative Board. The Chairman 

also coordinates work within the Administrative Board 

and chairs its meetings. 

The Executive Director fulfils his duties vis-à-vis the 

Administrative Board by reporting orally and in writing 

about the Group’s current business performance, cor-

porate planning, implementation of the strategic di-

rection and position, including its risk profile and risk 

management system. On invitation by the Chairman of 

the Administrative Board, the Executive Director partic-

ipates in the meetings of the Administrative Board and 

reports on the various points of agenda and responds 

to questions posed by the Administrative Board.

The Medical Department plays an important role in 

PULSION’s infrastructure, both internally and externally. 

Internally, by offering medical expertise to the various 

departments, including the direct and indirect Sales 

Teams and the Research and Development department, 

regarding the application of PULSION’s products. Exter-

nally, we provide customers who use our technologies 

in their daily work with clinical support and medical in-

put. We are also responsible for liaising with the valued 

members of PULSION’s Medical Advisory Board, as 

well as other experts from the various fields where our 

products are used. «
Harriet Adamson

Senior Clinical Resource Manager

»



Remuneration of the Administrative 
Board and Executive Directors

The compensation system for the Administrative Board 

and the Executive Director is described in the Group 

Management report. In addition, amounts of compen-

sation paid to the members of Company’s representa-

tive bodies are disclosed by individual person and anal-

ysed into fixed and variable components in the notes to 

the consolidated financial statements. The structure of 

the compensation systems is reviewed regularly. 

Transparency and communication

All of the requirements set out in section 6 of the  

German Corporate Governance Code are fulfilled by 

PULSION. In order to ensure that all market participants 

are provided with the same level of information, all im-

portant information is made available promptly and in a 

uniform manner on PULSION’s website at www.pulsion.

com. This includes, amongst other things, financial re-

ports, press releases, the Articles of Incorporation, the 

financial calendar and reportable transactions pursuant 

to §15a of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG) 

(Directors’ Dealings). 

Information about Directors’ Dealings 
and shareholdings in the financial year 
2012

Members of the Administrative Board and the Executive 

Director and certain other senior management staff of 

PULSION SE as well as related parties of the persons 

concerned are required pursuant to §15a WpHG to 

give notice to the Company of the acquisition and dis-

posal of shares of PULSION SE stock. The requirement 

only applies if the value of the transactions involving a 

member of a representative body of the Company and 

with related parties exceeds an amount of at least EUR 

5,000.00 in a single calendar year. During the financial 

year 2012, the following notifications of transactions 

pursuant to §15a of the German Securities Trading Act 

(WpHG) were given to PULSION SE.

�� 28 February 2012, the purchase of 920 shares at 

EUR 5.50 for a total amount of EUR 5,060.00 by  

Mr Patricio Lacalle, Executive Director

�� 29 February 2012, the purchase of 80 shares at 

EUR 5.50 for a total amount of EUR  440.00 by  

Mr Patricio Lacalle, Executive Director

�� 30 March 2012, the purchase of 5,000 shares at 

EUR 5.905 for a total amount of EUR 29,579.66 

(339 shares at EUR 5.89; 1,161 shares at EUR 5.92; 

339 shares at EUR 5.89; 3,161 shares at EUR 5.92) 

by Mr Patricio Lacalle, Executive Director

�� 24 May 2012, the purchase of 1,600 shares at 

EUR 6.00 for a total amount of EUR 9,600.00 by  

Mr Jürgen Lauer, Member of the Administrative 

Board

�� 14 June 2012, purchase of 1,119 shares at EUR 

6.00 for a total amount of EUR  6,714.00 by Mr  

Nikolas Wittek, natural person closely related to the 

Chairman of the Administrative Board

�� 19 June 2012, purchase of 881 shares at EUR 6.00 

for a total amount of EUR 5,302.00 by Mr Nikolas 

Wittek, natural person closely related to the Chair-

man of the Administrative Board

�� 19 June 2012, the purchase of 3,359 shares at EUR 

6.00 for a total amount of EUR  20,154.00 by Mr 

Jürgen Lauer, Member of the Administrative Board

�� 20 June 2012, the purchase of 205 shares at EUR 

6.00 for a total amount of EUR  1,230.00 by Mr  

Jürgen Lauer, Member of the Administrative Board

�� 25 June 2012, the purchase of 502 shares at EUR 

6.10 for a total amount of EUR  3,062.20 by Mr  

Jürgen Lauer, Member of the Administrative Board

�� 29 June 2012, the purchase of 3,159 shares at EUR 

6.10 for a total amount of EUR  19,269.90 by Mr 

Jürgen Lauer, Member of the Administrative Board

�� 5 July 2012, the purchase of 1,700 shares at EUR 

6.40 for a total amount of EUR  10,810.00 by Mr 

Jürgen Lauer, Member of the Administrative Board

The details of all securities transactions made by per-

sons required to submit notifications are posted prompt-

ly to the PULSION SE website in accordance with legal 

requirements. The publication documents and the cor-

responding notifications are also communicated to the 

German Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin).
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Overview of shareholdings of members of representa-

tive bodies in PULSION Medical Systems SE and key 

management personnel and parties related to them.  

Number of shares 

31 Dec. 2012

Executive Directors

Patricio Lacalle 56,000

Patricio Lacalle (share options) 50,000

Administrative Board

Dr. Burkhard Wittek** 4,541,676

Jürgen Lauer 10,525

Frank Fischer*** 607,231

 
** Based on a shareholder pooling agreement

*** Directly and indirectly attributable via his activities as management 
board member at Shareholder Value Management AG and Shareholder 
Value Beteiligungen AG.

FORUM European Smallcaps GmbH and other share-

holders have set up a shareholders’ pool and gave 

notice that they held 4,541,676 shares in the Compa-

ny as of 31 December 2012. Based on a shareholder 

agreement, the shares are attributable jointly to pool 

participants pursuant to § 30 (2) sentence 1 of the  

German Securities Transitional Act (WpÜG). These 

shares are attributed to Dr. Wittek in his capacity as 

Managing Director (Geschäftsführer) of FORUM Euro-

pean Smallcaps GmbH.

Jürgen Lauer directly holds 10,525 shares of the Com-

pany as of 30 December 2012.

As of 31 December 2012 Frank Fischer, together with 

close family members, holds 56,611 of the Company’s 

shares. In total, 607,231 shares are attributable directly 

and indirectly to Mr Fischer his activities as a manage-

ment board member of Shareholder Value Management 

AG and Shareholder Value Beteiligungen AG.

Financial reporting and audit

Financial reporting

The consolidated financial statements are drawn up 

in accordance with international requirements, Inter-

national Accounting Standards (IAS) and International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as required to 

be used in the European Union. Shareholders are also  

informed during the year in the form of a six-month  

financial report and two quarterly reports.

The statutory separate entity financial statements of 

PULSION Medical Systems SE are drawn up in accor-

dance with the German Commercial Code (HGB). 

The consolidated financial statements are published 

within 90 days of the end of the financial year, the inter-

im reports within 45 days of the end of each reporting 

period.

Share option programmes and similar 
incentive systems

There are no share option programmes or similar incen-

tive systems in place for members of the Administrative 

Board. Two share option programmes are available to 

employees and the Executive Director. Details of these 

programmes are disclosed in note 22 to the consolidat-

ed financial statements.

Audit of the financial statements

The separate entity and consolidated financial state-

ments of PULSION SE were audited by Pricewater-

houseCoopers AG, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 

Munich, who had previously been elected by the share-

holders at the Annual General Meeting. A declaration 

of independence was provided by the audit firm before 

commencement of the audit.



Warren Buffet

„At Berkshire, full reporting means giving you  

the information that we would wish you to give  

to us if our positions were reversed.“
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Report of the  
Administrative Board  
for the Financial Year 2012
 
Dear customers, shareholders and employees

Our Company again made very good progress in the 

past year.

�� Sales grew by 5.1 % to EUR 34.6 million. The  

increase excluding exchange rate factors was 

4.0 %, which was roughly in line with the 4.3 % in-

crease reported in 2011 excluding exchange rate 

factors.

�� EBIT amounted to EUR 9.5 million, and was a 

new record level. The same applies for the EBIT 

margin, which rose to 27.5 %. 

�� Free cash flow – defined as cash flow after taxes, 

net capital expenditure and changes in net current 

assets – amounted to EUR 7.5 million, giving an 

EBIT / free cash flow conversion rate of 79 %, 

was once again ahead of our target rate of 70 %.

Good progress was again made in 2012 with a variety 

of projects which will strengthen PULSION’s business in 

the future. You can read about some of these projects 

in the Administrative Board’s discussion of significant 

issues.

As in previous years, the intention of this report is pro-

vide information to you – as an owner of the Company 

– in the way cited by Warren Buffett in the introduction: 

in your capacity as a co-owner who has not taken part 

in a shareholders’ meeting for a year. Above all, this 

requires: 

�� an open and transparent presentation of develop-

ments which particularly affect owners’ interest.

�� and balanced reporting that fairly communicates 

strengths and weakness as well as opportunities 

and risks.



1. Report on the activities of the Administrative Board in 2012

1.1	�Focus of the Administrative Board’s 
deliberations

The Administrative Board concentrated its activities in 

2012 on the medium and long-term development of 

the business. The following topics were discussed on  

various occasions at Administrative Board meetings:

a)	 Project P5. Our current five-year plan was draft-

ed for the first time at the end of 2011 and covers 

the years 2012 to 2016. The past year, 2012, was 

therefore the first year covered by this business de-

velopment plan. Key issues were the fine-tuning of 

objectives in line with actual progress made in 2012 

and a step-by step definition of specific measures 

to be implemented to accelerate growth. 

b)	 Market launch of the Edwards EV 1000. How 

quickly is Edwards making progress? How can we 

hold on to our existing customer base? How can 

we raise the USP value of the PiCCO® system?

c)	 HR. Which new managers should we be recruit-

ing? Which values and corporate culture does the 

company wish to stand for? Which corporate gov-

ernance principles are applied in running the busi-

ness? How do we increase loyalty to the company 

and reduce employee fluctuation? 

d)	 Innovation management. How is the innovation 

process defined, do we have to redefine it or fine-

tune it? How does the development roadmap for 

2016 look? Does the project portfolio represent a 

good mix and is it realizable within the planned time 

scale with the available resources? Which is the key 

project, and how can we ensure we deliver success 

within the planned time scale?

e)	 USA. How do we improve the transfer of know-how 

from Europe to the USA? How do we increase our 

regional coverage? Which partners do we want to 

work with?

Issues are dealt with roughly in order of importance. 

Compared to the previous year, the whole area of HR 

has been given greater priority. 

1.2	�Assessment of statements made in 
the previous year’s report of the  
Administrative Board

In Section 3 of its report in the previous year, the Ad-

ministrative Board specified the focus of its forthcoming 

work in 2012 and stated some its goals:

a)	 Acceleration of sales growth in conjunction with 

the P5 project to at least 10 % p.a.

b)	 Improvement of innovation management – pro-

cesses were improved in 2012, and the first fol-

low-on innovation after PulsioFlex® / ProAQT® will 

be presented in 2013. The target is to be able to 

report for 2013 that at least 20 % of sales are gen-

erated with products that are less than five years old. 

c)	 Increase in employee loyalty, reduction of em-

ployee fluctuation in the field sales force to 25 % 

by the end of 2012.

1.2.1 �Acceleration of sales growth in  

conjunction with the P5 project to  

at least 10 % p.a.

The five-year plan (“P5”) incorporates a growth rate of 

10 % p.a. over the period 2011 to 2016. The relevant 

graph in the previous year’s Annual Report shows lower 

growth rates in the early years, which then rise in later 

years to above 10 % as acquisitions and more frequent 

innovations take effect. 

The P5 version at the end of 2011 predicted that sales 

would grow to EUR 35.1 million in 2012. Based on sales 

of EUR 32.9 million for 2011, this would have entailed 

a growth rate of 6.7 %. Since we were working on the 

basis of constant exchange rates, we have to compare 

this target with the 4 % sales growth rate achieved in 

2012 after adjustment for currency factors. In view of 

these figures, we did not achieve the target growth rate 

set for P5’s first year. 
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Our segments performed in line with the plan or better 

than planned. The two lines of business with the most 

pronounced better-than-planned growth were Critical 

Care in the USA and the Perfusion segment as a whole. 

Negative variances were recorded for the channels Dis-

tributors (excluding emerging markets) and Emerging 

Markets. In the first case, the biggest influence was the 

18 % decrease in the PIGS countries (Portugal, Ireland, 

Greece and Spain). In the second case, we assume that 

business volumes were affected by order cycles and 

that the phenomenon is temporary. 

Sales of the Critical Care segment increased by 2.9 % 

overall.

Sales performance in 2012 compared to our stock  

exchange-listed competitors operating in the field of 

haemodynamic monitoring was as follows:

Competitors Reporting period Segment   Sales growth

PULSION 2012 Critical Care 3.0 %

Edwards Q I–III 2012 Critical Care (excluding vascular) -1.2 %

Lidco HY1 FY 2013 Group 4.1 %

Deltex HY1 2012 Group 6.8 %

There are no significant privately-held entities operating 

in this line of business. As a result – especially consid-

ering the weight of Edwards’ role in the market – we 

assume that PULSION more or less maintained its 

share of the haemodynamic monitoring market. In di-

rect comparison to our main competitor, we were able 

to increase market share marginally.

Based on actual developments in 2012, we have now 

updated the P5 forecast, set more focused priorities 

and incorporated specific measures. The new plan – 

shown in the diagram below – now envisages that sales 

will rise to EUR 54.4 million in 2016 (instead of EUR 57.7 

million). Over the whole period 2011 – 2016, this cor-

responds to a grow rate of approximately 10.5 % p.a. 

(including acquisitions).

Overall, we give the mark “satisfactory” for our endeav-

ours to attain the predicted P5 sales target for 2012.

Acquisitions

Perfusion

Emerging markets Critical Care

New products Critical Care

Base line PiCCO® 
(ex emerging markets)

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016



1.2.2 �Improvement of innovation  

management

The Administrative Board had forecast the prospect of 

improved processes by 2012. 

In my opinion, we have been successful in this area  

in 2012. Progress was made in particular thanks to 

the transparency created by Dr. Veit Otto, as interim  

manager, and the open discussions held between him 

and the Administrative Board. 

One outcome was to define clear plans for a num-

ber of key projects. Adherence to deadlines for sub- 

projects and product improvements / new releases has 

improved significantly.

A new Head of R&D will be joining PULSION from the 

medical technology sector effective 1 July 2013, which 

will also serve to greatly strengthen the management 

team. Filling this position took longer than expected.

For this reason, we give the mark “good” in terms of  

attaining our targets for innovation management in 

2012. 

1.2.3	 �Increasing employee loyalty; reducing 

employee fluctuation in the field sales 

force

The employee fluctuation rate in the field sales force fell 

37 % to 18 % in the period between 31 December 2011 

and 31 December 2012. The target was a reduction to 

25 % or less, which was therefore achieved. 

Attaining this target in 2012 justifies the mark ”good”.

1.3	Due process 

During the financial year 2012, the Administrative Board 

carried out all its tasks in accordance with the law, the 

Company’s statutes and its own terms of reference; it 

assured itself of the proper governance of the Company 

by the Executive Directors, monitored the activities of 

the Executive Directors on a regular basis and support-

ed them in an advisory capacity.

In all, seven meetings were held, five of which were  

attended in person and two were telephone confer-

ences. The Administrative Board was directly involved 

in decisions of fundamental importance to the enter-

prise. Any business transactions requiring approv-

al were examined, discussed and authorized by the  

Administrative Board. 

As Chairman of the Administrative Board, the under-

signed and his colleagues kept in regular contact with 

the Executive Director outside of scheduled meetings as 

well to discuss major issues and forthcoming decisions. 

The Administrative Board has set itself the task of deep-

ening its understanding of individual aspects of the 

organization both from the meetings described above 

and through ad-hoc contacts. We also wish to take up 

direct contact with employees and with existing and  

potential customers in order to obtain an “unfiltered” 

view of the Group’s situation. We have accordingly allo-

cated ourselves the following tasks:

a)	 In my capacity as Chairman of the Administra-

tive Board, one of my primary responsibilities is to 

oversee “Sales and Marketing in Europe”. My goal 

is spend at least five days out in the field, in other 

words with the sales force team and customers. In 

2012, I spent two of these days with subsidiaries. 

b)	 My deputy, Jürgen Lauer, is heavily involved in 

overseeing financial reporting, accounting and HR. 

During 2012, in addition to the meetings of the Ad-

ministrative Board, he also attended several meet-

ings with administrative employees as well as with 

the Company’s external auditor and tax advisers. 

He also performed an HR audit and helped the 
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Company, at a conceptional level, to develop its 

own corporate culture. 

c)	 Frank Fischer oversees the Perfusion segment. In 

2012 he was involved in a project aimed at expand-

ing the range of indications for the use of ICG and 

held discussions with some of the medical practi-

tioners involved.

In the 2011 Annual Report, we stated our intention to 

bring a new member into the Administrative Board in 

2012, someone with experience in the field of inno-

vation management in the medical technology sector. 

This search was put on the back burner until the Head 

of R&D was found. This issue has been clarified since 

the end of 2012 and we will therefore now resume our 

search. 

2. Corporate governance

2.1	� �Actively practised corporate 
governance

I would like to begin my reflections on corporate  

governance with the statement that, alongside the 

formal requirements placed on corporate governance, 

which are increasingly the focus of public debate, it is 

the culture of communication practised by a com-

pany that is the determining factor. 

Over the last three years, three key principles have 

proved their worth in this context in discussions  

between the Administrative Board and the Executive 

Director:

a)	 Openness means that the Administrative Board 

is comprehensively informed of all developments 

by the Executive Director(s), with no prompting 

necessary. 

b)	 Intellectual honesty means, above all, that infor-

mation is passed on “unfiltered”.

c)	 “Constructive criticism” makes it possible to  

admit to mistakes in order to learn from them. 

The entire Administrative Board has the impression that 

all three principles are actively practised in the dialogue 

between the Administrative Board and the Executive 

Director: the latter keeps us informed at all times of 

matters that are not progressing in line with the plan. 

The information we receive is unfiltered, with the con-

sequence that we can make up our own minds. When 

mistakes are made, we admit to them and ensure that 

we learn from them. 

Speaking as an “old-timer” from within the Administra-

tive Board, I point out that PULSION’s culture of com-

munication was very different in days gone by and that 

it took a complete change in management – both the 

Supervisory Board and Management Board – to turn 

things round. Our current CEO, who embodies the  

values I am talking about and puts them into active 

practice within the organization, has had the strength – 

together with the whole management team – to engage 

in open dialogue with the Administrative Board. This 

approach has resulted on many occasions in intensive 

debate and, in the final analysis, in excellent solutions. 

The Administrative Board would like to thank Mr Lacalle 

and the management team and wish them success in 

their further endeavours to instil these values through-

out the company.

2.2 �Compliance with the relevant version 
of the Corporate Governance Code

PULSION’s approach to the Corporate Governance 

Code remains unchanged and can be summarized as 

follows:

a)	 all recommendations in the relevant version of the 

Code should be complied with unless very signifi-

cant objections apply in specific cases;

b)	 suggestions should be checked in each separate 

case for their suitability.

For a list of these divergences and the reasons for them, 

we refer to the Declaration of Compliance dated De-

cember 16, 2012, published on the PULSION website 

(www.pulsion.com).



3. Focus of the Administrative Board’s work in 2013

The Administrative Board will seek discussions with the Executive Director(s) in 2013 
on the following main issues:

3.1 Project P5

The revised P5 project will remain the key area of focus 

in 2013. We are now targeting an organic growth rate 

of 6 % for sales. 

If an acquisition comes to fruition, the rate would rise 

to well over 10 %. We will, however, only go ahead with 

an acquisition if the return for shareholders, based on 

realistic assumptions, is well above the hurdle rate of 

12 % p.a. 

3.2  �Creating PULSION’s own  
corporate culture –  
“Supportive, and yet challenging”

The second major topic to be dealt with by the Admin-

istrative Board in 2013 will be Human Resources (HR). 

A number of projects were defined at a one-day board 

meeting in the fourth quarter 2012. In particular, the 

organization is to be given the following “hierarchy” of 

values and cultural aspects:

a)	 The PULSION mission statement, which gives  

each individual employee a deeper sense of pur-

pose in their daily work. Experience shows that a 

great many of those who take up a career in health-

care are inspired by a desire to make a concrete 

contribution towards improving the lives of people  

suffering from illness and disease. 

	 We do not currently have a formulated vision of 

this kind at PULSION, even though the company 

has pioneered haemodynamic monitoring and  

thus created a “gold standard” in the field of Critical 

Care.

b)	 The corporate culture, which defines how employ-

ees treat each other. The above-mentioned three key  

values, each in its own way defining the way in 

which we communicate with one another, are  

fundamental components of our corporate culture. 

Although a definition of the key values of the  

PULSION corporate culture exists from 2009, it 

needs to be revitalized, taken to heart by the entire 

staff and actively practised.

c)	 The leadership principles define behaviour  

between executive staff and employees. What are 

our mutual expectations? 

The underlying reason for introducing these measures 

is our observation that from the company’s foundation 

in 1992 until its founder left in 2005, corporate culture 

at PULSION was centred around one particular person. 

After this key reference person left the company, for 

the majority of employees, the point of reference to the 

company also largely disappeared. 

Now that Mr Schmitt and Mr Lacalle have joined  

PULSION, however, the company again has a man-

agement team possessing the personal characteristics 

necessary for creating a new corporate culture through 

active example. Since we rightly emphasized both indi-

vidual and team-orientated achievement over the last 

two years, in order to bring PULSION up to a com-

petitive level of profitability, in the second phase of the 

Culture Change project we intend to place the focus 

on finding the right balance between being “supportive, 

and yet challenging” for our employees.

Our goal for 2013 is to bring the definition phase 

of all three projects to a successful conclusion. 

It is likely to take another two years until all of these 

programmes are broadly practised throughout the 

company.

As a further spin-off benefit, we expect fluctuation  

to remain at a low level. We are striving to achieve 

a fluctuation rate of below 20 % for the field sales 

force. 
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The method of measurement used, which includes all 

those leaving, i.e. including job contracts terminated 

by us during the trial period and those taking maternity 

leave, makes it difficult to arrive at a figure below 15 %, 

in my opinion. We assume that companies reporting a 

lower fluctuation rate in their sales force use a different 

system of measurement.

3.3 �Improvement of innovation 
management

The largest source of growth in the medium-term fore-

cast through to 2016 remains the successful market 

launch of innovative products, both in our core Critical 

Care segment and in the Perfusion segment. 

The Administrative Board and Executive Directors will 

therefore give greater priority to this issue in 2013 than 

in 2012, in particular once the management team has 

been strengthened. 

I do at this stage, however, have to put on ice our  

target of increasing the proportion of sales generated 

with products that are less than five years old to least 

20 % in 2013. It will take time until the changes and  

reinforcements made in this area are translated into  

results, reflecting the fact that development, approval 

and placement processes in the medical technology 

sector are generally slow, and, if anything, have slowed 

down even further in recent years. 

In terms of resource allocation, the R&D budget for 

2013 shows an increase in R&D expenditure (before 

recognition of internally generated assets) of EUR 2.6 

million to EUR 4.9 million. The Administrative Board 

and the Executive Director (as well as the two main 

shareholders) are in agreement that we wish to make  

PULSION fit for the future – even at the expense of 

short-term earnings optimization.

In this context, I can only state that our target for 2013 

is to achieve further improvements in processes and 

to define the Roadmap 2016 and the project portfolio 

more specifically. We should then reap the benefits – in 

the form of additional market launches and correspond-

ing increases in sales– from 2014 onwards. 

We will increase the proportion of sales generated with 

products that are less than five years old by increased 

placements of PulsioFlex® / ProAQT® (marketed since 

2011). The target is that this product group should  

account for 8 % of sales in 2013 (compared to 4 %  

in 2012). 

4. Changes in composition of representative bodies4.

They were no changes in the composition of PULSION’s Administrative Board in 2012 or of Executive Directors. 

5. Audit of the separate and consolidated financial statements 

The consolidated financial statements have been 

drawn up in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS). The auditors, Pricewater-

houseCoopers Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungs-

gesellschaft, Munich, have audited the separate and 

consolidated financial statements of PULSION Medi-

cal Systems SE, as well as the Company and Group 

management reports. The auditors described the rele-

vant auditing principles in their Auditors’ Report. 

They concluded that PULSION SE and its subsidiaries 

complied with International Financial Reporting Stan-

dards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB) and with the Interpretations 

of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 



Committee (IFRIC), as endorsed for use within the  

European Union. The consolidated financial statements 

were given an unqualified audit opinion. 

The annual financial statements, the Company manage-

ment report and the Dependent Company report pur-

suant to § 312 AktG (German Stock Corporation Act), 

the consolidated financial statements and the Group 

management report, together with the long-form audit 

reports of the auditors were made available to all mem-

bers of the Administrative Board. The relevant docu-

ments were discussed in detail at the Administrative 

meeting held on 14 March 2012, in the presence of the 

external auditors. 

The Administrative Board examined the annual finan-

cial statements, the Company management report, the 

proposed appropriation of results and the Dependent 

Company report as well as the consolidated financial 

statements and Group management report. No objec-

tions were raised. At the meeting on 14 March 2012, 

the Administrative Board concurred with the results 

of the external audit. The annual and consolidated  

financial statements prepared by the Executive Director 

are thus approved and the annual financial statements  

adopted in accordance with § 172 AktG (German Stock 

Corporation Act). The Administrative Board agrees with 

the management report and the assessment of the en-

terprise’s position and future development presented 

therein.

6. Risk management 

The Administrative Board deliberated on the Company’s 

risk management system again during the financial year 

2012, focussing in particular on the issue of “fraud” and 

defining a host of measures to improve the system.

The risk management system was also tested in con-

junction with the external audit of the annual financial 

statements. The Administrative Board was not made 

aware of any major weaknesses in the system. 

For further information with regard to risks, reference is 

made to the Risk report included as part of the notes to 

the financial statements. 

7. Approval of the Dependent Company report

In accordance with § 312 AktG (German Stock  

Corporation Act), it was necessary again to draw up a 

Dependent Company report. The Executive Directors  

prepared the Dependent Company report in accor-

dance with § 313 AktG (German Stock Corporation Act). 

The report was audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers AG 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft. Since the audit did not 

give rise to any objections, the external audit issued the 

following assurance report: 

“Based on our audit and the conclusions reached, we confirm that 

1.	 the disclosures made in the report are factually correct,

2.	� the consideration received or paid by the Company for each legal transaction disclosed in the report was not 

unreasonably high,

3	� there are no other circumstances relating to the transactions and measures disclosed in the report which would 

lead to a conclusion different to the one reached by the Executive Director.”
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The Administrative Board examined the Report on Re-

lationships with Affiliated Companies (Dependent Com-

pany report) and approved it in accordance with § 324 

AktG (German Stock Corporation Act). The Administra-

tive Board had no objection to the report and the con-

clusion reached by the Executive Director.

8. Thanks to our shareholders and employees

8.1 Shareholders

The Administrative Board would like to thank  

PULSION’s shareholders for the trust they have placed 

in the Administrative Board. The Company had its third 

successive record-breaking year in 2012. The Compa-

ny’s share price increased during the year under report 

by 90 %, thus easily outperforming the reference index, 

the S-DAX. 

8.2 Employees

We would also like to thank all employees for the com-

mitment shown in 2012. They demonstrated that they 

can take PULSION to an earnings level with which it 

can join the “world league” for medium-sized medical 

technology companies. We increased our budget for 

measures aimed at developing the workforce in 2012 

and will increase it again in 2013 within the context of 

being “supportive, and yet challenging”.

Our employees have also shown our competitor,  

Edwards Lifesciences, that PULSION is and remains 

the gold standard in the field of haemodynamic  mon-

itoring. In doing so, some of our field sales force 

have shown they have the necessary “fighting spirit”.  

Colleagues in Switzerland, Austria and the Benelux 

have succeeded on numerous occasions in persuading 

hospitals, in which Edwards had managed to place its 

EV 1000 monitor, to bring back PULSION into day-to-

day clinical practice, thus proving that “when the going 

gets tough, the tough get going!”

The willingness of our employees to perform will now 

take PULSION to even greater heights.

 

 

 

Feldkirchen, 8 March 2013

 

 

Dr. Burkhard Wittek 

Chairman of the Administrative Board
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Group Management 
Report
 
A Review of the Financial Year

Overview 

Sales of the PULSION Group totalled EUR 34.6 mil-

lion in 2012, 5.1 % up on the previous year’s level of  

EUR 32.9 million. Adjusted for currency factors, the in-

crease was 4 %.

Sales of the Critical Care segment, with its core product 

PiCCO®, climbed by 3 % from EUR 27.9 million in 2011 

to EUR 28.8 million in 2012, while sales of the Perfusion 

segment grew by 16 % from EUR 5.0 million to EUR 

5.8 million.

The gross margin improved further to 71.5 % (2011: 

69.0 %). 

Profit before interest and taxes (EBIT) jumped by EUR 

2.8 million (+41 %) from EUR  6.8  million to EUR  9.5 

million and the EBIT margin improved from 20.5 % to 

27.5 %. 

Group net profit for the year attributable to the share-

holders increased from EUR 4.7 million to EUR 7.0 mil-

lion and earnings per share from EUR 0.51 to EUR 0.82.

Free cash flow after taxes rose by EUR 2.4 million in 

2012 to EUR 7.5 million, giving an EBIT / free cash flow 

conversion rate of 79 %. An amount of EUR 4.4 million 

out of the free cash flow was used to buy back (trea-

sury) shares in the Company. 

Financial Report

General and sector business environment

The year 2012 saw a low real rate of growth in OECD 

countries of 1.4 % (cf. OECD Economic Outlook No. 92, 

Volume 2012, Issue 2).

PULSION generated approximately 81.5 % of its sales 

in Europe. The gross national product (GNP) in this 

region grew at slightly. In some countries, however, 

public-sector austerity measures resulted in cutbacks 

in healthcare expenditure. 

The OECD and the ifo-Institut both predict that the 

economy in the eurozone will contract slightly in 2012 

(-0.1 % and -0.2 % respectively; cf. OECD Economic 

Outlook No. 92 and ifo Economic Forecast 2012/2013). 



Sales 

In the financial year 2012 sales rose by 5.1 % to EUR 

34.6 million (2011: EUR 31.5 million). In the previous 

year an increase of 4.6 % was recorded. Adjusted for 

exchange rate factors, sales rose by 4.0 % in 2012.

Sales by business units

PULSION is organized into two business units: 

a)	 Critical Care: This business unit focuses on sys-

tems used for haemodynamic monitoring. The most 

important products are PiCCO2
® and PulsioFlex® as 

monitors on the one hand and PiCCO® catheters, 

CeVOX® and ProAQT® as disposables on the other.

b)	 Perfusion: Products and systems relating to  

diagnostics and therapy management of organ and 

tissue perfusion are bundled in this business unit. 

The principal areas of application are ophthalmolo-

gy, surgery and hepatology. The principal products 

are PDE and the LiMON® module monitors as well 

as the disposable product indocyanine green (ICG 

PULSION®).

The Critical Care business unit recorded a 3 % increase 

in sales, similar to the growth achieved one year ear-

lier. As can be seen from the table, sales generated 

with monitors edged up by 1 % (2011: 10 % decrease). 

Sales from Critical Care disposable products climbed 

by 4 %, following on from the 7 % rise in the previous 

year. 

The Perfusion business unit was able to generate a 

similarly high growth rate as in the previous year (16 % 

in 2012 compared to 17 % in 2011), with growth driven 

again by sales of the diagnostic agent ICG PULSION®. 

The subsidiary in the USA contributed greatly towards 

this increase. 

 
Sales by product

 
in EUR million 2012 2011 Change in %

Monitors Critical Care 6.7 6.6 0.9 %

 Perfusion 0.5 0.3 60.7 %

Disposables Critical Care 22.2 21.3 4.1 %

 Perfusion 5.3 4.8 11.1 %

Total Critical Care 28.8 27.9 3.3 %

Total Perfusion 5.8 5.0 16.3 %

Total  34.6 32.9 5.1 %

Overall, the sales mix between monitors and dispos-

ables remained stable, with disposables account-

ing for 79 % as in the previous year. The percentage 

share is likely to continue to rise as PiCCO® technology 

is integrated into more and more monitoring systems 

of our partners selling integrated patient monitoring 

systems.

By far the most important product family of PULSION is 

the PiCCO® system, which consists of a monitor and a 

range of catheters. 

In 2012, we sold some 125,000 PiCCO® catheters, sim-

ilar to the previous year’s volume. The installed base of 

PiCCO® monitors rose by 8 % to approximately 8,150.
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In addition, our strategic partners have placed approx-

imately 14,500 PiCCO® modules in the market in the 

last seven years.

PULSION’s second largest product group is ICG, which 

is marketed by the Perfusion business unit. Sales  

generated with ICG PULSION® rose by 11 % to EUR  

5.3 million, with much of the increase coming as a result 

of new applications for ICG, in particular in the USA. 

Sales by region:

Region
2012 

KEUR
2011 

KEUR
 Change 

2011–2012

DACH* 15,877 14,966 6.1 %

Western Europe excluding DACH: 10,889 11,399 -4.5 %

Eastern Europe 1,456 971 49.9 %

USA 2,370 1,592 48.9 %

Japan 561 543 3.3 %

Latin America 238 155 53.5 %

Asia Pacific (ex Japan) 2,735 2,665 2.6 %

ROW** 495 658 -24.8 %

Total 34,621 32,949 5.1 %

* Germany, Austria, Switzerland

** Rest of the world	

The core region of PULSION’s sales activities remains 

the DACH region (Germany, Austria and Switzerland), 

which accounted for 46 % of sales in 2012. The pene-

tration rate of our main product PiCCO® is highest by far 

in this region and sales revenue from this product was 

increased by a further 6 %, mostly thanks to our highly 

experienced and committed field sales force.

Sales generated in the Western Europe region (ex-

cluding DACH) decreased by 4.5 %. A strong sales 

performance in the United Kingdom (+ 13 %) was not 

sufficient to compensate for lower sales revenue levels 

recorded by our subsidiaries in southern Europe. Sales 

revenue in the PIGS countries slumped by 27 %.

In the Eastern Europe region, by contrast, sales 

jumped by 50 %, helped by a good performance by our 

new subsidiary in Poland and by business with distrib-

utors in Russia.

Our subsidiary in the USA was also able to increase 

sales by one half, with strong growth recorded by both 

the Critical Care business unit (up by 38 %) and the  

Perfusion business unit (sales doubled compared to the 

previous year).

Together with our distribution partner, we recorded 

growth of 3 % in Japan in 2012.

The growth rate achieved in the Latin American region 

was again approximately 50 %. Our joint venture in 

Mexico was not yet able to contribute to sales in 2012 

due to delays in obtaining local sales approval for the 

monitoring kits destined for use with our PiCCO® tech-

nology. It is now expected that approval will be obtained 

during the first quarter of 2013.

The Asia-Pacific region (excluding Japan) grew at a 

modest rate of 3 %. The high growth rates seen in pre-

vious years, especially in China, were not repeated in 

2012. We assume that this is not a consequence of 

structural changes, but rather one of consolidation – i.e. 

catching up with the backlog of necessary training and 

education in the large number of newly won hospitals. 



Taking the last three groups as an approximation of our 

performance on emerging markets, the proportion of 

PULSION’s sales generated on emerging markets fell 

from just under 11 % in the previous year to 10 % in 

2012. We remain committed to achieving a proportion 

of 15 % as an intermediate target and believe solid 

foundations have been laid in 2012.

 
Sales by distribution channel

Distribution channel
2012 

KEUR
2011 

KEUR
Change 

2011–2012

Direct 26,354 24,717 6.6 %

Majority-owned subsidiaries 548 528 3.8 %

Distributors 7,719 7,704 0.2 %

Total 34,621 32,949 5.1 %

Our declared aim is to expand our international busi-

ness in all major and potentially large markets through 

direct sales since we consider this to be the best way 

to market our products – which require a relatively high 

degree of explanation – and an easier way to finance 

the placement of monitors than through distributors. 

We will achieve this target either through our own sales 

companies or through joint ventures with local partners. 

 

Direct business comprises our wholly-owned subsid-

iaries in Europe (including Turkey) and the USA. These 

companies grew by 6.6 % in the year under report and 

hence slightly faster than the Group as a whole. 

The category majority-owned subsidiaries currently 

comprises only the companies in Australia and our joint 

venture in Mexico. Business in these countries stagnat-

ed in 2012.

Worldwide business generated via distributors stag-

nated at the level of the previous year. The growth 

achieved in Russia and South America was just suffi-

cient to compensate for declines in sales with our dis-

tributors in southern European countries (Italy, Greece 

and Portugal).

 
Earnings Performance

The gross margin improved from 69.0 % in 2011 to 

71.5 % in 2012, a rise of approximately 2.5 percentage 

points.

This improvement was partly due to the sales channel 

mix since direct business sales, which generate better 

margins, performed better than business with distribu-

tors. Moreover, write-downs on inventories based on 

turnover period were lower in 2012 and therefore had a 

positive impact on the gross margin.

Selling and marketing expenses went up from  

KEUR 9,632 in 2011 to KEUR 10,085 in 2012, main-

ly reflecting the establishment of sales teams in Turkey 

and Mexico as well as additions to the workforce in 

Spain and France.

Selling and marketing expenses as a percentage of 

sales revenue in 2012 were 29.1 % compared to 29.2 % 

one year earlier. We consider a selling cost ratio of just 

below 30 % to be a right and desirable target in the 

medium-term. 

At KEUR 2,425, research and development expens-

es were KEUR 611 or 20 % lower than in 2011 (KEUR 

3,036). The decrease was due to the completion of the 

development of our second monitoring platform Pulsio-

Flex® for the Critical Care segment in 2011. 
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Total R&D expenditure – adjusted for capitalized R&D 

costs – developed as follows: 

 
 2012 

KEUR
2011 

KEUR

R&D expense per income 
statement                   

2,425 3,036

add back amounts capitalized                               107 514

R&D expenditure before 
amounts capitalized 

2,532 3,550

Based on R&D expenditure before amounts capitalized, 

the R&D ratio (expenditure as a percentage of sales) 

was 7.4 % in 2012 compared to 10.8 % one year earli-

er. Our target ratio before capitalization of development 

costs is approximately 10 %.

 

General and administrative expenses amounted 

to EUR 3,438 and were thus at a similar level to the 

previous year (2011: KEUR 3,597). This gives a cost 

ratio of 9.9 % compared to 10.9 % in the previous year. 

For this performance, we have to thank all employees 

who contributed to raising the efficiency of the business 

processes in this area. Our target was a ratio of below 

10 %.

Total operating expenses, net (i.e. after offset against 

other operating income) decreased by KEUR 686 to 

KEUR 15,147. It should be noted that specific allowanc-

es on trade accounts receivable in Spain recognized at 

the end of 2011 amounting to KEUR 313 were reversed 

in 2012 and reported in “Other operating income”.

Overall, the Group recorded an operating profit (EBIT) 

of KEUR 9,535, an improvement of KEUR 2,774 on 

the previous year (KEUR 6,761). The EBIT margin for 

the year 2012 was 27.5 % compared to 20.5 % a year 

earlier. 

Group net profit after minority interests jumped by 

54 % from KEUR 4,569 in 2011 to KEUR 7,027 in 2012. 

This improvement was faster than the increase in EBIT, 

reflecting mainly a sharp decrease in the effective tax 

rate. 

Earnings per share in 2012 amounted to EUR 0.82, up 

61 % compared to the previous year’s EUR 0.51. This 

improvement, which was faster than the increase in net 

profit, was partially attributable to the fact that share 

buy-backs reduced the average number of shares in 

circulation by approximately 3 %. 



Net Assets and Financial Position

Net assets position and performance indicators

The Group balance sheet total went up by 8 % from EUR 29.7 million at the end of the previous year to 

EUR 32.2 million at 31 December 2012.

Key financial indicators relating to the balance sheet and financial position:

Performance indicator Basis of computation Units 2012 2011 Change

Days of Sales Outstanding Trade accounts receivable* 360 days
Sales days  60  65  -8 %

Inventory turnover Cost of sales
Average level of inventories   1.8  1.9 -5 %

First grade liquidity Cash funds* 100
Current liabilities %  158  120 32 %

Fixed asset coverage Equity
Fixed assets   2.7  2.3 20 %

 Net funds Cash on hand and at bank 
less liabilities to banks

EUR 
million  11.4 8.3 37 %

 Net Working Capital Current assets less cash and cash equiva-
lents less current liabilities

EUR 
million  4.9 5.2 -6 %

On the assets side of the balance sheet, non-current 

assets totalled EUR 8.7 million and were thus low-

er than their level of EUR 9.3 million at the end of the 

previous year. Intangible assets went down by EUR 0.6 

million, while property, plant and equipment was almost 

unchanged at EUR 5.1 million. This partly reflects the 

prudent approach taken to recognizing costs for de-

velopment as assets: only approximately 4 % of such 

costs were capitalized, with 96 % recognized directly in 

the income statement as expense.

Trade accounts receivable decreased in 2012 by EUR 

0.2 million from EUR 5.9 million to EUR 5.7 million, as 

a result of which the number of sales days outstanding 

decreased to 60, compared to 65 days at the end of 

2011. 

Inventories stood at EUR 5.7 million, and hence EUR 

0.5 million higher than at 31 December 2012. The in-

ventory turnover rate fell from 1.9 in 2011 to 1.8 in 2012. 

Cash and cash equivalents amounted to KEUR 11,387 

at 31 December 2012. This figure also corresponds to 

net liquidity, since the Company did not have any bank 

or financing liabilities at 31 December 2012. At the end 

of the previous year, net liquidity had been a positive 

amount of KEUR 8,313. 

On the equity and liabilities side of the balance sheet, 

liabilities decreased overall by EUR 0.2 million from EUR 

8.6 million to stand at EUR 8.4 million at the end of the 

reporting period. Net deferred tax liabilities went down 

by EUR 0.2 million to EUR 0.9 million, while current tax 

payables went up by EUR 0.3 million to EUR 2.6 million. 

Deferred tax liabilities exceed deferred tax assets, re-

sulting in the disclosure of net deferred tax liabilities on 

the equity and liabilities side of the balance sheet. 

Equity increased in 2012 by EUR 2.8 million from EUR 

21.1 million to stand at EUR 23.8 million at 31 Decem-

ber 2012. The equity ratio improved from 71 % to 74 %.
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Financial position

The Group manages cash flows on the basis of the key 

performance indicator “free cash flow”. We define free 

cash flow as

a)	 cash flow from operating activities after taxes 

b)	 less cash flows relating to changes in  

net current assets 

c)	 less cash flows from investing activities 

d)	 before acquisitions and share buy-backs. 

Cash flows for the periods under report are disclosed  

in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and  

commented on below.

Cash flows from operating activities before chang-

es in net current assets decreased slightly in 2012 to 

KEUR 8,232 (2011: KEUR 8,463). The increase in the 

net profit for the year contrasted primarily with the in-

crease in cash outflows for tax payments.

Changes in net current assets resulted in a cash inflow 

of KEUR 777 in 2012, compared with a cash outflow of 

KEUR 1,783 in the previous year. The principal reason 

for this improvement was the shorter period of days 

outstanding for trade accounts receivable.

Overall, cash flow from operating activities after 

changes in net current assets went up in 2012 by 

KEUR 2,329 to KEUR 9,009 (2011: KEUR 6,680). 

Cash outflows for investing activities totalled KEUR 

1,490 in 2011, and were therefore KEUR 55 lower 

than in the previous year. This decrease was entirely  

attributable to the lower amount of capitalized costs for 

development and therefore reflects the Group’s prudent 

accounting policy in this area. 

Investment to place monitors – which forms the basis 

for future sales revenue with disposables – was raised to 

KEUR 1,255 (2010: KEUR 1,040), an increase of 21 % 

over the year. In addition to the PiCCO® platform with 

its focus on the intensive care unit (ICU), we were able 

to place a significant number of our new PulsioFlex® 

platform monitors, primarily in the operating room (OR). 

These investments in the market will help us achieve 

sales growth in the coming years.

Free cash flow after taxes increased by KEUR 2,384 

to KEUR 7,519 (2011: KEUR 5,135). 

The EBIT / free cash flow conversion rate in 2012 

was 79 % and hence once again better than our internal 

target of 70 %.

Free cash flow was used for the following measures 

which are allocated to cash flows from financing 

activities:

a)	 Disbursements for share buy-backs totalling  

KEUR 4,549.

b)	 Repayment of bank credits totalling  

KEUR 445. 

As a result of the various cash flows described above, 

cash and cash equivalents increased by EUR 2.6 million 

to EUR 11.4 million.

Share buy-backs

The Company uses available funds to buy back shares if 

the market share price is lower than its estimated innate 

value. As in the previous year, we believe that the price 

of PULSION stock throughout 2012 did not reflect its 

innate value and therefore bought back shares.

In total, 642,362 shares were acquired in 2012 at an 

acquisition cost of EUR 4,549,555.43. The share buy-

backs were executed as follows:

a)	 In conjunction with the first public share buy-back 

offer covering the period from 4 April to 25 April 

2012, 280,521 treasury shares were bought back 

at a market price of EUR 6.00.

b)	 In the Company’s second public share buy-back 

programme covering the period from 30 August to 

27 September 2012, 164,436 treasury shares were 

bought back at a market price of EUR 8.00.

c)	 In conjunction with the ongoing share buy-back pro-

gramme, 197,405 shares were acquired over the 

course of 2012 at an average price of EUR 7.857.

The average price for all buy-backs was EUR 7.083 per 

share.



Of the shares bought back, 37,700 were used to  

service share option programmes. 

At 31 December 2012, PULSION SE holds 683,522 

own shares, equivalent to 7.68 % of the Company’s 

share capital. The Company is currently planning to use 

these shares primarily to service option programmes 

and any remaining shares will cancelled. 

After deduction of the 683,522 treasury shares held by 

the Company at the year end, the number of outstand-

ing shares at 31 December 2012 was 8,216.478 (net).

Capital Expenditure

Total capital expenditure in 2012 amounted to EUR 1.9 

million (2011: EUR 1.9 million). 

Capital expenditure related to the following:

�� EUR 1.3 million was invested in monitors. 

�� EUR 0.2 million was invested in intangible  

assets:	

�� thereof EUR 0.1 million on product development.

�� EUR 0.4 million was invested in technical equip-

ment, plant and machinery as well as other equip-

ment, furniture and fixtures. 

The capital expenditure ratio in 2012, measured as a 

percentage of sales, was therefore unchanged at 5 % 

(2011: 5 %).

Internationalization / Globalization

From our base in Germany, we have pioneered the field 

of minimally invasive haemodynamic monitoring to gain 

market leadership in Europe – both in the ICU and OR. 

The downside of this is that our sales revenue is heavily 

concentrated on Europe: in 2012, for instance, more 

than 80 % of sales were generated in Europe. In this re-

spect we are the archetypal European company – ben-

efiting from a strong underlying culture of technological 

innovation and “German” efficiency in execution, but at 

the same time highly dependent on a continent with a 

low GDP growth rate.

The next stage in our development must therefore be  

to globalize operations. We are thinking about globaliza-

tion on two levels:

a)	 Strengthening our market position in the few grow-

ing, stable major markets for medical technolo-

gy with established competitors and very stable  

market shares, brought about by intelligent cooper-

ation arrangements.

b)	 Establishing a strong market position in emerging 

markets, where market shares have not yet been 

cemented in stone. 

Strengthening market position in  
developed markets 

Without any doubt, the key market for medical technol-

ogy is the USA which accounts for an estimated 40 % of 

the world market for haemodynamic monitoring.

Our sales and marketing strategy in the USA in the Crit-

ical Care segment currently comprises a combination of 

the direct sales channel with a field sales force of fewer 

than 10 employees in heavily populated regions – and a 

high proportion of university clinics – on the East Coast 

and in the Midwest. We are using these resources to 

focus on building up business and relationships with 

reference clinics and opinion leaders. 

Our sales team became significantly more stable in 

2012 following a sharp decrease in the employee fluc-

tuation rate. We have also been successful in winning 

over a number of new, important reference clinics, the 

outcome being a 38 % increase in sales for the Critical 

Care segment.

We have established and clearly defined a key project 

to increase our presence in the USA with the aid of 

local partners. The options open to us are: increased 

inclusion of distributors; strategic deals with US-based 

small-sized med-tech companies for which we, in re-

turn, could offer distribution of their products in Europe; 

and the acquisition of a suitable US company with an 

innovative product portfolio and an established sales 

system in the USA.
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In the Perfusion segment, our strategy in the USA is to 

sell our products indirectly via a distributor and OEM 

customers. In 2012, we were able to double sales in 

this segment. 

The world’s second-largest national market for med-

ical technology is Japan. Our strategy here is based 

on a long-term distribution arrangement with a Japa-

nese company which has exclusive rights to represent  

PULSION in Japan. Japan currently accounts for less 

than 2 % of Group sales. Even after taking account of 

the distributor’s margin, we are still clearly under-repre-

sented in this market. 

Our target is to increase our market share in Japan 

by working even more closely with our distributor. We 

expect to achieve significant growth in the next three 

years, starting in 2013.

Early presence in emerging markets

In terms of potential and the current proportion of 

sales, the most significant part of the world’s emerging  

markets for us is Asia (excluding Japan): in 2012, this 

region accounted for approximately 8 % of sales. 

By far the most important market in this region is China. 

We have been represented there for many years by an 

exclusive distributor who has performed excellent work 

in establishing PULSION’s presence on this market. We 

took a further major step in 2012 in new cooperation  

arrangements with Mindray, a manufacturer of inte

grated patient monitoring systems.

In order to strengthen and secure our presence, we are 

also looking at other options, such as entering into joint 

venture arrangements. We believe that a solution in this 

direction could boost business significantly and create 

a win-win situation for the local partner and PULSION.

In Eastern Europe, which currently accounts for  

approximately 4 % of sales, we feel our business is 

well-structured with the current mixture of direct sales 

and distributors. 

The Latin American market accounts for less than 1 % 

of sales and is therefore currently the smallest of the 

emerging market regions for us. In the medium term, 

however, this region should gain in significance for  

PULSION, especially the largest individual markets, 

Mexico and Brazil.

We have invested in a joint venture in Mexico. In 2012, 

we signed a further distribution agreement in Brazil. If 

the market develops in line with plan, it is our intention 

to replace this solution with joint venture arrangements. 

Purchasing, production, logistics 

The main projects currently being carried out in the ar-

eas of production and logistics are aimed at reducing 

procurement risks by cutting down process complexity. 

The following two projects have been initiated with this 

goal in mind: 

1.	 Improvements to the supply chain process 

	 This project has the task of reducing/avoiding sup-

ply bottlenecks and quality defects. Risk points in 

the supply chain process have been identified and 

the following issues specified: 

�� Definition of performance indicators which are 

regularly observed and reported on.

�� Specification of escalation steps and processes in 

order to have effective reaction times.

�� Implementation of improvement measures to  

minimize risks. One example of this is a change  

in materials used which resulted in a 100 %  

reduction in reclamations (from 60 per year to 0 

per year).

2.	 Uniform management and production of ProAQT® 

and monitoring kit by a single manufacturer. 

	 Production of the monitoring kit was transferred  

to Italy, where it is being manufactured by a single 

supplier alongside ProAQT®. This move has simpli-

fied raw materials procurement and enables better 

quality management over the supplier’s processes. 



Human Resources 

Employees and employment structure

The Company had a worldwide workforce (including 

1 person employed on a low wage-earning basis), of 

123 employees at the end of the year compared to 

123 employees (including 6 people employed on a 

low wage-earning basis) one year earlier. In terms of 

full-time equivalents (FTEs), however, the workforce  

increased from 117 to 119 at the two year ends.

Number of employees (FTEs) 

2011 2012
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Marketing

R & D

Operations

Admin
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More than 50 % of PULSION’s employees are allocated 

to selling and marketing activities. Out of this figure, in 

turn, approximately two thirds work in the field sales 

force. This structure represents one of the Group’s stra-

tegic strengths and is seen as a good basis for further 

growth. 

In the area of research and development, PULSION 

was able to recruit several new and highly qualified em-

ployees in 2012 (Quality Assurance, Regulatory Affairs), 

while a number of other posts became free which it was 

not possible to fill immediately: this will be done during 

the first half of 2013. 

Sales per employee (annual average) increased from 

KEUR 261 in 2011 to KEUR 279 in 2012.

Employee development

The provision of further training for employees was again 

given high priority in 2012. During the year a total of 47 

employees received further training, compared with 32 

one year earlier. The main focuses were on selling and 

product training as well as further training in the areas of 

leadership and quality assurance. The budget for exter-

nal training was raised by approximately 8 %. 

Another clear focus is on linking employee remuner-

ation where possible to corporate targets and per

formance: this is now the case for most employees 

within the Group. Bonus agreements include a remu-

neration component based on specific personal targets 

and Group EBIT. The variable portion of remuneration 

based on EBIT is 30 % for first-tier management, 20 % 

for department heads and 10 % for all other employees. 

Employee fluctuation

The employee fluctuation rate is calculated on the basis 

of the average number of employees during the past 

12 months – to the end of the reporting period – and 

the number of employees leaving the Group during that 

period (BDA formula: fluctuation rate = departures/av-

erage number of employees x 100).

Temporary staff and apprentices are not included for the 

purposes of calculating the employee fluctuation rate.
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Fluctuation rate 2012
Employees Disposals Employee fluctuation rate

Field sales force 40 7 18 %

Other areas 81 19 23 %

Total 121 26 21 %

Fluctuation rate 2011

Employees Disposals Employee fluctuation rate

Field sales force 38 14 37 %

Other areas 85 15 18 %

Total 123 29 24 %

The employee fluctuation rate in the field sales force 

halved in 2012 compared to the previous year (18 % 

compared to 37 %). The raft of measures implemented 

should now help to keep the rate at a stable level.

By contrast, the employee fluctuation rate in other  

areas rose sharply. Out of the 19 exits during the 2012 

financial year, 5 related to termination of contract by 

us or mutually agreed outplacement (approximately 

one quarter of all exits). The percentage of employees  

resigning in other areas was therefore around 17 %. 

Overall, the rate of 24 % recorded for the previous year 

has been improved slightly to 21 %. A whole range of 

measures has been put in place with the aim of reduc-

ing the fluctuation rate further. In addition to making 

changes in the employee evaluation process, we have 

initiated further training measures for managers with a 

view to improving the way that employees can develop 

their expertise and skill sets within PULSION.

Environmental Care and Quality Management

PULSION’s quality management system was again  

certified by Dekra Certification GmbH in 2012 to EN ISO 

13485:2003 + AC:2007 standard. In accordance with 

the European Union Directive on medical devices (MDD 

93/42/EEC), PULSION is entitled to sell its products 

with the CE label within the European Union. 

The PULSION quality management system also com-

plies with the requirements of the US authorities, FDA, 

and with the Canadian CMDCAS approval directives.

PULSION is continuously improving its own quality 

management system.

PULSION is committed to protecting the environment 

and endeavours to keep its energy requirements and 

waste to a minimum. Neither the production process 

nor the products themselves pose any direct or indirect 

risks to the environment 



Research and Development Report

Research and development activities

Further progress was made in 2012 to define the inno-

vation process within PULSION. In this context, greater 

consideration was given to external inputs in determin-

ing the medium-term roadmap, in particular feedback 

gleamed from congresses and scientific publications, 

patents and observations of competitors as well as 

from a thorough analysis of ideas from our own sales 

team and customers. 

In addition, processes and responsibilities relating to 

project management for product developments were 

defined more precisely in 2012, giving project manag-

ers more responsibility and introducing a more profes-

sional approach to dealing with impending target over-

shoots. The tighter definition of responsibilities resulted 

in a significant improvement in the attainment of targets 

for R&D projects in compliance with deadlines. 

The following development targets were achieved in 

2012: 

�� Hardware

	 The most important milestone in 2012 was the 

introduction of the PiCCO® module for the Pulsio

Flex® platform, which was achieved in line with plan. 

The release-to-market (“RTM”) took place on 10  

August 2012. Since then, customers can also use 

the all-important PULSION technology PiCCO® with 

the new platform. 

�� Software 

a)	 The software version 3.0 for PulsioFlex® is a pre

requisite for operating the PiCCO® module. RTM in 

this case took place on 31 July 2012.

b)	 The software version 3.0 US was developed for the 

use of PulsioFlex® in the USA and was approved by 

the FDA on 2 August 2012.

c)	 The software version 3.1 (RTM on 6 December 

2012) expands the options for using PulsioFlex® in 

relation to a number of important properties. 

	 i)  �The new version allows the doctor to transfer  

patient data collected by PulsioFlex® to the hos-

pital’s own data system. 

	 II)  �The software also enables field sales force 

employees to demonstrate the capabilities of 

PulsioFlex®, without having to have a patient 

connected. 

�� Algorithms

	 At the heart of the various technologies incorporat-

ed into PULSION products are a set of haemody-

namic parameter computations that are performed 

using specially-developed algorithms. PULSION 

developed a new parameter calculation which is 

currently undergoing clinical tests. 

�� Disposables 

	 The disposables ProAQT®, PiCCO® catheters and 

the monitoring kit were thoroughly revised in order 

to optimize quality and production. The revised  

PiCCO® catheter was launched in October 2012 

and the revised monitoring kit in December 2012.

Approvals

In order to shorten the time between completion of 

new product developments and approval in a specific 

country, we also revised approval processes in 2012 

and integrated them into the development process. In 

addition, a new manager was appointed for this area.

Thanks to these changes, we were able to obtain ap-

proval for all technologies used with PulsioFlex® – in-

cluding the PiCCO® module – within weeks of com-

pleting the development of the PiCCO® module. This 

also includes FDA approval in the USA. Approval was 

granted on 2 August 2012, after which date we were 

able to sell the product concerned in the USA. RTM 

followed on 24 September 2012, so that the whole pe-

riod from date of receipt of approval to RTM was 53 

calendar days. 
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ProAQT® and the monitoring kits, PV82xx and PV8615, 

also received FDA approval in the USA on 19 December 

2012. In this case, the period from the date of receipt of 

approval to RTM was only one calendar day since the 

approval was accompanied throughout by the develop-

ment team and a simplified approval procedure applied.

No further approvals were granted in China during 2012. 

Similarly, there were no new approvals for ICG  

PULSION® during the year under report.

Clinical studies to validate and document 
the medical benefit of our products 

Various medical journals have so far published more 

than 1,000 scientific papers and studies dealing with 

PULSION products or parameters derived from them. 

The focus in recent years has increasingly been on 

specifying and quantifying “medical benefit”. Studies 

are expected to show that haemodynamic monitoring 

using PULSION products reduces the incidence of 

complications and shortens the length of stay of a pa-

tient in the ICU or hospital. 

During 2012, the results of the following clinical studies 

were published, which document the medical benefit of 

our products:

a)	 A prospective study with 51 patients (Adler, C., et al., 

Fluid therapy and acute kidney injury in cardiogen-

ic shock after cardiac arrest. Resuscitation, 2012) 

showed that fluid therapy based on PiCCO® param-

eters reduces the incidence of acute kidney injury in 

patients with cardiogenic shock. The rate of 28.6 % 

in the control group decreased to only 4.3 % in the 

PiCCO® group. The use of PiCCO® therefore was 

shown to be a positive influence on an important 

complication which contributes to the high mortality 

rate amongst these patients.

b)	 A further prospective study involving 152 patients 

(Kraft, R., et al., Optimized fluid management im-

proves outcomes of pediatric burn patients. J Surg 

Res, 2012) demonstrated the positive effect of fluid 

therapy based on PiCCO® parameters for children 

with severe burns. The end points of the study in-

cluded the measurement of organ function (heart 

and kidney) using an appropriate score system. Sig-

nificantly better values were recorded for the PiC-

CO® group. Moreover, the survival rate after 20 days 

in the PiCCO® group was 96 % and therefore higher 

than the 90 % survival rate in the control group. 

c)	 A study on cardiac surgical patients (Lenkin, A.I., 

et al., Comparison of goal-directed hemodynamic 

optimization using pulmonary artery catheter and 

transpulmonary thermodilution in combined valve 

repair: a randomized clinical trial. Crit Care Res 

Pract, 2012) compared therapy based on use of the 

right-heart catheter with goal-directed therapy using 

PiCCO® technology. This prospective randomized 

study covered 40 (2x20) patients.

	 It was shown that the duration of respiratory sup-

port was 5.2 hours (27 %) shorter for the patients 

using transpulmonary thermodilution (PiCCO®) than 

for patients in the right-heart catheter group. A sec-

ondary outcome was generally improved cardiac 

circulation.

In addition, an international multicentre outcome study 

on the use of ProAQT® technology for perioperative, 

haemodynamic management, and carried out with 

more than 150 patients, was concluded in 2012. The 

primary end point – compared to a control group for 

which a standard therapy was applied – was the re-

duction in the incidence of complications as a result of 

a goal-directed therapy based in ProAQT® parameters. 

A lower incidence of complications means that fewer 

resources are required to be used, thus also providing 

economic benefits.

The results of the outcome study are expected to be 

published during the first half of 2013. 

Last but not least, the analysis of a monocentric study 

on the use of PiCCO® with cardiac surgical patients was 

completed in 2012. This prospective randomized study 

covered 100 (2 x 50) patients. The primary end points 

are a reduction in the incidence of complications and 

short lengths of stay in hospital. 

The paper has been submitted and accepted for publi-

cation (expected in autumn 2013).



Patents and Brand Rights

PULSION protects its intellectual property in 44 patent 

groups. These protection rights – either already issued 

or applied for – cover processes, equipment and dis-

posable products and the various elements used in ex-

isting and future systems.

These 44 patent groups have been registered in various 

countries. In order to make the most effective use of 

protection rights, PULSION’s internal processes with 

respect to monitoring the patent portfolio are organized 

as follows: 

1.	 Regular strategic patent discussions aimed at: 

a)	 Monitoring for infringement by competitors.

b)	Closing patent gaps and deciding on new 

registrations.

c)	 Terminating or selling protected rights no longer 

used by PULSION.

d)	 Integrating existing protected rights into the 

innovation process.

2.	 Integration of patent expertise at an early stage into 

development projects in order to protect the new 

development against infringement and to register 

new patents. 

In 2012, a total of 8 patent families were given up, since 

they have either never been incorporated in products, 

do not offer any protection or no longer have any com-

mercial value.

PULSION has 35 registered trademarks worldwide and 

has submitted applications for a further 9 trademarks. 

 
Group Structure 

The PULSION Group comprises PULSION Medical Systems SE, Feldkirchen, as the Group parent company, and 

the subsidiaries shown below, each of which is responsible for the sale of PULSION’s products in the corresponding 

market segments:

There were no changes in the Group structure com-

pared to the previous year.

PULSION Medical Systems SE, Munich, still holds a 

minority interest of 25 % in KI Medical Services Ipari es 

Kereskedelmi Korlatolt, Felelossegu, Hungary. Liq

uidation proceedings commenced in 2005 are being 

delayed because of local audits. Based on the latest 

information, it is not possible at present to predict when 

the liquidation will finally be completed. The carrying 

amount of the investment was written down to zero in 

previous years. 

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

99 %

1 %

PULSION Medical Systems SE
Germany

PULSION Medical Inc., USA PULSION France S.A.R.L.

PULSION Medical UK Ltd.

PULSION Medical Systems Iberica S.L.

PULSION Polen Sp.z.oo

PULSION Pacific Pty. Ltd., Australia

PULSION Medical Systems 
S. de RL de CV, Mexico

PULSION Benelux N.V.

PULSION Switzerland GmbH

PULSION Austria GmbH

PULSION Medical Systems Medikal Ürünler
Ticaret Limited Sirketi, Turkey

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

58 %

51 %
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Organization 

Operational management of the PULSION Group is  

performed by the Executive Director(s). At present, 

there is only one Executive Director. The search for a 

second Executive Director to take over responsibility for 

Development and Operations is currently in progress 

and should be brought to a conclusion during the first 

half of 2013.

Below the level of Executive Director(s), PULSION is 

organized in two business units, namely: Critical Care 

and Perfusion.

The Critical Care business unit is organized by operating 

function, with department heads for sales, marketing, 

clinical studies and development.

The Perfusion business unit is overseen by a segment 

head, who has access to resources for product devel-

opment, clinical studies and sales/marketing.

In addition, a number of overarching functions (such 

as finance, HR, logistics and regulatory affairs) provide  

services for both business units.

Risk Report

PULSION has a comprehensive risk management and 

internal control system in place.

Risk management system

Pursuant to §  91 (2) of the German Stock Corpora-

tion Act (AktG), a uniform risk management system 

has been installed across the PULSION Group by the  

Executive Director(s), covering all functions and pro-

cesses. The objective of the group-wide risk manage-

ment system is to detect risks at an early stage, and 

assess, communicate and manage those risks. Serving 

as an integrated management and control tool, the risk 

management system forms the basis for decision-mak-

ing, i.e. whether to accept new risks or implement mea-

sures to minimize any potentially adverse impact. One 

of the prerequisites for good risk management is that 

risks are identified at an early stage and at all corporate 

levels. 

The Risk Manager heads the risk management orga-

nization. Operational risks are managed by members 

of the operational risk management team under the 

leadership of the Risk Manager. Entity risk managers 

have been designated for each of the subsidiaries. The 

system is based primarily on a bottom-up approach. 

Those responsible for business processes within the 

various departments are required to review processes, 

transactions and new developments for potential and 

existing risks and to report operational risks appropri-

ately. The Group Risk Management Manual, which is re-

vised to take account of internal and external develop-

ments, helps employees to identify potential risks and 

assess the probability of potential losses for the Group. 

Risks are classified into categories on the basis of the 

likelihood of occurrence and the expected amount of 

loss and summarized at Group level. If a particular risk 

can be reduced, the residual risk is included after taking 

account of implemented countermeasures. Risks are 

considered over a period of one year.

Workshops are held at least every six months under the 

leadership of the Risk Manager. The results are incorpo-

rated in PULSION’s standardized risk reporting system 

and communicated to the Executive Director(s) and Ad-

ministrative Board. If a risk or loss has been incurred, it 

is reported immediately. Two risk workshops were held 

in 2012. The Executive Director was kept informed of 

all risks. There were no matters subject to mandatory 

reporting in connection with potential risks.

PULSION’s controlling system complements the risk 

management system with monthly and quarterly anal-

yses / reports containing comparisons to the previous 

year, forecast or estimated figures and appropriate vari-

ance analysis.



Internal control system

The internal control system (ICS) in place within the 

PULSION Group covers all principles, procedures 

and measures taken to ensure that financial reporting 

systems are functioning effectively, economically and 

properly and that relevant regulations are complied with. 

The accuracy and reliability of accounting and financial  

reporting processes, and hence the preparation of  

financial statements and the Management Report in 

compliance with the law, are safeguarded by a whole 

range of procedures and internal controls. Changes in 

the law, financial reporting standards and other pro-

nouncements are regularly analysed to assess whether 

they are relevant or have an effect on the consolidated 

financial statements. Any necessary changes are incor-

porated into the Group’s Accounting Policies Manual.

The internal control system for financial reporting is 

based on control procedures that are either integrat-

ed into the relevant processes or are independent of 

those processes. Procedures integrated into processes 

include:

a)	 The dual control principle which is documented 

in authorized signatory rules or work instructions 

(SOPs).

b)	 The maintenance of records to ensure the correct 

and proper treatment of transactions:

�� Segregation of duties wherever this is possible, 

given the appropriate personnel structures, and 

that such is economically acceptable.

�� An access and authorization concept at all man-

agement levels.

�� A Group reporting system based on the Group 

Accounting Policies Manual.

Group companies prepare their financial statements lo-

cally. In some cases, transactions are recorded centrally 

at the level of the parent company. The amounts shown 

in the subsidiaries’ separate financial statements are re-

corded mostly in the relevant local accounting systems. 

For the purposes of preparing consolidated financial 

statements, data is collated via a uniform Group report-

ing package based on the Group Accounting Policies 

Manual. Group companies are responsible for comply-

ing with the manual and other Group-wide instructions 

and for the proper and timely execution of financial 

reporting-related processes and systems. Throughout 

the reporting process, local companies receive support 

from contact persons at the parent company. The re-

porting packages submitted by Group companies are 

reviewed and checked at Group level in order to ensure 

that the consolidated financial statements are properly 

and reliably derived from them. 

Thanks to well-defined structures and processes, the 

internal control and risk management system allows all 

relevant items to be recorded, processed and assessed 

and then presented appropriately in the consolidated 

financial statements. The internal control system does, 

however, have some inherent limitations, in particu-

lar with regard to discretionary decisions, unsuitable 

controls or other circumstances. As a consequence, 

there can be no absolute guarantee that the objectives 

of financial reporting will be met or that errors will be 

prevented or identified with the appropriate level of 

assurance. 
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Specific Risks

Market and competition

Developments in the medical technology sector are 

generally subject to a high degree of technological 

change. In the light of the attractiveness and needs of 

this market segment, it can be assumed that competi-

tion will continue to intensify in the future. This gives rise 

to potential risks for PULSION, e.g. strong downward 

pressure on selling prices. There is also a risk that the 

net assets and the financial and earnings position of the 

Group could be adversely affected if PULSION does not 

react adequately to market developments in terms of 

the range of products it offers. 

PULSION counters these risks by developing its range 

of products continuously. This includes the further  

development of existing technologies and the expan-

sion of the product range with new developments. 

Risks are also minimized by ensuring that intellectual 

property is appropriately protected by patents and reg-

istered trade names etc., by continuous market obser-

vation and ongoing improvements to cost structures. 

Based on our current understanding of the situation, 

Edwards’ entry to the market with the product Edwards 

EV1000 could pose a threat to the sale of disposable 

products for PULSION’s installed base of equipment. 

We continue to observe the situation carefully. Also 

based on information available to our field sales organi-

zation, the number of EV1000 devices placed in Europe 

at 31 December 2012 was lower than PULSION’s own 

target for fending off the competition. 

Financial market risk

The financial and global economic crisis did not have 

any significant impact on the med-tech market. Giv-

en the current growth prospects, it is unlikely that any  

related risks will arise for PULSION. Since operations 

are funded out of the Company’s own resources, the 

fact that it has become more difficult to raise debt capi-

tal does not affect PULSION. All debt was repaid during 

the financial year 2012. Based on forecasts, other than 

investment in product development and improvements, 

no major capital expenditure items are planned that  

require financing out of cash flow from operating 

activities. 

If the financial market crisis results in the necessity for 

customers to make further savings, particularly in the 

area of public sector budgets, there could be a negative 

impact on demand with corresponding consequences 

for sales and earnings. 

Risks relating to government healthcare 
policies 

Governmental policies to hold down costs within the 

healthcare sector represent a structural risk for growth. 

PULSION is affected both directly and indirectly by such 

developments. 

In countries where product costs are reimbursed to 

hospitals – particularly in Brazil, China and Belgium – 

there is a risk that the level of reimbursements will be re-

duced. This results, at best, in lower sales revenue and 

lower sales revenue per unit sold. At worst, however, 

the reimbursement level could be reduced so sharply 

that PULSION would no longer be able to work profit-

ably in the market.

To the best of PULSION’s knowledge, in 2012 no reduc-

tions of flat-rate product reimbursements were made in 

the countries listed above. 

In countries with fixed-sum treatment amounts  

(Diagnosis Related Group systems or DRGs), such 

as Germany, France or the USA, PULSION is constantly 

required to document that the use of PULSION tech-

nologies creates measurable medical and commercial 

benefits. If the fixed-sum treatment amounts are frozen 

or lowered, there is a risk that clinics may restrict the 

use of PULSION products to particularly critical cases 

or even entirely discontinue their use. 

DRGs were reduced in Spain in 2012. Apart from Spain, 

we are not aware of any reductions in DRGs.



A law was enacted in the USA in 2012, which takes 

effect from 1 January 2013 and levies a tax of 2.3 % on 

medical technical devices. It cannot be ruled out that 

other countries will follow this example or that the tax 

will be increased. 

Product liability risk

Product liability has always represented a substantial 

risk for enterprises in the med-tech and life science  

sector, since in the worst case, products can cause 

physical damage or injury to patients which, in turn, 

may result in substantial product liability claims. 

PULSION counters this risk with a comprehensive qual-

ity management system, based on international stan-

dards and norms, to ensure the highest standards of 

safety and product quality. In addition, a product liability 

insurance policy with international coverage is in place. 

No material claims relating to product warranty have 

been brought against PULSION to date. It cannot, how-

ever, be ruled out that PULSION will have to face such 

claims in the future and that the amounts involved could 

exceed insured amounts. PULSION did not have to  

utilize its product liability insurance in 2012.

Product approvals

Very strict approval regulations apply in the med-tech 

and pharmaceutical sectors (i.e. for ICG PULSION®) 

and these may differ from country to country. It is like-

ly that requirements will become even stricter in future. 

The failure to obtain new approvals for the Group’s 

products, or a delay in obtaining approval, could have 

a negative impact on the level of PULSION’s sales  

revenue and earnings and could result in an impairment 

of capitalized development costs.

PULSION works continuously with experienced exter-

nal consultants and trains its own staff in the appropri-

ate areas in order to identify and react to potential risks 

at an early stage. In 2012, extensive regulatory know-

how was built up and personnel resources expanded, 

enabling process product approvals to be carried out 

faster and more effectively.

Production and purchasing risks 

Production and purchasing risks can arise in the event 

of the loss of a supplier, e.g. as a result of insolvency 

or persistent quality problems. The creditworthiness of 

small and financially weak suppliers is regularly checked. 

Supplier audits ensure that suppliers and contract man-

ufacturers meet the necessary high quality standards. 

We counter the risk of loss of specific tools by carrying 

out regular checks and maintenance.

Framework agreements with suppliers and regular  

volume forecasts also facilitate planning on both sides. 

Safety volume levels for the most important products 

and components mitigate risks that can arise from any 

single supplier. 

Financing risks

PULSION has an equity ratio of 74 % at 31 Decem-

ber 2012. Unpledged cash and cash equivalents of  

EUR 11.4 million and current trade accounts receivable 

of EUR 5.7 million also provide financial flexibility. In  

addition, PULSION generated a cash flow from operat-

ing activities of EUR 8.2 million in 2012. 

From today’s perspective, the financing and liquidity 

situation can therefore be considered solid. The fore-

cast growth and related capital expenditure are to be 

financed out of the Group’s own resources with the 

consequence that the current liquidity cushion might be 

reduced in the future. PULSION addresses this risk with 

a very detailed forecasting and control system, which 

compares actual and budget figures on a weekly and 

monthly basis in order to identify variances at an early 

stage so that countermeasures can be taken. 

PULSION counters bad debt risk with a tight receiv-

ables management system and provides for such risk 

in the form of specific and general allowances where 

necessary. For export business, PULSION generally ob-

tains payments in advance to protect the Group from 

bad debts. The risk is also mitigated by the fact that  

PULSION does business with a wide range of cus-

tomers, many of which are financed by public sec-

tor budgets or which are public sector organizations 
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themselves. PULSION is not exposed to significant 

seasonal fluctuations in its cash flows. 

There are currently no exposures to interest rate risks 

since the PULSION Group does not have any financial 

liabilities. Currency risks were not hedged in 2012. 

Patents and intellectual property

PULSION is exposed to the risk that competitors 

might replicate PULSION’s products despite the patent  

protection that is in place. 

PULSION is not aware of any infringements of patents 

or other protected industrial rights by third parties. 

Personnel

As in all “Mittelstand” companies of a similar size, 

the loss of employees in key functions and technical  

specialists also represents a risk for PULSION. 

The loss of field sales force staff can result in a break 

in continuity in relationships with customers. Field 

sales force staff can only be replaced after a time  

delay and, once found, require an induction period of 

6 to 12 months before becoming as effective as their 

predecessors.

PULSION endeavours to tie in its employees to the 

Group on a long-term basis by means of perfor-

mance-commensurate remuneration, a profit share and 

a stock option programme. Increasing amounts and 

resources are also being invested in employee develop-

ment. The employee fluctuation rate is calculated each 

month as part of routine management reporting and 

discussed regularly in the Administrative Board. The 

countermeasures implemented and the attention given 

to this matter were rewarded in 2012 by a significant 

reduction in the employee fluctuation rate. 

Warehousing and transportation

Risks relating to warehousing and product transporta-

tion risks are covered by appropriate insurance policies. 

Shifts in demand, however, can lead to increases in in-

ventories which, in turn, would adversely affect liquidity. 

PULSION endeavours to identify this risk as early as 

possible and adjust purchase and production volumes 

accordingly with the aid of flexible framework agree-

ments with suppliers and a regular update of worldwide 

sales forecasts (forecast management). 

Safety volume levels were defined for the top-selling 

products and principal production components in order 

to minimize risk.

Information technologies

PULSION’s daily operations depend increasingly on 

error-free and secure information technology solutions.

In order to minimize any resulting risks at an early 

stage, PULSION utilizes up-to-date hardware and soft-

ware, redundant systems, virus and access protection 

systems to ensure the integrity of data and systems.  

Almost all servers run in virtualized environments.

Nevertheless, the loss of important / confidential  

data through Internet attacks, theft and uncontrollable 

events cannot be ruled out entirely. Such occurrences 

could have a negative impact on PULSION’s compet-

itive position. No incidences of loss of data or note

worthy system breakdowns were registered in 2012.

Subsidiaries

PULSION is also indirectly exposed to the risk environ-

ment facing its subsidiaries. PULSION could be affect-

ed negatively by the statutory and contractual position 

of its subsidiaries. 

Distribution agreements were put in place with all sub-

sidiaries in 2010 with a view to improving the liquidity 

position of these entities. The agreements ensure that 

a consistent margin can be earned by corresponding 

adjustments to transfer prices for monitors and dis-

posables between the German parent company and 

subsidiaries.

In addition, liabilities of the US subsidiary owed  

to the German parent company were converted in-

to equity capital. This move has no impact on the 



consolidated balance sheet, but does serve to improve 

the creditworthiness of the subsidiary concerned and 

avoids the risk of any pending over-indebtedness at a 

local level.

In order to secure the financing of the subsidiaries  

PULSION Pacific Pty. Limited, Australia, PULSION 

Medical Systems Medikal Ürünlem Ticaret Limited  

Sirketi, Turkey, PULSION Medical Systems S. de RL de 

CV, Mexico, PULSION Medical UK Ltd. and PULSION 

Medical Iberica S.L., the parent company has agreed to 

defer the payment of those entities’ intragroup payables 

until 31 December 2013. 

In addition, payables of the subsidiary PULSION  

Pacific Pty. Limited to PULSION SE amounting to EUR 

2.1 million were waived. The corresponding intragroup  

receivables at the level of PULSION SE had already 

been written down in earlier periods.

Litigation 

As a result of its international activities, PULSION is  

exposed to a variety of legal risks. This includes, in  

particular, risks relating to product liability, patent, tax 

and antitrust law. 

A case has been pending at the level of the French sub-

sidiary since 2007 involving the revocation of appoint-

ment of an ex-director. After losing his claim in the court 

of first instance, the appeal count found in favour of the 

claimant, and ordered PULSION to pay an amount of 

KEUR 130. No expense was recorded in 2012 since 

a corresponding amount had already been recognized 

as a provision. The Company will not appeal against 

the ruling.

Other legal disputes involving claims against PULSION 

are not material taken as a whole.

Opportunities 

PULSION believes that its business strategy has a  

number of competitive advantages which will help it to 

perform successfully in the future. 

The key points that will enable the Group to gener-

ate substantial growth through greater exploitation of  

existing markets and expansion on target markets are 

as follows:

�� PULSION’s range of products for monitoring critical-

ly ill patients, with the core competences “expanded 

haemodynamic monitoring” (cardiovascular system) 

and methods for monitoring vital organ functions. 

�� Improving and expanding the product range rep-

resents PULSION’s main potential. The detailed 

short- and medium-term product development plan 

for the years ahead has been approved. The new 

product platform PulsioFlex® in combination with 

the ProAQT® trend monitoring system came onto 

the market in 2012 and contributed 4 % to total 

sales, while sales of the PiCCO® module for the  

PulsioFlex® platform started successfully in Septem-

ber 2012. 

�� An excellent reputation on the markets and strong 

brands such as “PiCCO®” and “PULSION”, com-

bined with a high degree of expertise in sales and 

marketing. 

�� A large network of key opinion leaders, scientists 

and leading clinical experts as well as a Medical  

Advisory Board comprising international experts in 

the fields of anaesthetics and critical care medicine. 

�� Strong international representation via subsi

diaries in France, Spain, Poland, Turkey, the UK, 

Belgium, Switzerland and Austria, the USA, Mexi-

co and Australia, combined with a comprehensive 

distributor network. Further selective expansion of  

PULSION’s international presence is planned for 

2013. Subsidiaries have so far not been able to fully 

realize the market potential of PULSION’s products 

and, in some cases, earnings have been unsatis-

factory. However, significant progress was made in 

2012 in the USA and for the first time the break-

even mark was achieved. The unaltered objective 

set for the coming year is to sharpen the focus of 

selling and marketing activities by taking a more 
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potential-orientated approach to sales and by  

carrying out continuous training within the sales 

force. In addition to its subsidiaries, PULSION 

works with local distributors in numerous countries. 

These arrangements will be retained and expanded 

in the future.

�� In the area of perioperative monitoring, we started 

the process of selectively looking at sales partner 

companies in the USA and other regions in which 

this technology is making advances. The plan is to 

exploit existing potentials together with the sales 

partner companies concerned. Philips Healthcare, 

Dräger Medical, Mindray and GE Healthcare repre-

sent strong licensing partners.

�� Innovative strength, driven forward through  

extensive expertise and application knowledge in all 

of the fields in which PULSION operates. For the 

first time in 2012, we became a player in the field 

of perioperative haemodynamic monitoring. ProA-

QT® trend monitoring opens the door for PULSION 

to enter another growth market – one which is  

many times greater that the market for intensive 

care. In addition, PULSION is developing a non-in-

vasive method for the continuous measurement of 

blood pressure and cardiac output.

Outlook Report

Corporate strategy P5:

The PULSION Group is working in the short and medi-

um term on the following major projects, on the basis of 

which growth targets can be achieved:

Transfer of successful sales concepts to all sales 

companies.

�� Increased internationalization, primarily by founding 

new sales partner entities in high-potential countries 

such as the USA or Japan.

�� Product portfolio to be improved and expanded 

through innovation and technology acquisitions.

�� Perfusion segment to be expanded by further  

approvals and new types of imaging systems.

Planned use of resources:

Management plans to allocate PULSION’s increased 

liquidity on the basis of the following priorities:

1.	 Acquisitions

2.	 Share buy-backs

3.	 Dividends

The highest priority is attached to acquisitions, given 

that PULSION needs to close two strategic gaps in or-

der to secure its future:

a)	 Innovative products – as pointed out, the proportion 

of sales attributable to products which are less than 

5 years old is too small. 

b)	 Critical mass needs to be increased in a number of 

sales regions, in particular the USA.

We are convinced that sensible acquisitions in these ar-

eas can stabilize and strengthen PULSION and hence 

substantially raise the value of the business. 

The process of searching for appropriate businesses to 

acquire was set in motion in 2011. Over the course of 

2012, we examined more than ten projects, of which 

seven did not pass the test of technological or com-

mercial feasibility.

With two experienced investors on the Administra-

tive Board, investment decisions can be taken quickly 

and capital allocated in a sensible way. We will most 

definitely not buy in if the potential deal does not in-

crease the value of the business or is likely to increase  

PULSION’s risk profile.



Outlook

The financial year 2013 will be a “year of picking up 

pace”, which should lead to a year of acceleration in 

2014. The budget for 2013 envisages the following 

developments:

a)	 New posts will be created in the area of R&D. R&D 

expenditure in total will rise by more than 30 %. 

b)	 As far as sales and marketing is concerned, ma-

jor endeavours will be undertaken to expand the  

marketing and international medical support 

functions.

These investments will pave the way – from 2014  

onwards – for achieving the ambitious growth rates  

targeted in P5.

Sales growth in 2013 is expected to come primarily 

from the following sources:

�� Further placements of PulsioFlex® monitoring plat-

forms in the operating room (OR), in order to push 

sales with ProAQT® trend monitoring, without eat-

ing into our monitoring business with PiCCO® in the  

intensive care unit (ICU).

�� Ramp-up of the new joint ventures and distribu-

tors in emerging markets, return to sales growth in 

China.

�� Further growth in the Perfusion segment from new 

applications of ICG used in third-party systems.

Provided that there is no major deterioration in 2013 

in the economic conditions relevant for PULSION, the 

Group is expected to record a sales revenue increase 

of at least 6 %. This is the increase that should come 

from organic growth, i.e. excluding currency impact and 

before acquisitions. 

Despite the high level of upfront expenditure necessary 

to accelerate sales revenue, the EBIT margin should 

be at least 23 %. 

The targets stated for sales and earnings are also seen 

as minimum levels for the year 2014
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Disclosures Pursuant to § 315 (4) of the  
German Commercial Code (HGB)

The following disclosures are made in compliance with  

§ 315 (4) of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

Composition of share capital

Based on the authorizations given by the shareholders 

at the Annual General Meeting on 18 May 2010 and 

26 May 2011, the Administrative Board resolved on 20 

March 2012 to retire 677,302 shares by way of share 

capital reduction. The capital reduction was recorded in 

the relevant Commercial Register on 4 May 2012. The 

share capital accordingly amounts to EUR 8,900,000 

at 31 December 2012, divided into a total of 8,900,000 

non-par-value bearer shares. The holders of shares of 

common stock are entitled to one vote per share and to 

dividends as declared.

There are no restrictions relating to voting rights or the 

transfer of shares pursuant to § 315 (4) of the German 

Commercial Code (HGB). No shareholders have special 

rights. 

Shareholders with more than 10 % of voting rights

The following direct and indirect investments in the 

share capital of PULSION Medical Systems SE,  

which exceed 10 % of the voting rights, are known to 

PULSION Medical Systems SE:

FORUM European Smallcaps GmbH and other share-

holders have set up a shareholders’ pool. According to 

the most recent notification of shareholdings received 

by the Company, the pool holds 51.03 % of the share 

capital of PULSION Medical Systems SE at 31 Decem-

ber 2012. As a result of the shareholder pool agree-

ment, these shares are attributable mutually to the pool 

participants pursuant to § 30 (2) sentence 1 of the Ger-

man Securities Transitional Act (WpÜG).

Appointment and removal of Executive Directors, 

changes to Articles of Incorporation 

The appointment and removal of Executive Directors are 

based on the rules contained in § 40 the Stock Corpo-

ration Act for SEs (SE-AG); changes to the Articles of 

Incorporation are made in accordance with Art. 9 (1) c) 

(ii) of the SE Regulation (in conjunction with § 133 and  

§ 179 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG)).

Authorization to issue shares

A conditional capital of KEUR 481 was in place at the 

balance sheet date in accordance with shareholder  

resolutions taken at the Annual General Meeting which 

can be used to issue share options. 

Authorization to buy back shares

In accordance with § 71 (1) no. 8 of the German Stock 

Corporation Act (AktG) and on the basis of the share-

holders’ resolution taken at the Annual General Meeting 

on 16 May 2012, the Company was authorized to ac-

quire up to 10 % of its current share capital as treasury 

shares. Of the 890,000 shares covered, PULSION has 

acquired 311,471 shares since the authorization was 

given. 

The authorization runs for 5 years and expires on  

25 May 2016. 

Provisions in place in the event of a change in 

ownership

Service contracts with the Company’s Executive  

Director(s) do not contain any specific commitment to 

pay compensation or convey other rights in the event of 

the early termination of their contracts. 

Furthermore, § 315 (4) nos. 5, 8 and 9 of the  

German Commercial Code (HGB) are not applicable to  

PULSION at the balance sheet date.

Statement on Corporate Governance

The Statement on Corporate Governance pursuant to  

§ 289a of the German Commercial Code (HGB) con-

sists of the Declaration of Compliance required by § 161 

of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), relevant 

information about corporate governance and a descrip-

tion of the work procedures of the Administrative Board 

and Executive Director(s). 



Declaration of Compliance with the Corporate 

Governance Code

In 2012, PULSION again based its approach to corpo-

rate governance on the principles set out in the current 

German Corporate Governance Code (version dated 15 

May 2012). Divergences from the recommendations of 

the German Corporate Governance Code are described 

in detail in the Declaration of Compliance issued by the 

Administrative Board on 16 December 2012, which can 

be accessed on PULSION’s website at www.pulsion.

com in the section “Investor Relations”. 

Relevant disclosures in respect of corporate  

governance practices

PULSION is committed to responsible corporate  

governance and takes a long-term approach to  

value creation. By a combination of efficient coopera-

tion between the Administrative Board and the Execu-

tive Director(s), and open and timely communication in 

general, PULSION actively reinforces the trust placed 

in it by investors, customers, employees and members 

of the public alike. Compliance with these principles is 

therefore a vital aspect of achieving reliable corporate 

governance at PULSION.

Further details and the Corporate Governance Report 

can be found in the Annual Report. The principles of 

the Group’s remuneration systems and remuneration 

paid are presented in the Compensation Report, which 

is part of the Management Report. 

Work procedures of the Administrative Board and 

Executive Director(s)

The common objective of the Administrative Board 

and Executive Director(s) is corporate governance 

based on long-term value creation. In order to achieve 

this objective, the Administrative Board and Executive  

Director(s) work together closely in the interests of the 

enterprise. The Executive Director(s) manage(s) the 

Company’s business and represent the Company both 

judicially and extra-judicially. The Administrative Board 

defines the principles of its activities and supervises 

their implementation. 

Extensive disclosures on corporate governance prac-

tices at PULSION SE can be found in the Corporate 

Governance Report at www.pulsion.com.

Compensation Report of the Executive 
Director(s) and Administrative Board 

Compensation system for Executive Director(s)

The Administrative Board determines the total remu-

neration of the individual Executive Director(s), finding a 

reasonable balance between their duties and the work 

performed and the Company’s economic position. The 

total remuneration of the Executive Director(s) compris-

es a fixed monthly salary and a performance-based 

variable component. Approximately 70 % of the vari-

able component is measured on the basis of the actu-

al change in sales, EBIT and free cash flow (all equally 

weighted) and approximately 30 % is based on individ-

ual targets. The Executive Director(s) is/are also entitled 

to a company car. 

In addition, the Executive Director(s) has/have a multi-

year target which up to now has been based on the 

EBIT margin and which will be based on sales growth if 

a minimum EBIT margin is achieved.

As a long-term incentive, the Executive Director(s) also 

receive(s) – on signing or extending their contracts –  

options on PULSION stock in conjunction with the ex-

isting stock option programmes. The prerequisite for 

granting the options is that the Executive Director(s) 

acquire(s) PULSION shares out of their own funds and 

hold(s) them during the term of the options. The Com-

pany grants one option for each share acquired. 

Full details of the remuneration of each individual  

Executive Director are provided in the notes to the con-

solidated financial statements. During the year under 

report, no share options were granted to the Executive 

Director(s).

Compensation system for the Administrative Board 

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Incor-

poration, the Administrative Board is made up of three 

members. The remuneration of the Administrative 

Board comprises a fixed component and a corporate 

performance-related component. 

The fixed remuneration (basic remuneration) amounts to 

EUR 12,500 for a member, EUR 18,750 for the Depu-

ty Chairman and EUR 25,000 for the Chairman of the 
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Administrative Board. Administrative Board members 

who have not held office for the whole of a financial year 

receive their remuneration on a time-apportioned basis 

from the date of their election.

The performance-based remuneration is calculated on 

the basis of annual earnings as follows: if the Group’s 

EBIT margin as per the consolidated financial state-

ments (EBIT as a percentage of Group sales) is at least 

15.0 % but less than 20.0 % for the relevant financial 

year, each Administrative Board member receives an 

additional remuneration for the financial year equiva-

lent to 50 % of the basic remuneration; if the Group’s 

EBIT margin is at least 20.0 % for the relevant financial 

year, each member receives an additional remuneration 

for the financial year equivalent to 100 % of the basic 

remuneration. 

Full details of the remuneration of each individual mem-

ber of the Administrative Board for the financial year 

2012 are provided in the notes to the consolidated  

financial statements.

No loans or share options were granted to Adminis-

trative Board members during the financial year under 

report. 

Dependent Company Report

Since a control agreement is not in place with the  

majority shareholder, the Executive Director(s) of  

PULSION Medical Systems SE was/were required 

to prepare a report on relationships with affiliated 

companies pursuant to § 312 of the German Stock 

Corporation Act (AktG). In this report, all relationships 

with the shareholder pool around FORUM European 

Smallcaps GmbH and with entities belonging to the 

PULSION Group were considered. 

The Executive Director(s) confirm(s) pursuant to § 312 

(3) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) that 

PULSION Group entities have, on the basis of the  

circumstances of which the Executive Director(s) were 

aware at the time when the legal transactions were 

carried out, received adequate consideration for every 

legal transaction, and that they have not suffered any 

disadvantage as a result of the fact that measures have 

or have not been carried out.

Events After the End of the Reporting Period 

There have been no events after the end of the reporting 

period that are subject to mandatory reporting or which 

are worthy of mention.

Forward-looking Assertions

These consolidated financial statements contain as-

sertions that refer to the future performance of PUL-

SION Medical Systems SE and to economic and busi-

ness conditions and developments. These assertions  

represent estimations made on the basis of information 

available at the date of preparation of this management 

report. If the assumptions used do not turn out to be 

accurate or if other risks should arise, actual results 

could differ from expected results. 

Feldkirchen, 8 March 2013

PULSION Medical Systems SE

Patricio Lacalle

Executive Director



Consolidated  
Balance Sheet  
 
PULSION Medical Systems SE at 31 December 2012

Assets Note 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

KEUR KEUR

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 12, 13 3,459 4,096

Property, plant, equipment 14 5,113 4,987

Investment property 16 110 165

Financial assets 38 26

Total non-current assets 8,720 9,274

Current assets

Inventories 17 5,736 5,247

Trade accounts receivable 18 5,729 5,927

Other current assets 19 629 508

Cash and cash equivalents 20 11,387 8,758

Total current assets 23,481 20,440

Total assets 32,201 29,714
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Equity and Liabilities Note 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

KEUR KEUR

Equity 21, 22

Share capital 8,900 9,577

 Additional paid-in capital 2,391 1,532

Treasury shares (4,776) (3,414)

Other reserves (732) (813)

Accumulated profit/deficit 17,921 14,113

Equity attributable to the shareholders of the group 
parent company 23,704 20,995

Minority interests 11 134 102

Total equity 23,838 21,097

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 23 167 184

Liabilities to banks 24, 25 0 24

Other liabilities 24, 27 103 0

Deferred taxes 10 883 1,100

Total non-current liabilities 1,153 1,308

Current liabilities

Provisions 23 238 401

Liabilities to banks 24, 25 0 421

Trade accounts payable 26 1,842 1,440

Tax payables 10 2,617 2,322

Other liabilities 24, 27 2,513 2,725

Total current liabilities 7,210 7,309

Total equity and liabilities 32,201 29,714



Group Income Statement PULSION Medical Systems SE  
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2012

Note 2012 2011

KEUR KEUR

Sales 5 34,621 32,949

Cost of sales 6 (9,874) (10,221)

Gross profit 24,747 22,728

71.5% 69.0%

Selling and marketing expenses 9 (10,085) (9,632)

Research and development expenses 9 (2,425) (3,036)

General and administrative expenses 9 (3,438) (3,597)

Other operating expenses 7, 8 (191) (428)

Other operating income 7, 8 993 860

Operating profit 9,601 6,895

Exchange losses (205) (276)

Exchange gains 139 142

Profit before interests and taxes (EBIT) 9,535 6,761

27.5% 20.5%

Interest expenses 7 (19) (58)

Interest income 7 87 14

Profit before taxes (EBT) 9,603 6,717

Income taxes 10 (2,507) (2,055)

Group net profit / loss (before minority interests) 7,096 4,662

of which attributable to shareholders of the group parent company 7,027 4,569

of which attributable to minority interests 11 69 93

Earnings per share

Undiluted - ordinary operations after taxes (in €) 31 0.82 0.51

Diluted - ordinary operations after taxes (in €) 0.82 0.51

Average number of shares in circulation (undiluted) 8,579,720 8,877,724

Average number of shares in circulation (diluted) 8,602,288 8,888,003
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Reconciliation of Result to Total Comprehensive Income  
of PULSION Medical Systems SE for the Financial Year  
Ended 31 December 2012

IFRS 2012   2011

 KEUR   KEUR

         

Group net profit / loss (before minority interests) 7,096 4,662

Income and expenses directly recognized in equity   44   29

Total comprehensive income / loss for the period   7,140   4,691

         

of which attributable to minority interests   32   77

of which attributable to owners of the parent company   7,108   4,614

Total comprehensive income / loss for the period   7,140   4,691



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement PULSION Medical  
Systems SE for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2012

Note 2012 2011
KEUR KEUR

Cash flow 
aus laufender 
Geschäftstätigkeit

Group net profit / loss after minority interests 7,027 4,569

Minority interests 11 69 93

+ Amortization and depreciation of intangible assets  
and property, plant and equipment 1,916 1,810

+ Interest paid 19 58

– Interest received (86) (14)

+ Income tax 2,507 3,062

+/– Changes in other assets 19 (155) 116

–/+ Changes in other liabilities 24, 27 195 246

–/+ Changes in deferred taxes 10 (219) (936)

–/+ Changes in tax receivables / tax liabilities 32 (149)

–/+ Changes in provisions 23 (105) 164

– Interest paid (19) (41)

+ Interest received 68 13

- Taxes paid (2,463) (806)

+ Tax refund 22 0

+/– Non-cash income and expenses relating to the balance 
sheet items property, plant and equipment, inventories, trade 
accounts receivable, equity, other provisions, other liabilities, 
deferred taxes (576) 277

Cash flow from operating activities before changes
in net current assets 8,232 8,463

+/– Changes in inventories 17 (123) (193)

+/– Changes in receivables 18 498 (991)

–/+ Changes in trade accounts payable 26 402 (599)

Cash flow from changes in net current assets 777 (1,783)

Cash flow from operating activities before changes
in net current assets 9,009 6,680

Cash flow from  
investing activities

Acquisition of purchased and internally generated  
intangible assets (244) (583)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (without monitors) (405) (179)

Purchase of monitors (1,255) (1,040)

Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets 100 73

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 275 132

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets 39 52

Cash flow from investing activities (1,490) (1,545)

Free cash flow 7,519 5,135

Cash flow from  
financing activities

– Payments to found entities (2011: Mexico, Turkey) 0 (27)

– Payments for repurchase of treasury shares 21 (4,549) (882)

+ Proceeds from raising current and non-current loans 0 31

– Repayments of bank borrowings 25 (445) (290)

+ Transfer to additional paid-in capital (share premium)  
in conjunction with exercise of stock options 104 0

Cash flow from financing activities (4,890) (1,168)

Cash funds at  
end of period

Decrease/Increase in cash funds 2,629 3,967

Cash funds at beginning of period 8,758 4,791

Cash funds at end of period 20 11,387 8,758
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity of  
PULSION Medical Systems SE at 31 December 2012  

Subscribed

capital

Additional

paid-in capital

Own

shares

Other

reserves

Accumulated

deficit / profit

Minority

interest Total

Shares KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

Balance at 1 January 2011 9,577,302 9,577 1,466 (2,532) (858) 9,544 1 17,198

Exchange differences 0 0 0 0 45 0 (16) 29

Group net profit 0 0 0 0 0 4,569 93 4,662

Total result of the period 0 0 0 0 45 4,569 77 4,691

Dividends 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee share option programes 0 0 66 0 0 0 0 66

Release minority interest 0 0 0 0 0 0 24 24

Acquisition minority interest 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Share purchase programme 0 0 0 (882) 0 0 0 (882)

Total items directly recognised  
in the equity 0 0 66 (882) 0 0 24 (792)

Total 0 0 66 (882) 45 4,569 101 3,899

                 

Balance at 31 December 2011 9,577,302 9,577 1,532 (3,414) (813) 14,113 102 21,097

Balance at 1 January 2012 9,577,302 9,577 1,532 (3,414) (813) 14,113 102 21,097

Exchange differences 0 0 0 0 81 0 (37) 44

Group net profit 0 0 0 0 0 7,027 69 7,096

Total result of the period 0 0 0 0 81 7,027 32 7,140

Reduction of shares (677,302) (677) 677 2,973 0 (2,973) 0 0

Employee share option programmes 0 0 182 214 0 (246) 0 150

Withdrawal of capital reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Allocation statutory reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Release minority interest 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Acquisition minority interest 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Share purchase programme 0 0 0 (4,549) 0 0 0 (4,549)

Total items directly recognized  
in the equity (677,302) (677) 859 (1,362) 0 (3,219) 0 (4,399)

Total (677,302) (677) 859 (1,362) 81 3,808 32 2,741

                 

Balance at 31 December  2012 8,900,000 8,900 2,391 (4,776) (732) 17,921 134 23,838



Analysis of Changes in Fixed Assets PULSION Medical Systems SE  
at 31 December 2012

Historical costs Accumulated depreciation and impairment Carrying amounts

1 Jan. 
2012

Translation
differences

Additions Reclassifi-
cations

Disposals 31 Dec. 
2012

1 Jan.  
2012

Translation
differences

Additions Disposals 31 Dec.  
2012

31 Dec.  
2012

31 Dec.  
2011

KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

Intangible Assets

Purchased intangible assets 852 0 123 0 100 875 636 0 65 0 701 174 216

Internally generated intangible assets 6,102 0 121 40 0 6,263 2,223 0 756 0 2,979 3,285 3,880

6,954 0 244 40 100 7,138 2,859 0 821 0 3,680 3,459 4,096

Property, plant and equipment

Technical equipment, plant and machinery 2,090 0 0 (40) 134 1,916 1,015 0 170 122 1,063 853 1,075

Other equipment, furniture and fittungs 8,288 (1) 1,461 0 590 9.158 4,376 (1) 909 386 4,898 4,260 3,912

10,378 (1) 1,461 (40) 724 11,074 5,391 (1) 1,079 508 5,961 5,113 4,987

Investment property 379 0 0 0 111 268 214 0 16 72 158 110 165

17,711 (1) 1,705 0 935 18,480 8,464 (1) 1,916 580 9,799 8,682 9,248

Analysis of Changes in Fixed Assets PULSION Medical Systems SE  
at 31 December 2011

Historical costs Accumulated depreciation and impairment Carrying amounts

1 Jan. 
2011

Translation
differences

Additions Reclassifi-
cations

Disposals 31 Dec.  
2011

1 Jan.  
2011

Translation
differences

Additions Disposals 31 Dec.  
2011

31 Dec.  
2011

31 Dec.  
2010

KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

Intangible Assets

Purchased intangible assets 838 1 44 0 31 852 574 0 67 5 636 216 264

Internally generated intangible assets 5,862 0 539 0 299 6,102 1,883 0 591 251 2,223 3,880 3,980

6,700 1 583 0 330 6,954 2,457 0 658 256 2,859 4,096 4,244

Property, plant and equipment

Technical equipment, plant and machinery 2,059 0 51 0 20 2,090 753 0 266 4 1,015 1,075 1,306

Other equipment, furniture and fittungs 7,567 4 1,162 0 445 8,288 3,832 4 869 329 4,376 3,912 3,735

Finance lease 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

9,626 4 1,213 0 465 10,378 4,585 4 1,135 333 5,391 4,987 5,041

Investment property 379 0 0 0 0 379 197 0 17 0 214 165 182

16,705 5 1,796 0 795 17,711 7,239 4 1,810 589 8,464 9,248 9,467
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Analysis of Changes in Fixed Assets PULSION Medical Systems SE  
at 31 December 2012

Historical costs Accumulated depreciation and impairment Carrying amounts

1 Jan. 
2012

Translation
differences

Additions Reclassifi-
cations

Disposals 31 Dec. 
2012

1 Jan.  
2012

Translation
differences

Additions Disposals 31 Dec.  
2012

31 Dec.  
2012

31 Dec.  
2011

KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

Intangible Assets

Purchased intangible assets 852 0 123 0 100 875 636 0 65 0 701 174 216

Internally generated intangible assets 6,102 0 121 40 0 6,263 2,223 0 756 0 2,979 3,285 3,880

6,954 0 244 40 100 7,138 2,859 0 821 0 3,680 3,459 4,096

Property, plant and equipment

Technical equipment, plant and machinery 2,090 0 0 (40) 134 1,916 1,015 0 170 122 1,063 853 1,075

Other equipment, furniture and fittungs 8,288 (1) 1,461 0 590 9.158 4,376 (1) 909 386 4,898 4,260 3,912

10,378 (1) 1,461 (40) 724 11,074 5,391 (1) 1,079 508 5,961 5,113 4,987

Investment property 379 0 0 0 111 268 214 0 16 72 158 110 165

17,711 (1) 1,705 0 935 18,480 8,464 (1) 1,916 580 9,799 8,682 9,248

Analysis of Changes in Fixed Assets PULSION Medical Systems SE  
at 31 December 2011

Historical costs Accumulated depreciation and impairment Carrying amounts

1 Jan. 
2011

Translation
differences

Additions Reclassifi-
cations

Disposals 31 Dec.  
2011

1 Jan.  
2011

Translation
differences

Additions Disposals 31 Dec.  
2011

31 Dec.  
2011

31 Dec.  
2010

KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

Intangible Assets

Purchased intangible assets 838 1 44 0 31 852 574 0 67 5 636 216 264

Internally generated intangible assets 5,862 0 539 0 299 6,102 1,883 0 591 251 2,223 3,880 3,980

6,700 1 583 0 330 6,954 2,457 0 658 256 2,859 4,096 4,244

Property, plant and equipment

Technical equipment, plant and machinery 2,059 0 51 0 20 2,090 753 0 266 4 1,015 1,075 1,306

Other equipment, furniture and fittungs 7,567 4 1,162 0 445 8,288 3,832 4 869 329 4,376 3,912 3,735

Finance lease 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

9,626 4 1,213 0 465 10,378 4,585 4 1,135 333 5,391 4,987 5,041

Investment property 379 0 0 0 0 379 197 0 17 0 214 165 182

16,705 5 1,796 0 795 17,711 7,239 4 1,810 589 8,464 9,248 9,467
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Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

1. Business and nature of operations

PULSION Medical Systems SE, which has its registered 

office at 85622 Feldkirchen, Hans-Riedl-Str. 21, Germa-

ny, (hereafter also referred to as “PULSION”, “PULSION 

SE”, “PULSION Group” or the “Company”) was estab-

lished in 1990 and has been listed on the Prime Stan-

dard of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange since June 2001. 

The PULSION Group develops, manufactures and sells 

systems worldwide to monitor, diagnose and manage 

the physical parameters of seriously ill and intensive 

care patients in hospitals. PULSION also produces and 

markets intravenous diagnostics and specific sterile  

disposable items used to monitor patients.

The PULSION Group employed 121 (2011: 123) peo-

ple worldwide as of 31 December 2012, of whom 88 

(2011: 92) worked at PULSION SE’s headquarters in 

Feldkirchen.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended  

31 December 2012 were released by the Executive  

Director on 8 March 2013 for approval by the Adminis-

trative Board.

2. General comments  

The consolidated financial statements of PULSION SE 

and its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

issued by the International Accounting Standard Board 

(IASB) and Interpretations issued by the International  

Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), 

as endorsed by the European Union. Foreign opera-

tions have been included using uniform Group account-

ing policies. All amounts are stated in thousands of euro 

(KEUR) unless otherwise stated. Amounts are rounded 

in accordance with normal commercial practice. This 

can result in rounding differences.

For the purposes of preparing the IFRS consolidated 

financial statements, all International Financial Report-

ing Standards (IFRS) and International Accounting 

Standards (IAS) of the International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee / Standing Interpretations 

Committee (IFRIC/SIC), which were mandatory for the 

financial year 2012, were applied. The consolidated  

financial statements comply with IFRS.

.



International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) and Interpretations (IFRIC) applied 

mandatorily for the first time [IAS 8.28]

All of the Standards and Interpretations discussed  

below were applied by PULSION SE in the year under 

report. This involved the following pronouncements:

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Dis-

closures – Transfers of Financial Assets relate to the 

extension of disclosure requirements for transactions 

entered into for the purposes of transferring financial 

assets, where certain rights and duties remain with the 

transferring entity or which are assumed in conjunction 

with the transaction. The disclosures are intended to 

show the relationships between the transfer of financial 

assets and corresponding financial liabilities. The trans-

ferring entity is required to make substantial disclosures 

regarding the rights and duties attached to the transac-

tion. The amendments to IFRS 7, which were endorsed 

by the EU and published in the official EU Journal on 

22 November 2011, are mandatory for annual periods 

beginning on or after 30 June 2011. This Interpretation 

does not currently have any impact on the consolidated 

financial statements of PULSION SE. 

On 20 December 2010, the IASB published two small 

amendments to IFRS 1 Severe Hyperinflation and 

Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters. 

The first amendment replaces the references to the 

fixed adoption date “1 January 2004 “by the “date of 

adoption of IFRS”. The second amendment provides 

guidance on how an entity should resume presenting 

financial statements in accordance with IFRS after a 

period where the entity’s functional currency has been 

subject to hyperinflation. The amendments have not yet 

been endorsed by the EU. They are mandatory for an-

nual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011, but are 

not relevant for PULSION SE.

The amendment to IAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of 

Underlying Assets, also published on 20 December 

2010, provides for a mandatory exception to the prin-

ciple pursuant to IAS 12.51 that the measurement of 

deferred tax should reflect the tax consequences of the 

“expected manner of recovery” of the underlying asset 

(or liability). This change is particularly important for 

countries in which the use and sale of assets are 

taxed differently. Contrary to the Draft Standard issued 

in September 2010, the exception now only extends to 

investment properties measured at fair value, but not to 

intangible assets or property, plant and equipment. As 

a consequence of the amendment, SIC-21 Recovery 

of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets no longer applies 

for investment property measured at fair value. The re-

maining rules were integrated into IAS 12, and SIC-21 

was withdrawn accordingly. The amendment has not 

yet been endorsed by the EU. The amendments are 

mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after  

1 January 2012. The impact of the amendments on the 

net assets, financial and earnings position of PULSION 

SE is currently being reviewed.
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Published International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) and Interpretations  

(IFRIC) not yet required to be applied  

[IAS 8.30 et seq.] 

In accordance with the amendment to IAS 1, items 

reported in other comprehensive income (OCI) are re-

quired to be presented separately for amounts that will 

be “recycled” in the income statement and those which 

will not. IAS 1 is mandatory in this form for the first time 

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012. 

Early adoption is permitted. The regulation to endorse 

the Amendment to IAS 1 by the EU was published in 

the official EU Journal on 6 June 2012. The potential 

impact for PULSION SE is currently being reviewed.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements is the 

outcome of the IASB’s consolidation project and super-

sedes the requirements contained in the previous IAS 

27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, 

and SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. 

The requirements relating to separate financial state-

ments remain unchanged and IAS 27 will be renamed 

Separate Financial Statements. IFRS 10 introduces a 

uniform model which establishes control as the basis 

for consolidation – control of a subsidiary entity by a 

parent entity – and which can be applied to all entities. 

The control concept must therefore be applied both to 

parent-subsidiary relationships based on voting rights 

as well as to parent-subsidiary relationships arising from 

other contractual arrangements. As a consequence, 

special purpose entities – currently consolidated on the 

basis of the risk and reward concept contained in SIC-

12 – must also be assessed using the control concept. 

The control concept pursuant to IFRS 10 comprises 

three elements, all of which must be complied with: 

�� control over another entity, 

�� variable returns and 

�� the ability to influence the level of variable  

returns by exercising control. 

IFRS 10 is mandatory for the first time for annual peri-

ods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Earlier appli-

cation is permitted, if this is disclosed in the notes to the 

financial statements and if IFRS 11 and 12 and the new 

requirements contained in IAS 27 and IAS 28 are also 

applied early. The new requirements were endorsed by 

the EU in the fourth quarter of 2012. However, due to 

a recommendation of the Accounting Regulatory Com-

mittee (ARC), IFRS 10 is now expected to be endorsed 

with a different date for mandatory application, with the 

consequence that the Standard will become mandatory 

within the EU for the first time for annual periods begin-

ning on or after 1 January 2014. The impact of the new 

requirements on the consolidated financial statements 

of PULSION SE is currently being reviewed.

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements eliminates the option 

of proportionate consolidation of joint ventures. Man-

datory application of the equity method will now also 

apply to joint ventures in accordance with IAS 28. The 

scope of this Standard has been extended to cover 

joint arrangements and the Standard renamed IAS 28 

Accounting for Investments in Associates and Joint Ar-

rangements (revised 2011). It should be noted that as a 

result of the introduction of new classifications for joint 

arrangements, the equity method may not necessari-

ly be applicable for joint ventures currently accounted 

for using the proportionate method. As a result of fur-

ther amendments to IAS 28, it will also be necessary 

for the first time to account for the held-for-sale portion 

of the planned sale of an associated company or joint 

arrangement in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current 

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations if 

the relevant classification criteria are met. The remain-

ing portion continues to be accounted for using the 

equity method (so-called “split-accounting”) until the 

held-for-sale portion is disposed of. If an associated 

company remains after the disposal, the equity meth-

od is retained, and if not, the remaining investment is 

accounted for in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial In-

struments. Moreover, the previous scope exceptions for 

IAS 28 (i.e. venture capital organizations or investment 

funds) have been removed; investments in these en-

tities can now be accounted for either at fair value or 

using the equity method. This measurement option also 

applies to investments in an associated company which 

are held indirectly, i.e. via a venture capital organization 

or investment fund. IAS 28 also integrated the require-

ments previously contained in SIC-13 Jointly Controlled 

Entities – Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers. It 



remains uncertain, however, whether – on transfer of an 

operation to a joint arrangement – only the portion of a 

gain / loss attributable to the equity interests of the other 

venturers can be recognized (formerly SIC-13, now IAS 

28) or whether the whole of the gain / loss must be rec-

ognized in accordance with IAS 27. 

IFRS 11 is mandatory for the first time for annual peri-

ods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Earlier appli-

cation is permitted, if this is disclosed in the notes to the 

financial statements and if IFRS 10 and 12 and the new 

requirements contained in IAS 27 and IAS 28 are also 

applied early. The new requirements were endorsed by 

the EU in the fourth quarter of 2012. However, due to 

a recommendation of the Accounting Regulatory Com-

mittee (ARC), IFRS 10 is now expected to be endorsed 

with a different date for mandatory application, with the 

consequence that the Standard will become mandatory 

within the EU for the first time for annual periods begin-

ning on or after 1 January 2014.

IAS 28 (revised 2011) is mandatory for the first time for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 

Earlier application is permitted, if this is disclosed in the 

notes to the financial statements and if IFRS 11 and 12 

as well as IAS 27 (revised 2011) are also applied ear-

ly. The impact of the new requirements on the consoli-

dated financial statements of PULSION SE is currently 

being reviewed.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

brings together in one Standard the disclosure require-

ments for investments in subsidiaries, joint arrange-

ments and associated companies as well as non-con-

solidated special purpose entities. In accordance with 

the new Standard, entities are required to provide 

quantitative and qualitative disclosures which should 

enable readers of the financial statements to evaluate 

the nature of, and risks associated with, its interests in 

other entities. IFRS 12 is mandatory for the first time for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 

Earlier application is permitted, if this is disclosed in 

the notes to the financial statements. The new require-

ments were endorsed by the EU in the fourth quarter 

of 2012. However, due to a recommendation of the 

Accounting Regulatory Committee (ARC), IFRS 12 is 

now expected to be endorsed with a different date for 

mandatory application, with the consequence that the 

Standard will become mandatory within the EU for the 

first time for annual periods beginning on or after 1 Jan-

uary 2014. The impact of the new requirements on the 

consolidated financial statements of PULSION SE is 

currently being reviewed.

The Standard IFRS 13 Measurement at Fair Value 

was published on 12 May 2011. The Standard sets 

out in a single IFRS a framework for measuring fair 

value, including a definition of the term and describing 

the methods that can be used to measure fair value.  

IFRS 13 also expands the disclosure requirements with 

respect to measurement at fair value. In future – sim-

ilar to the previous requirements of IFRS 7 Financial 

Instruments: Disclosures – all assets and liabilities re-

quired to be measured at fair value must be allocated 

to classes which, among other matters, determine the 

nature of measurement parameters that can be used 

to determine fair value. This could, for instance, be rel-

evant for investment property measured at fair value. It 

will also be necessary to specify the procedures used 

to determine fair value. The new requirements were  

endorsed by the EU in the fourth quarter of 2012. The 

impact of the amendments on the net assets, financial 

and earnings position of PULSION SE is currently being 

reviewed.

The IASB issued a revised version of IAS 19 Employee  

Benefits on 16 June 2011. The requirements contained 

in the Standard have an impact on the recognition and 

measurement of the expense of defined benefit plans 

and termination benefits. In addition, the revised Stan-

dard will entail a significant increase in disclosures that 

many entities will be required to make with respect to 

benefits to employees. IAS 19 (revised) is mandatory 

for the first time for annual periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2013. The regulation to endorse the revised 

IAS 1 by the EU was published in the official EU Journal 

on 6 June 2012. The impact of the amendments on the 

presentation of the consolidated financial statements of 

PULSION SE is currently being reviewed.

As a result of new requirements added to IFRS 10 

Consolidated Financial Statements, the previous 

consolidation requirements contained in IAS 27 Con-

solidated and Separate Financial Statements and 
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SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities will 

be superseded. Since IAS 27 now only contains re-

quirements applicable to separate financial statements, 

the Standard has been renamed IAS 27 Separate Fi-

nancial Statements (revised 2011). The new version of 

this Standard is mandatory for the first time for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Earlier 

application is permitted, if this is disclosed in the notes 

to the financial statements and if IFRS 10, 11 and 12 

as well as IAS 28 (revised 2011) are also applied early. 

The new requirements were endorsed by the EU in the 

fourth quarter of 2012. However, due to a recommen-

dation of the Accounting Regulatory Committee (ARC), 

IAS 28 (revised 2011) is now expected to be endorsed 

with a different date for mandatory application, with the 

consequence that the Standard will become mandatory 

within the EU for the first time for annual periods be-

ginning on or after 1 January 2014. The impact of the 

amendments on the presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements of PULSION SE is currently being 

reviewed.

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements eliminates the option 

of proportionate consolidation of joint ventures. Man-

datory application of the equity method will now also 

apply to joint ventures in accordance with IAS 28. The 

scope of this Standard has been extended to cover 

joint arrangements and the Standard renamed IAS 28 

Accounting for Investments in Associates and Joint 

Arrangements (revised 2011). It should be noted that 

as a result of the introduction of new classifications for 

joint arrangements, the equity method may not neces-

sarily be applicable for joint ventures currently account-

ed for using the proportionate method. 

As a result of further amendments to IAS 28, it will also 

be necessary for the first time to account for the held-

for-sale portion of the planned sale of an associated 

company or joint arrangement in accordance with IFRS 

5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 

Operations if the relevant classification criteria are met. 

The remaining portion continues to be accounted for 

using the equity method (so-called “split-accounting”) 

until the held-for-sale portion is disposed of. If an asso-

ciated company remains after the disposal, the equity 

method is retained, and if not, the remaining investment 

is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial 

Instruments. Moreover, the previous scope exceptions 

for IAS 28 (i.e. venture capital organizations or invest-

ment funds) have been removed; investments in these 

entities can now be accounted for either at fair value or 

using the equity method. This measurement option also 

applies to investments in an associated company which 

are held indirectly, i.e. via a venture capital organization 

or investment fund. 

IAS 28 also integrated the requirements previously con-

tained in SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-Mon-

etary Contributions by Venturers. It remains uncertain, 

however, whether – on transfer of an operation to a joint 

arrangement – only the portion of a gain / loss attribut-

able to the equity interests of the other venturers can be 

recognized (formerly SIC-13, now IAS 28) or whether 

the whole of the gain / loss must be recognized in ac-

cordance with IAS 27. 

IAS 28 (revised 2011) is mandatory for the first time for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 

Earlier application of the Standard is permitted, if this is 

disclosed in the notes to the financial statements and if 

IFRS 10, 11 and 12 as well as IAS 27 (revised 2011) are 

also applied early. 

The new requirements were endorsed by the EU in the 

fourth quarter of 2012. However, due to a recommen-

dation of the Accounting Regulatory Committee (ARC), 

IAS 28 (revised 2011) is now expected to be endorsed 

with a different date for mandatory application, with the 

consequence that the Standard will become mandatory 

within the EU for the first time for annual periods be-

ginning on or after 1 January 2014. The impact of the 

amendments on the presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements of PULSION SE is currently being 

reviewed.

As part of its Improvements to IFRS 2009-2011 Cycle 

involving minor improvements to Standards and Inter-

pretations (Annual Improvements Process), the IASB 

has issued a further Amendment Standard. The follow-

ing Standards are affected by the Amendment: 

�� IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial 

Reporting Standards 

�� IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 

�� IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 

�� IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation 

�� IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting 



The following points are made to the 

amendments: 

�� IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International  

Financial Reporting Standards 

	 – Clarification that it is possible, under certain cir-

cumstances, to reapply IFRS 1: entities which had 

previously ceased to apply IFRS, may apply the 

rules of IFRS 1 again when they recommence pre-

paring financial statements in accordance with IFRS. 

Alternatively, it is also permitted to follow on retro-

spectively from the previous application of IFRS. In 

order to avoid misuse, entities must disclose why 

application of IFRS was terminated, why it is being 

reapplied and – if the case – why the entity has de-

cided against applying IFRS 1 anew. 

	 – Clarification that first-time adopters of IFRS may 

opt whether to apply the requirements of IAS 23 

Borrowing Costs, from the date of adoption of  

IFRS or from an earlier date in accordance with  

IAS 23.28: irrespective of the date from which an 

entity opts to apply the requirements of IAS 23, 

borrowing costs capitalized on the basis of the pre-

viously applied accounting policy are not adjusted 

and any borrowing costs arising after the selected 

date must be accounted for in accordance with the 

requirements of IAS 23. This also applies for bor-

rowing costs on qualifying assets, which are still 

under construction at the date of adoption of IFRS, 

irrespective of whether borrowing costs have been 

capitalized on them on the basis of the previously 

applied accounting policy. 

�� IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 

	 – Clarification of disclosure requirements for com-

parative information in the case of mandatory or 

voluntary preparation of a third balance sheet: the 

third balance sheet required in accordance with  

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 

Estimates and Errors, when accounting policies are 

applied retrospectively or an adjustment is made 

retrospectively or items are reclassified retrospec-

tively must be drawn up as at the beginning of the 

preceding annual accounting period. Disclosure 

notes for this balance sheet are not required. If 

an entity voluntarily discloses additional individual 

comparative information over and above the man-

datory comparable period (e.g. a statement of total 

comprehensive income or balance sheet), it must 

then report the related disclosure notes. A corre-

sponding follow-up amendment to IFRS 1 speci-

fies that three balance sheets must be drawn up 

on first-time adoption of IFRS. In this case, related 

disclosure notes must be reported for all three bal-

ance sheets. 

�� IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 

	 – Clarification that spare parts and maintenance 

equipment that meets the criteria for property, plant 

and equipment must be reported as such and not 

as inventories: maintenance equipment that is used 

for more than one accounting period must in future 

be accounted for as property, plant and equipment. 

If the period of usage is shorter, the item must be re-

ported as inventories. The previous requirement for 

spare parts and maintenance equipment that can 

only be used in conjunction with an item of property, 

plant and equipment to be treated as property, plant 

and equipment has been removed. 

�� IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation

	 – Clarification of the recognition of the income tax 

consequence of dividend payments and transaction 

costs on the issue or repurchase of equity instru-

ments: it is clarified that items must be accounted  

for in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes.  

Accordingly, the income tax consequence of divi-

dend payments must be recognized in profit or loss, 

whereas the income tax consequence arising from 

transaction costs on equity transactions must be 

recognized directly in equity. 

�� IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting 

	 – Clarification of the disclosures required for seg-

ment assets and liabilities in interim financial reports: 

the amendment brings IAS 34 into line with IFRS 

8 Operating Segments. It is clarified that the dis-

closure of segment assets and liabilities in interim 

financial reports is only required if these are also 

the object of regular reporting to the entity’s chief 

operating decision maker and there have been sig-

nificant changes since the most recently published 
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financial statements. Endorsement of the new re-

quirements by the EU is expected for the first quar-

ter of 2013. The impact of the new requirements on 

the consolidated financial statements of PULSION 

SE is currently being reviewed.

The Amendment to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of In-

ternational Financial Reporting Standards – Govern-

ment Loans results in a new exception to the general 

principle that first-time adopters should apply IFRS ret-

rospectively. The requirement contained in IAS 20.10A 

– stating that a government loan at a below-market rate 

must be accounted for in accordance with the require-

ments of IAS 39 (or in future IFRS 9) and hence at its fair 

value – must be applied prospectively to government 

loans granted on or after the date of first-time adop-

tion at a below-market rate. Conversely, government 

loans already in existence at that date can be measured  

on the basis of previous requirements applicable to 

IFRS opening balance sheets. Voluntary retrospec-

tive application of the new requirement is permitted if  

information concerning the fair values of the loans  

concerned was already available on the date they were 

first recognized. Early adoption of the Amendment is 

permitted. Endorsement of the new requirements by 

the EU is expected for the first quarter of 2013. The 

impact of the new requirements on the consolidated 

financial statements of PULSION SE is currently being 

reviewed.

The IASB published requirements for IFRS 7 Financial 

Instruments: Disclosures – Offsetting of Financial As-

sets and Financial Liabilities (revised) and results on 16 

December 2011 in the form of amendments to IAS 32 

Financial Instruments: Presentation (see amendments 

to IAS 32), and to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclo-

sures. Even after these amendments, offsetting criteria 

still differ from the corresponding US GAAP rules. In 

order to simplify the comparison between entities that 

draw up IFRS financial statements and entities whose 

financial statements are drawn up in accordance with 

US GAAP, disclosure requirements were significantly 

expanded when offsetting arrangements were in place. 

The amendments to IFRS 7 also require extensive dis-

closures in the event of a right of set-off which does 

not result in items being offset for IFRS purposes. In 

addition to a qualitative description of rights of set-off, 

the following disclosures must be made: 

�� the gross amount of the financial assets and finan-

cial liabilities concerned before set-off, 

�� the amounts offset in the balance sheet, 

�� the net amount of the financial assets and financial 

liabilities concerned after set-off, 

�� the amount of financial assets and financial liabili-

ties that are subject to offsetting arrangements and 

which have not been offset in the balance sheet, 

�� the fair value of financial instruments received or 

granted as financial collateral, 

�� the net amount of the financial assets and financial 

liabilities concerned based on a set-off including 

the offsetting arrangements not recognized and 

collateral. 

The disclosures must be made separately for financial 

assets and financial liabilities. The disclosures can be 

summarized either on the basis of the type of financial 

instrument or the type of transaction. 

The offsetting disclosure requirements contained in  

IFRS 7 must be applied retrospectively and are effec-

tive for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2013. The new requirements were endorsed by the EU 

in the fourth quarter of 2012. The impact of the new 

requirements on the consolidated financial statements 

of PULSION SE is currently being reviewed.



Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Finan-

cial Statements, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and  

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities – 

Transitional Rules clarify that the “date of first-time 

application” referred to in IFRS 10 is the beginning of 

the reporting period, in which the Standard is applied 

for the first time. As a consequence, the decision as to 

whether an investment must be consolidated or not in 

accordance with IFRS 10 must be taken at the begin-

ning of this accounting period. If, for example, IFRS 10 

were to be applied for the first time as at 31 December 

2013, then the necessary consolidation-related deci-

sions pursuant to IFRS 10 would have to be taken as at 

1 January 2013. In this case, the following procedures 

must be applied: 

�� if there are any changes in the consolidation / 

non-consolidation of an investment when IFRS 10 

is applied rather than IAS 27/SIC-12, the impact of 

the new consolidation decision must be accounted 

for retrospectively. However, adjustments only have 

to be made for the immediately preceding compar-

ative period (in the example above, therefore, only 

for 2012). Differences between carrying amounts 

in accordance with IFRS 10 and previous carrying 

amounts at the beginning of the preceding period 

must be recognized directly in equity. 

�� if the first-time application of the new requirements 

of IFRS 10 does not result in any change in the pre-

vious requirement to consolidate an investment, no 

adjustments are required to be made retrospectively. 

This also applies if the unchanged requirement to 

consolidate an investment only arises because the 

investment was deconsolidated (due to sale or loss 

of control) in one of the comparative periods pre-

sented in the financial statements. 

It is also specified that – on first-time application of the 

consolidation rules – comparative disclosures relating 

to the mandatory disclosure requirements contained in 

IFRS 12 with respect to subsidiaries, associated com-

panies and joint arrangements, are only required for the 

immediately preceding comparative period. The require-

ment to make comparative disclosures for non-consoli-

dated structured entities was removed entirely. 

In the event that IFRS 10, 11 and 12 are applied early, 

the amendments must also be applied early. 

Endorsement of the new requirements by the EU is ex-

pected for the first quarter of 2013. The impact of the 

new requirements on the consolidated financial state-

ments of PULSION SE is currently being reviewed.

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of 

a Surface Mine deals with the recognition and mea-

surement of stripping costs. The accounting treatment 

of costs during the production phase depends on 

the benefits arising for the entity from the removal of 

mine waste. Costs incurred to create inventories out of 

stripped material must be accounted for in accordance 

with IAS 2 Inventories. If, however, the benefit of strip-

ping activities is improved access in the future to min-

eral resources, the entity must recognize a non-current 

stripping activity asset as an enhancement of the exist-

ing tangible asset (e.g. a mine) or intangible asset (e.g. 

mining rights) (asset components). Recognition criteria 

are as follows: 

�� It is probable that the future economic benefit (im-

proved access to the mineral resources) associated 

with the stripping activity will flow to the entity. 

�� The entity can identify the component of the mineral 

resources for which access has been improved. 

�� The costs relating to the stripping activity associated 

with that component can be measured reliably. 

The asset components must be measured in terms of 

their direct cost plus directly attributable overheads. 

Costs of incidental operations, which are not necessary 

for performing the stripping activities for production, 

must not be included. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

the stripping activity asset is measured in line with the 

measurement of the related tangible or intangible as-

set. A performance-based depreciation / amortization 

method should be applied, unless another method is 

more appropriate. If, in specific cases, it is not possible 

to separately identify costs relating to stripping activity 

assets and costs relating to the production of inven-

tories, costs arising must be separated using a pro-

duction-based methodology. Early adoption of the new 

requirements is permitted. The new requirements were 

endorsed by the EU in the fourth quarter of 2012. The 

Interpretation is not relevant for PULSION SE.
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The amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: 

Presentation– Offsetting of Financial Assets and  

Financial Liabilities, published on 16 December 2011, 

retained in principle the offsetting model contained in 

IAS 32, but added new application guidance. Finan-

cial assets and financial liabilities must still be offset if, 

at the balance sheet date, an entity has a right of set-

off and intends to settle on a net basis, or to realize 

the asset and settle the related liability simultaneously. 

The amendments clarify that the right of set-off must 

exist at the balance sheet date – i.e. it must not de-

pend on a future event. The right of set-off must also 

be legally enforceable for all contractual parties, both 

in the course of normal business operations and in the 

case of insolvency of one of the parties. The amend-

ments also clarify that a gross settlement mechanism 

(such as a central clearing house system) may under 

certain circumstances correspond effectively to a net 

settlement mechanism and therefore meet the criterion 

contained in IAS 32. The prerequisite for this is that the 

method applied ensures that credit and liquidity risk is 

eliminated and that receivables and payables are dealt 

with in a single settlement process. General offsetting 

arrangements, in which the legal right of set-off is only 

enforceable if certain events occur in the future – such 

as the insolvency of one of the contractual parties – do 

not meet the criteria for offsetting. The application guid-

ance contained in IAS 32 must be applied retrospec-

tively. Early adoption of the new requirements is permit-

ted. The new requirements were endorsed by the EU in 

the fourth quarter of 2012. The impact of IAS 32 on the 

net assets, financial and earnings position of PULSION 

SE is currently being reviewed.

The IASB published IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: 

Classification and Measurement of Financial Liabil-

ities on 28 October 2010, reiterating new rules issued 

in November 2009. Financial liabilities can still be allo-

cated to the measurement categories “amortized cost” 

or “fair value”. Under the new rules, an entity that has 

opted for the fair value option to measure its financial 

liabilities is required to recognize fair value changes 

caused by changes in the entity’s own credit risk direct-

ly in equity via other comprehensive income and not, as 

was previously the case, through the income statement. 

It is permitted to deviate from this rule if it results in a 

measurement mismatch in the income statement. The 

new rule has not yet been endorsed by the EU. The 

new requirements are mandatory for annual periods be-

ginning on or after 1 January 2013. The impact of IFRS 

9 on the net assets, financial and earnings position of 

PULSION SE is currently being reviewed. 

 



3. Group reporting entity and consolidation methods 

Country Date founded* Investment

PULSION France S.A.R.L., Rungis France 1 October 1999 100 %

PULSION Benelux N.V., Gent Belgium 22 January 1999 99.96 %

PULSION Medical Inc., Dallas, Texas USA 1 October 1999 100 %

PULSION Medical UK Limited, Hounslow United Kingdom 7 August 1998 100 %

PULSION Pacific Pty. Limited, Sydney Australia 22 December 1999 58 %

PULSION Medical Systems Iberica S.L., Madrid Spain 27 November 2000 100 %

PULSION Switzerland GmbH, Baar Switzerland 9 December 2008 100 %

PULSION Austria GmbH, Vienna Austria 1 January 2009 100 %

PULSION Poland Sp.z.oo., Warsaw Poland 15 June 2010 100 %

PULSION Medical Systems S. de RL de CV Mexico 1 June 2011 51 %

PULSION Medical Systems Medikal Ürünler Ticaret Limited Sirketi Turkey 27 September 2011 99 %

* Date of foundation corresponds to date of first-time consolidation.

The shares of PULSION Benelux N.V., Gent and  

PULSION Medical Systems Medikal Ürünler Ticaret 

Limited Sirketi not held by the parent company are held 

by PULSION France S.A.R.L., Rungis (for the Belgian 

subsidiary) and by PULSION Austria GmbH, Vienna (for 

the Turkish subsidiary) repectively.

The following entity is not consolidated as an associated 

company due to the lack of significant influence by the 

Group over it.

Country Date founded* Investment

KI Medical Services Ipari es Kereskedelmi Korlatolt, Felelossegu Hungary 1 October 1999 25 %

The liquidation process has not yet been completed 

due to local audits. Based on the latest information, it 

is not possible at present to predict when the liquida-

tion will be completed. It is not expected, however, that 

these local audits will give rise to any further obligations 

for PULSION SE.

Basis of consolidation: The consolidated financial state-

ments comprise all subsidiaries over which PULSION 

has control. Control is realized at each of the subsid-

iaries by holding a majority of the voting power. There 

are no associated companies. All Group entities draw 

up financial statements to 31 December of the relevant 

financial year. The financial year corresponds to the cal-

endar year. The fully consolidated financial statements 

of Group entities are drawn up using uniform account-

ing policies.

Receivables and payables of consolidated Group enti-

ties are offset against each other. The carrying amount 

of assets acquired from other Group entities is reduced 

to take account of any unrealized profits or losses; 

these assets are therefore measured at Group acquisi-

tion or manufacturing cost.

Intra-Group sales are eliminated. All other intra-Group 

income and expenses are offset against each other. De-

ferred tax is recognized on consolidation adjustments 

which have an income statement impact if the tax effect 

is expected to reverse in future financial years.

Foreign currency translation: The consolidated financial 

statements are drawn up in euro, PULSION’s functional 

and presentation currency. 



92
 /

 9
3 

  N
ot

es
 to

 th
e 

C
on

so
lid

at
ed

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts

Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries whose functional 

currency is not the euro are translated using the closing 

rate method. Equity transactions are translated using 

the historical rates prevailing at the date of the transac-

tion. Income statement items are translated using the 

average exchange rate for the financial year. Transla-

tion differences are recognized directly in equity (other 

reserves).

Foreign currency transactions are recorded using the 

spot exchange rate prevailing at the date of the trans-

action. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities 

are translated at subsequent balance sheet dates using  

the closing rate. Gains or losses arising from the re-

statement of foreign currency items are recognized in 

the income statement on the lines “Exchange gains”  

and “Exchange losses”. Exchange differences on 

non-monetary assets and liabilities are recognized  

directly in equity (other reserves).

The main exchange rates used to draw up the consolidated financial statements were as follows:

Closing rate at Closing rate at Average rate Average rate

  31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011 2012 2011

AUD 0.7846 0.7856 0.8055 0.7417

CHF 0.8280 0.8216 0.8296 0.8123

GBP 1.2220 1.1933 1.2328 1.1522

MXN 0.0581 0.0552 0.0591 0.0579

PLN 0.2452 0.2254 0.2389 0.2430

TRY 0.4223 0.4054 0.4318 0.4295

USD 0.7565 0.7722 0.7781 0.7188



4. Accounting principles

Assets and liabilities are measured in the consolidated 

financial statements on the basis of their amortized his-

torical cost. Unless otherwise stated, the accounting 

policies described below were applied consistently for 

each of the accounting periods presented.

Significant accounting areas of judgment and the prin-

cipal sources of uncertainties in estimates: The prepa-

ration of consolidated financial statements in conformity 

with IFRS requires management to make estimates, use 

its judgment and apply assumptions that can have an 

impact on the amounts reported in the financial state-

ments and accompanying notes. Estimates and the 

underlying assumptions to those estimates are derived, 

where available, from past experience and after taking 

all relevant factors into consideration. Assumptions 

used to make estimates are regularly reviewed. Chang-

es in estimates only affecting one accounting period are 

only taken into account in that accounting period. In the 

case of changes in estimates that affect the current and 

future accounting periods, these are taken into account 

appropriately in the current and subsequent accounting 

periods.

The most important forward-looking assumptions and 

other principal sources of uncertainties in estimates at 

the end of the reporting period, which could entail the 

risk that the varying amounts of assets and liabilities 

might need to be changed significantly in the next finan-

cial year, are described below:

a)	 Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 

and investment property:

	 As described in Note 14 – Property, plant and equip-

ment – the Group reviews the estimated useful lives 

of assets at the end of each financial year. The use-

ful lives assumed for capitalized monitors are based 

on an assessment of the revenue that can be gen-

erated with the monitors concerned over their ex-

pected life cycle. The Group measures investment 

property at its fair value, with changes in fair value 

recognized through the income statement. The fair 

value reflects market conditions at the end of the 

reporting period and takes account, amongst oth-

er things, of rental income based on current rental  

arrangements and an appropriate and reasonable  

assumption with regard to future rental arrangements  

and income based on current market conditions.

b)	 Recoverability of internally generated intangible 

assets:

	 Development costs are capitalized in accordance 

with the accounting policy described in Note 12 “In-

tangible assets”. The initial recognition of costs as 

an asset is based on management’s assessment 

that technical and commercial feasibility has been 

demonstrated; this is usually the case if a product 

development project has reached a formal docu-

mented status. For the purpose of determining the 

amounts to be capitalized, management makes 

assumptions with respect to the amounts of future 

expected cash flows from the project, the discount 

factors to be applied and the period over which 

economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity. 

If assumptions (in particular the estimate of future 

expected cash flows) change in subsequent ac-

counting periods, the appropriate adjustments will 

be recorded.

c)	 Income taxes:

	 Uncertainties exist with regard to the interpretation 

of complex tax regulations as well as to the amount 

and timing of future taxable income. Due to this 

complexity, it is possible that variances will arise 

between actual results and assumptions taken and 

that future changes in assumptions may require an 

adjustment to the tax expense recorded for earlier 

periods. Deferred tax assets are only recognized to 

the extent that taxable income is available for offset 

against tax losses available for carryforward. The 

Group has tax losses available for carryforward at 

the level of subsidiaries with a history of loss-mak-

ing. Although the tax losses do not lapse – with the 

exception of the USA, where the tax losses elapse 

after 20 years – they cannot be offset against tax-

able income of other Group entities. Similarly, the 

subsidiaries do not have the appropriate tax plan-

ning opportunities that would justify even partial rec-

ognition of deferred tax assets.
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d)	 Provisions and accrued liabilities:

	 Provisions are recognized to cover pending and fu-

ture court proceedings for legal disputes. Provisions 

are recognized and measured at the amount of the 

probable outcome of the legal disputes based on 

information available and after consultation with the 

lawyers concerned. If the amount of expected obli-

gations changes as a result of changes in the legal 

situation, it may be necessary to change provisions 

in subsequent years with a corresponding impact 

on earnings.

Goodwill: Goodwill arising on a business combination 

is recognized as an asset on the date on which the 

Group obtains control over the asset (acquisition date). 

It corresponds to the amount by which the consider-

ation given exceeds the amount of all non-controlling 

interests in the acquired entity and the fair value of the 

equity previously held by the acquirer in the acquired 

entity and the net amount of the identified assets and 

liabilities acquired at acquisition date. 

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least once a year 

and is not subject to scheduled amortization. Impair-

ment losses recognized on goodwill are not reversed 

in subsequent periods. On the sale of a subsidiary, the 

amount attributable to goodwill is taken into account 

for the purposes of determining the gain or loss on 

disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents and current invest-

ments: Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at 

bank and in hand and are measured at their nominal 

amounts. 

Financial assets

PULSION holds the following categories of financial 

assets:

Receivables: Receivables are non-derivative financial 

assets with fixed or determinable payments which are 

not quoted in an active market. They arise when the 

Group makes cash, goods or services available to a 

debtor, where the Group has no intention of trading the 

resulting balances. They are classified as current assets 

to the extent that they are not due later than 12 months 

after the balance sheet date. All other receivables are 

classified as non-current assets. Receivables are mea-

sured on initial recognition at their fair value, which will 

normally correspond to the nominal value. Subsequent 

to initial recognition, allowances are recognized on re-

ceivables on the basis of the likelihood of incurring loss-

es on those balances.

Other assets: Other assets and deferred expenses are 

stated at amortized cost. Deferred expenses are recog-

nized to the extent that disbursements relate to expens-

es for future periods.

Inventories: Inventories are stated at the lower of ac-

quisition / manufacturing costs or net realizable value. 

Net realizable value is defined as the estimated selling 

price in the ordinary course of business less necessary 

variable costs to complete the sale. Manufacturing cost 

comprises the direct cost of production material and 

wages and a proportion of production overheads, in-

cluding depreciation. Acquisition cost comprises the 

purchase price and all ancillary costs directly attribut-

able to the acquisition. Acquisition and manufacturing 

costs are measured using the standard cost method. 

Borrowing costs are not capitalized since PULSION 

does not have any qualifying assets. Write-downs are 

recognized in the case of inventory and market risks, in-

cluding write-downs for slow-moving inventories based 

on inventory turnover periods and past experience, 

measured separately for production material / compo-

nents and finished products.

Property, plant and equipment: Property, plant and 

equipment are stated at acquisition / manufacturing 

costs less accumulated depreciation. Acquisition / Con-

struction costs include all costs directly attributable to 

an acquisition. Subsequent costs are only recognized 

as part of the cost of the asset or – if relevant – as a 

separate asset, if it is probable that future economic 

benefits will flow to the Group and if the cost of the as-

set can be measured reliably. All other repair and main-

tenance costs are recognized as expenses in the period 

in which they are incurred. In previous years, borrowing 

costs were capitalized on qualifying assets. 



Depreciation is determined using the straight-line meth-

od over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The 

estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment 

are as follows:

Buildings 25 years

Leasehold improvements 2 - 33 years

Other factory and office equipment 3 - 13 years

Monitors accounted for as fixed assets     7.5 years

Useful lives are reviewed at each reporting date and 

amended where necessary.

Property, plant and equipment are periodically reviewed 

for impairment whenever circumstances and situations 

change such that there is an indication that the respec-

tive carrying amounts of such assets may not be re-

coverable. An impairment loss is recognized when the 

carrying amount of an asset exceeds the estimated re-

coverable amount. The recoverable amount is defined 

as the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell 

and its value in use. Impairment losses are reversed 

when the reason for impairment no longer exists.

Investment property: The real estate presented as in-

vestment property relates to rented residential accom-

modation and offices which are held to earn rentals and 

are not used by the Group for operational purposes. In-

vestment property is measured at acquisition cost less 

scheduled depreciation and impairment losses. 

Scheduled depreciation is computed using the straight-

line method over the estimated useful life of the asset. 

The useful life of the investment property is 25 years. 

The fair value of investment property was determined on 

the basis of a discounted forecast of net cash flows up 

to the end of the asset’s useful life within the business 

and recoverable sales proceeds, in each case discount-

ed using an appropriate risk-adjusted interest rate. An 

additional valuation was not carried out by a valuation 

expert. The relevant assets are tested for impairment 

whenever circumstances and situations change such 

that there is an indication that the respective carrying 

amounts of such assets may not be recoverable.

Intangible assets: Software, development projects, 

approvals and patents have finite useful lives and are 

measured initially at cost. The cost of development 

projects includes borrowing costs to the extent that the 

asset meets the criteria of a qualifying asset. Scheduled 

amortization is computed using the straight-line meth-

od over the estimated useful lives of the asset. The es-

timated useful lives for the various classes of intangible 

assets are as follows:

Internally generated intangible assets 5 - 20 years

Externally generated intangible assets 3 - 5 years

Development costs are expensed as incurred. The fol-

lowing items are excluded from this general rule:

�� Expenditure on development projects which are in 

the so-called “application development phase” and 

which meet the criteria for recognition set out in IAS 

38.57. The normal useful life for the business in this 

case is 5 years. Capitalized items are amortized on 

a straight-line basis.

�� Expenditure on approvals in Europe and the USA. 

These costs are depreciated on a straight-line basis 

over periods of between 5 and 10 years, commenc-

ing on the date of market introduction.

�� Expenditure to obtain patents. Once a patent has 

been issued, it is amortized straight-line over a use-

ful life of 20 years. When efforts to obtain the patent 

are discontinued, an impairment loss is recognized 

and the asset derecognized.

These items are recognized in accordance with IAS 38 

as internally generated intangible assets. Intangible as-

sets are reviewed for impairment at least once a year or 

whenever circumstances and situations change such 

that there is an indication that the respective carrying 

amounts of such assets may not be recoverable. If the 

carrying value exceeds the estimated amount of undis-

counted future cash flows before interest and tax, an 

impairment loss, measured as the difference between 

the fair value and the recoverable amount, is recognized. 
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Leases

As the lessee under finance leases: There were no 

active sales-and-leaseback transactions in place at 31 

December 2012.

 

As the lessor under operating leases: The Group 

makes equipment available to customers on the follow-

ing terms:

Free-of-charge usage: Equipment is made available to 

customers free of charge on condition that they agree 

to purchase minimum volumes of disposable products. 

Ownership of the equipment remains with the Compa-

ny. The equipment is depreciated over 90 months and 

presented in cost of sales.

Loan of equipment combined with usage agree-

ments: These contracts generally run for a period of 

3 years and are combined with minimum purchase 

volumes of disposable products. In addition, an annual 

usage fee is charged. This revenue is recognized on a 

time-allocated basis. Legal ownership of the equipment 

remains with the Group. This equipment is also there-

fore capitalized within property, plant and equipment 

and depreciated over a period of 90 months. 

Rental agreements: Under this arrangement, equip-

ment is loaned out to customers and a monthly rent-

al invoice issued. The length of contract is individually 

agreed with each customer and therefore part of the 

contract. PULSION SE continues to own the equipment 

which is therefore reported within property, plant and 

equipment and depreciated over a period of 90 months.

The Group also earns rentals on apartments and office 

space that it does not use operationally. It also sublets 

one underground parking space that is otherwise used 

operationally.

As the lessor under finance leases: At 31 December 

2012 no leases with purchase options were classified 

as finance leases.

Equity: Debt and equity capital instruments are clas-

sified as financial liabilities or equity on the basis of the 

underlying substance of the contractual arrangements.

Provisions: In accordance with IAS 37, a provision is 

recognized when the entity has a present obligation to 

a third party as a result of a past event, it is probable 

that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 

the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of 

the amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured 

at their expected settlement amount. The amount rec-

ognized as a provision is the best estimate at the bal-

ance sheet date of the expenditure required to settle 

the present obligation at the end of the reporting period 

taking account of inherent risks and uncertainties per-

taining to the obligation. Provisions for warranties on 

products sold are recognized and measured on the ba-

sis of the Group’s past experience of the level of costs 

necessary to settle warranty obligations. If a number of 

similar obligations exist, the probability of incurrence is 

determined on the basis of the overall group of these 

obligations.

Financial liabilities (debt) and liabilities (accounts 

payable): Financial liabilities are measured on initial 

recognition at their fair value. Subsequent to initial rec-

ognition, they are measured at amortized cost. Finance 

lease liabilities are measured initially at the present value 

of future lease payments and reduced in subsequent 

periods by the repayment portion of lease payments. 

Current liabilities are measured at their repayment or 

settlement amount.

Borrowing costs: In accordance with IAS 23.20,  

borrowing costs were capitalized in previous years on 

qualifying assets.

Government grants and government assistance: In 

accordance with IAS 20, government grants are not 

recognized until there is reasonable assurance that 

the Group will be able to fulfil the relevant conditions 

for the grant and it is probable that the grants will be 

paid. Government grants received to offset expenditure 

or losses already incurred or intended as immediate fi-

nancial support for which there will be no future corre-

sponding expenditure, are recognized as income in the 

period in which the claim arises.

Revenue and cost recognition: Revenue from prod-

uct sales is recognized when delivery has occurred or 



services have been rendered, the seller’s price is fixed 

or determinable, and collectability is probable. Service 

revenues are generally recognized at the time of per-

formance. Revenue from utilization fees is recognized 

straight-line on a time-apportioned basis over the peri-

od of the agreement. Sales revenue includes license fee 

income and is stated after deduction of rebates, cus-

tomer bonuses and settlement discount. 

Product-related expenses: As a result of various 

market and product-related factors, such as general 

economic conditions, competitive intensity and the pur-

chasing practices of customers, the Group uses pro-

motional measures to control selling prices. Advertising 

expenses and sales promotion as well as sales-related 

expenses are expensed when incurred. 

Deferred taxes: Deferred taxes are recognized on tim-

ing differences between the tax bases and accounting 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (liability meth-

od), timing differences relating to consolidation proce-

dures and on tax losses available for carryforward. The 

effect of changes in tax rates on deferred tax assets 

and liabilities is reflected in the income tax expense of 

the period in which the tax rate change is enacted. If 

the criteria set out in IAS 12 are met, deferred taxes are 

recognized on temporary differences between the tax 

base of the assets and liabilities of consolidated entities 

and the carrying amounts of those assets and liabilities 

in the consolidated balance sheet (netted).

Income taxes: Income tax expense represents the ag-

gregate amount of current and deferred tax expense. 

Current tax includes tax relating to previous years and 

foreign withholding taxes. Current tax expense is mea-

sured on the basis of taxable profit for the fiscal year 

and relates to German corporation tax, German trade 

municipal tax and solidarity surcharge as well as foreign 

income taxes.

The deferred tax expense in accordance with IAS 12 

results from taxable temporary differences between the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consol-

idated financial statements and the tax bases of those 

assets and liabilities used to compute taxable income 

(liability method). Deferred taxes are measured using tax 

rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substan-

tially enacted at the balance sheet date and that are 

expected to be valid at the date when the deferred tax 

asset is realized or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred taxes are recognized on the one hand on 

timing differences between the accounting and tax 

bases of assets and liabilities. In addition deferred tax 

assets are also recognized on tax losses available for 

carryforward. 

Deferred tax assets are only recognized at the level of 

subsidiaries if it is highly probable that they can be re-

covered in the future. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

are measured using the tax rates expected to apply to 

taxable profit in the years in which the temporary differ-

ences are expected to reverse.
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Employment benefits: In conjunction with legal pro-

visions, employees are given the opportunity to partic-

ipate in a company pension plan. This plan does not 

involve any obligations for PULSION. The Group has 

no other pension obligations. Employees’ remuneration 

comprises a fixed and a variable component. Bonus 

payments are agreed individually and disbursed in the 

following financial year.

Employee share participation programme / share 

options: Two stock option pro¬grammes are in place 

as incentives to tie employees and executive manage-

ment into the Company. Stock options issued after  

7 November 2002 (Stock Option Plan 2003 and Stock 

Option Plan 2006), are measured at their fair value in 

accordance with the rule contained in IFRS 2. The 

amount calculated is recognized as expense at the end 

of the vesting period and offset against the correspond-

ing amount previously recognized in equity.

Segment reporting: Segment reporting is carried out in 

accordance with IFRS 8 on the basis of a management 

approach. IFRS 8 requires that segment information is 

presented on the basis of reports provided to the chief 

operating decision maker. An operating segment is de-

fined as a component of the entity that engages in busi-

ness activities for which it may earn revenues and incur 

expenses, whose operating results are reviewed by the 

chief operating decision maker and for which discrete 

financial information is available. 

 



Explanatory notes to the Consolidated Income Statement

5. Sales

Sales by product line are as follows:

2012 2011

KEUR KEUR

Equipment 6,658 6,910

Disposables 22,147 21,289

Indication / Diagnosis 5,816 4,753

34,621 32,949

Equipment sales include all revenues related to equip-

ment manufactured and sold by the Group. Equipment 

sales comprise primarily revenues generated by sales 

and, to a minor extent, license and rental income as 

well as equipment usage fees and repair services.

6. �Cost of sales and personnel  
expenses

Cost of sales comprises primarily the cost of raw  

materials and supplies used (KEUR 9,309; 2011:  

KEUR 6,949) and of bought-in goods and services 

(KEUR 749; 2011: KEUR 961). 

Depreciation, amortization and write-downs totalling 

KEUR 1,432 (2011: KEUR 1,603) are included. Depre-

ciation of KEUR 692 (2011: KEUR 594) was recognized 

on monitors and amortization of KEUR 740 (2011: 

KEUR 588) on intangible assets. 

Impairment losses of KEUR 111 were recognized on 

intangible assets in 2012 (2011: KEUR 0).

Reversals of impairment losses on current assets  

totalling KEUR 232 (2011: expenses of KEUR 571) 

were included in cost of sales.

The expense line items in the consolidated income 

statement contain the following personnel expenses:

2012 2011

KEUR KEUR

Wages and salaries 7,598 8,097

Statutory social security 1,363 1,389

Expenses for stock options 30 66

8,991 9,552

Wages and salaries include personnel recruitment costs 

of KEUR 246 in 2012 (2011: KEUR 334). Personnel ex-

penses include a pension expense of KEUR 18 (2011: 

KEUR 18).

PULSION had a worldwide workforce (including 1 per-

son employed on a low wage-earning basis) of 121 

employees at the end of the year compared to 123 

employees (including 6 people employed on a low 

wage-earning basis) one year earlier. 

 

7. �Income and expenses from  
financial assets

Interest expense includes KEUR 19 (2011: KEUR 58) 

for liabilities to banks. Interest earned on bank balances 

totalled KEUR 87 (2011: KEUR 14). 

8. Other operating income and expense

Other operating income includes income from the 

derecognition of other liabilities / reversal of provisions 

amounting to KEUR 379 (2011: KEUR 552), income 

from the private use of company vehicles amounting 

to KEUR 121 (2011: KEUR 132) and rental income of 

KEUR 22 (2011: KEUR 22). Other operating expenses 

also include foreign sales tax and other taxes totalling 

KEUR 89 (2011: KEUR 73). 
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9. �Selling expenses, research and  
development expenses and general 
and administrative expenses

As well as personnel, advertising, trade fair and selling 

expenses, the Group’s operating expenses also include 

legal and advisory expenses, rental expenses and busi-

ness travel costs. Operating expenses also include 

non-capitalizable development costs.

10. Income taxes
2012 2011

KEUR KEUR

Income taxes 2,726 2,983

(of which relating to prior periods) (22) 80

Deferred tax income (219) (928)

Total tax expenses 2,507 2,055

The amount reported as current tax expense relates 

to German corporation tax, solidarity surcharge, Ger-

man trade municipal tax, deductible foreign withhold-

ing taxes and foreign income taxes of the non-German 

Group entities as computed under relevant national tax 

rules. Tax provisions at 31 December 2012 amounted 

to KEUR 2,617 (2011: KEUR 2,322).

Deferred taxes at 31 December 2012 were computed 

for the German entity on the basis of a corporation tax 

rate of 15.0% (31 December 2011: 15.0%). In addition, 

a solidarity surcharge of 5.5% (31 December 2011: 

5.5%) on corporation tax and an effective municipal 

trade tax rate of approximately 12.99% (31 December 

2011: 15.97%) were taken into account. A tax rate of 

27.38% (31 December 2011: 31.80%) was accordingly 

used to calculate deferred taxes for the German entity. 

A deferred tax asset has been recognized for tax losses 

available for carryforward by Group entities to the extent 

that it is probable that taxable profit will be available in 

the future to offset those losses. The Group has not 

recognized deferred tax assets of KEUR 3,496 (2011: 

KEUR 5,379) on unused tax losses of KEUR 12,135 

(2011: KEUR 15,210) which can be carried forward by 

non-German PULSION entities for offset against future 

taxable profit. 

The following summary shows a reconciliation between 

the expected tax expense – derived from applying a cu-

mulative German tax rate of 28.8% (2011: 32%) for cor-

poration tax, solidarity surcharge and municipal trade 

tax – and the actual tax expense:

2012 2011

KEUR KEUR

Group profit before taxes 9,603 6,717

Expected tax expenses 2,768 2,136

Effect of changes in tax rates (88) (7)

Tax expense / income – prior years (22) 0

Differences to Group tax rate 12 (60)

Foreign withholding taxes (1) 0

Non-deductible expenses, adjustments for tax rules 100 183

Change in recoverability of deferred tax assets (148) 4

Other consolidation procedures 0 (209)

Other  (114) 9

2,507 2,055



  31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

  KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

   Deferred tax 
assets

 Deferred tax 
liabilities

 Deferred tax 
assets

 Deferred tax 
liabilities

Intangible assets 13 907 43 1,235

Property, plant and equipment 267 12 245 18

Inventories 152 0 200 0

Receivables and other current assets 25 33 30 17

Liabilities 22 0 61 0

Consoidation procedures 0 526 0 525

Accumulated deficit 117 0 116 0

  595 1,478 695 1,795

Offset of deferred tax assets and liabilities (595) (595) (695) (695)

Total 0 883 0 1,100

 

It is forecast that, out of the KEUR 883 (2011: KEUR 1,100) reported as net deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 

2012, deferred tax assets amounting to KEUR 176 (2011: KEUR 43) and deferred tax liabilities amounting to KEUR 

33 (2011: KEUR 17) will be utilized within one year.

11. Minority interests

The development of minority interests is shown in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.
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Explanatory notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet

12. Intangible assets

Intangible assets at 31 December 2012 comprised:

Historical cost Accumulated amortization  
and impairment losses

Carrying amount

KEUR KEUR KEUR

Approvals 2,456 1,370 1,086

Patents 1,042 429 613

Distribution rights 178 178 0

Product development 2,765 1,179 1,586

Software 685 523 162

Goodwill 12 0 12

Total 7,138 3,679 3,459

Intangible assets at 31 December 2011 comprised:  

Historical cost Accumulated amortization  
and impairment losses

Carrying amount

KEUR KEUR KEUR

Approvals 2,442 1,151 1,291

Patents 1,042 295 747

Distribution rights 178 178 0

Product development 2,718 776 1,942

Software 562 458 104

Goodwill 12 0 12

Total 6,954 2,858 4,096

Remaining amortization period

from up to

Approvals 1 month 8 years

Patents 4.5 years 20 years

Product development 7 months 5 years

Software 1 month 3 years

No new borrowing costs were capitalized on intangi-

ble assets in 2012 (2011: KEUR 25 determined using 

a capitalization rate of 10.47%). The total amount of 

borrowing costs recognized as an asset at the end 

of the reporting period was KEUR 182 (2011: KEUR 

182). Amortization and impairment losses amounting to 

KEUR 821 (2011: KEUR 658) were recognized in 2012, 

including impairment losses amounting to KEUR 111 

as a result of the annual impairment test (2011: KEUR 

0). Impairment losses, when recognized, are recorded 

with income statement effect (in cost of sales). Advance 

payments for the BMEYE project amounting to KEUR 

100 were recognized as an asset and expense in 2012 

as a consequence of the discontinuation of the project.



13. Goodwill

 
31 Dec. 

2012
31 Dec. 

2011

  KEUR KEUR

Cost 12 12

Accumulated impairment losses 0 0

Carrying amount at year end 12 12

In accordance with an agreement certified by notary 

public on 23 December 2008, PULSION AG acquired 

all of the shares of ESOMA Beteiligungsverwaltung 

GmbH (name changed to PULSION Austria GmbH in 

accordance with resolution dated 23 December 2008), 

which has its registered office in Vienna, for a purchase 

price of EUR 39,500. The share capital of the acquired 

entity is EUR 35,000. The investment was consolidated 

for the first time with effect from 1 January 2009 when 

the shares were transferred with legal effect, giving rise 

to goodwill of KEUR 12. The acquired company did not 

have any active operations at the date of acquisition 

and did not account for any significant assets or liabil-

ities. Following the acquisition of the shares, the sales 

region Austria is now being handled by this subsidiary. 

14. Property, plant and equipment

No impairment losses were recognized in 2012 on 

property, plant and equipment to reduce their carrying 

amount to fair value (2011: KEUR 0). The depreciation 

expense for 2012 totalled KEUR 1,079 (2011: KEUR 

1,152). 

Changes in property, plant and equipment are shown in 

the analysis of changes in fixed assets. Details of assets 

pledged as collateral are disclosed in Note 26 Liabili-

ties to banks. Monitors are reported on the line “Other 

equipment, plant and business equipment”. The carry-

ing amount of monitors at 31 December 2012 amount-

ed to KEUR 2,735 (2011: KEUR 2,464).

15. �Lease liabilities / Asset carrying 
amounts

As at the end of the previous financial year, there were 

no contractual obligations at 31 December 2012.

16. Investment property

Rental income from investment property amounted 

to KEUR 22 in 2012 (2011: KEUR 22). Costs direct-

ly related to investment property amounted to KEUR 7 

(2011: KEUR 7). The fair value of real estate presented 

as investment property corresponds roughly to the car-

rying amount. At the balance sheet date, mortgages on 

property totalled KEUR 266 (2011: KEUR 417).

17. Inventories

Inventories comprise:

  31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

  KEUR KEUR

Raw materials and supplies 3,247 2,712

Work in progress 519 291

Finished goods and goods 
for resale 1,970 2,244

5,736 5,247
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Write-downs on inventories were as follows:

  31 December 2012 31 December 2011

    KEUR   KEUR

Raw materials and supplies 3,774     3,167    

Gross amount of which subject to write-down 527     455    

Write-downs   (527) 3,247   (455) 2,712

             

Work in progress 519 0 519 291 0 291

             

Finished goods 2,026     2,621    

Gross amount value adjusted 56     377    

Value adjustment   (56) 1,970   (377) 2,244

      5,736     5,247

Income from the reversal of write-downs amounting to 

KEUR 232 (2011: expense of KEUR 571) was recorded 

in 2012 within cost of sales. This includes in 2012 in-

come from the reversal of write-downs on slow moving 

inventories amounting to KEUR 226 (2011: expense of 

KEUR 385) and expenses for scrapping finished goods 

amounting to KEUR 18 (2011: KEUR 150).

18. Trade accounts receivable
 

31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

Trade accounts receivable, gross 5,762 6,269

Allowances  33 342 

Trade accounts receivable, net 5,729 5,927

Impairment allowances developed as follows:
 

2012 2011

Allowances at January 1 342 9

Allocated 24 333

Utilized 0 (1)

Reversed (333) 0

Allowances at 31 December 33 342

The impairment allowances include specific allow-

ances amounting to KEUR 33 (2011: KEUR 342).  

Specific allowances on receivables entail a significant  

 

degree of estimation and the assessments of individual 

balances based on the creditworthiness of each customer.  

Impairment allowances are based on estimates. 



During the reporting period, trade accounts receivable 

amounting to KEUR 0.2 (2011: KEUR 24) were derecog-

nized since the receivables cannot be recovered.

The Group’s payment periods range from 14 and 120 

days depending on the customer concerned. Interest 

is not recognized on overdue receivables. Payment pe-

riods are exceeded significantly at the level of a num-

ber of the Group’s subsidiaries. Past experience shows, 

however, that this does not result in a higher level of bad 

debts. The Group endeavours to reduce the level of ar-

rears by increased receivables management activities. 

Impairment losses on trade accounts receivable are 

determined individually. Allowances totalling KEUR 20 

were recorded on receivables in Spain not settled with-

in the agreed payment periods, reflecting the fact that 

public sector organizations in Spain have delayed pay-

ments as a result of the debt crisis. In addition, the bad 

debt risk in the case of new customers outside Ger-

many is minimized by requiring up-front payments and 

carrying out creditworthiness checks. Trade accounts 

receivable relate to individual customers and global dis-

tributors. There is no concentration of receivables for 

individual customers.

Specific impairment allowances were not recognized on 

trade accounts receivable amounting to KEUR 2,406 

(2011: KEUR 2,564) which were overdue at the balance 

sheet date since no significant change in the debtors’ 

creditworthiness was identified and since all outstand-

ing amounts are expected to be paid. The Group does 

not hold any collateral for these items.

The age structure of overdue receivables for which no impairment allowances have been recognized was as follows:

KEUR Carrying    
amount

of which neither  
subject to  

impairment loss  
nor overdue at the 

year end

of which not subject to impairment loss and overdue  
at the year end in the following time windows

of which 
subject to 

impairment loss 
and overdue at 

the year-end

1 to 30  
days

30 to 60  
days

60 to 90  
days

more than  
90 days

31 Dec. 2012

Trade accounts receivable 5,729 3,302 778 421 252 951 24

31 Dec. 2011

Trade accounts receivable 5,729 3,030 902 405 281 977 333

For the purposes of determining the recoverability of 

trade accounts receivable, all changes in the credit

worthiness of the customers from the date on which 

payment periods are agreed through to the balance 

sheet date are taken into account. Due to the structure 

of the customer base and the lack of correlation be-

tween customers, there is no significant concentration 

of credit risk. Management is therefore of the opinion 

that no further impairment allowances require to be 

recognized.
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19. Other current assets

This item comprises the following: 

  31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

  KEUR KEUR

Deferred expenses 404 320

Advance payments to suppliers 41 41

Receivables from German Tax Office – value added tax 65 52

  510 414

Other 119 94

Total 629 508

20. �Cash and cash equivalents /  
Cash funds

Cash funds reported in the cash flow statement 

comprise:

31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

KEUR KEUR

Cash and cash equivalents 11,387 8,758

Cash pledged as collateral 0 0

11,387 8,758

21. Equity

The composition of and changes in shareholders’ equity 

are shown in the Consolidated Statement of Changes 

in Equity.

At 31 December 2012, Conditional Capitals II and III 

of EUR 350,000 and EUR 130,500 respectively are in 

place for the issue of shares in conjunction with the 

stock option plans. Conditional Capital II and Condi-

tional Capital III totalling EUR 480,500 correspond to 

the Company’s Authorized Capital.

Based on the authorizations given by the shareholders 

at the Annual General Meeting on 18 May 2010 and 

26 May 2011, the Administrative Board resolved on 20 

March 2012 to retire 677,302 shares by way of share 

capital reduction. The share capital reduction was en-

tered into the relevant commercial register on 4 May 

2012. The Company’s share capital at 31 December 

2012 is therefore EUR 8,900,000, divided into a total of 

8,900,000 non-par shares issued to bearer. Each share 

represents EUR 1.00 of the share capital. The holders 

of shares of common stock are entitled to one vote per 

share and to dividends as declared.

Other reserves relate primarily to translation differences.

Additional disclosures relating to capital manage-

ment: Equity capital increased during the financial  

year 2012 by 13.0%, mainly as a result of the sharp rise 

in net profit for the year. The equity ratio increased as 

a result to 74% (31 December 2011: 71%), while the 

return on equity and the return on total capital improved 

to 31.3% (31 December 2011: 23.9%) and 22.7%  

(31 December 2011: 16.5%) respectively. The improve-

ment in returns on equity / capital resulted mainly from 

the higher net Group profit, which in turn was partly 

due to increased sales revenue and partly to further  

decreases in operating costs. 



Kennzahl Berechnung 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

Equity ratio Equity / Balance sheet total 74.0 % 71.0 %

Return on equity Group profit / Average equity 31.3 % 23.9 %

Return on total capital Group profit / Average total capital 22.7 % 16.5 %

Additional paid-in capital developed during the year as follows:

KEUR

Balance at January 1, 2012 1,532

Expense relating to transfer to additional paid-in capital pursuant to § 237 AktG 677

Transfer from fair value measurement of share options 30

Share premium arising on exercise of stock options  

Balance at December 31, 2012 2,391

Acquisition of treasury shares of KEUR 4,549.

In accordance with the resolution taken at the Annual 

General Meeting on 16 May 2012, the Company is au-

thorized to buy back up to 10% of the Company’s share 

capital. The acquisition can be executed via the stock 

exchange or by means of a public share buy-back offer. 

On the basis of this authorization, the Company ac-

quired 199,905 treasury shares via the stock exchange 

over the course of the financial year 2012.

Two share buy-back programmes were also carried out 

during financial year 2012:

�� 280,521 treasury shares were bought back in con-

junction with the first public share buy-back offer 

covering the period from 4 April to 25 April 2012.

�� In the Company’s second public share buy-back 

programme covering the period from 30 August to 

27 September 2012, 164,436 treasury shares were 

bought back.

During 2012, a total of 37,700 treasury shares were 

used to service stock options. 

Overall, the Company acquired 642,362 treasury shares 

during the year ended 31 December 2012.

At 31 December 2012 PULSION SE holds a total of 

683,522 treasury shares, corresponding to approxi-

mately 7.68% of the Company’s share capital.

Minority interests

Minority interests relate to PULSION Pacific and  

PULSION Mexico.

22. Incentive compensation plans

The Group has two stock option plans (the 2003 and 

2006 Stock Option Plans) which serve as incentives to 

tie in employees and management to the Group on a 

long-term basis. Settlement is in the form of the issue 

of equity instruments.

Details regarding the structure of the plans:

The exercise price of a stock option is generally equal 

to 125% of the fair market value of the Company’s  

common stock on the grant date. The terms of the 

stock options are for eight years (Stock Option Plan 

2003 and Stock Option Plan 2006). Options can be ex-

ercised under the stock option plans within predefined 

exercise windows. In the case of both plans, one half of 

the options can be exercised at the earliest two years 

after the grant date, and the other half at the earliest 

three years after the grant date. Fair values are deter-

mined using the Monte Carlo method. The average  

Xetra closing market price for PULSION stock in 2012 

was EUR 7.04. 
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The following table summarizes option activity for the years ended 31 December:

 

 31 Dec. 2012  31 Dec. 2011

  Options Weighted average 
exercise price 

(EUR)

Options Weighted average 
exercise price 

(EUR)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 146,851 4.81 221,500 5.11

Granted during the year 0   0  

Exercised during the year 37,700 3.17 22,149 3.17

Exercised during the year / Forfeited* 14,801 6.55 52,500 6.55

Outstanding at the end of the year 94,350 5.35 146,851 4.81

Thereof Executive Directors 50,000 5.08 50,000 5.08

Execisable at the end of the year 69,350 5.45 65,350 5.72

Thereof Executive Directors 25,000 5.08 0  

* of which 14.801 are available for re-issue (2011: 42.500).

The following table summarizes information about options outstanding at 31 December 2012:

     
Options outstanding

 
Options exercisable

Exercise price Number 
outstanding

Weighted average 
remaining

Weighted average 
exercise price

Number 
exercisable

Weighted average 
exercise price

EUR Units Years EUR Units EUR

 7 - 8 26,500 2.55 7.54 26,500 7.54

 5 - 7 50,000 5.75 5.08 0 0.00

 4 - 5 0     0  

 2 - 3 17,850 4.73 2.86 17,350 2.86

  94,350 5.15 4.89 43,850 5.72

At 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011, condi-

tional capital was available to meet subscription rights 

exercised in conjunction with incentive compensation 

plans. At 31 December 2012, 19 employees held  

options in conjunction with the incentive compensation 

plans.



The following weighted average assumptions were used 

to determine fair values in accordance with IFRS 2:

  2012 2011

Risk-free interest rate 1.24 % 1.24 %

Dividend income 0 % 0 %

Volatility 60.61 % 60.61 %

Exercise price (EUR) 5.08 5.08 

Terms of option rights 8 years 8 years

In accordance with IFRS 2 B25(b), volatility was deter-

mined for options granted in 2010 on the basis of an 

estimated average term of under 4 years on the basis of 

the past volatility of the market price of PULSION stock 

during the period from 2 October 2006 to 30 Novem-

ber 2010. It is assumed that option holders will exercise 

their rights at the earliest possible date after the vesting 

period. No further options were granted in 2012. 

23. Provisions

The composition of, and changes in, provisions were as follows:

  1 Jan. 2012 Utilized Reversed Interest 
unwound

Allocated 31 Dec. 2012

  KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

Warranties 139 12 0 0 1 128

Other contractual obligations 137 35 15 0 40 127

Legal disputes 213 143 60 0 0 10

Other  96 48 29 0 121 140

  585 238 104 0 162 405

  1 Jan. 2011 Utilized Reversed Interest 
unwound

Allocated 31 Dec. 2011

  KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

Warranties 162 40 0 0 17 139

Other contractual obligations 129 0 0 8 0 137

Legal disputes 322 62 47 0 0 213

Other  0 0 0 0 96 96

  613 102 47 8 113 585

In accordance with IAS 37, a provision is recognized 

when it is probable that an outflow of resources will be 

necessary to settle the obligation and a reliable esti-

mate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Provisions were recognized primarily for warranties, 

in particular for monitors, based on past experience 

(KEUR 128; 2011: KEUR 139) and for other contractual 

obligations (KEUR 127; 2011: KEUR 137). 

With the exception of a partial amount of KEUR 167 

(2011: KEUR 184), provisions all have an expected ma-

turity of up to one year. The non-current portion will be 

utilized in instalments through to 31 January 2022.
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24. Financial liabilities 

  Current Non-current

  31 Dec. 2012 
KEUR

31 Dec. 2011 
KEUR

31 Dec. 2012 
KEUR

31 Dec. 2011 
KEUR

Unsecured financial liabilities  
at amortized cost

Other 2,513 2,725 103 0

         

Secured financial liabilities at  
amortized cost

Current account balances 0 31 0 0

Bank loans 0 390 0 24

  2,513 3,146 103 24

 
25. Liabilities to banks

There were no liabilities to banks at 31 December 2012.

Collateral given to secure liabilities to banks at 31 De-

cember 2012 totalled KEUR 0. Mortgages on proper-

ty totalled KEUR 266 at the balance sheet date (2011: 

KEUR 417). As in the previous year, no cash was 

pledged to banks during the financial year 2012. As-

signment as collateral has been agreed for purchased 

equipment totalling KEUR 720 (including value added 

tax). At 31 December 2012 assets assigned as collater-

al amounted to KEUR 0 (2011 KEUR 228).

At 31 December 2012, the Group had unused credit 

lines of KEUR 177 (2011: KEUR 162).

The liabilities disclosed at 31 December 2011 were sub-

ject to the following terms and conditions:

Liabilities to banks Type Maturity Interest rate 31 Dec. 2012 Current Non-current

      % KEUR KEUR KEUR

WestLB AG, Duesseldorf Loan 09/2013 5.4 64 40 24

WestLB AG, Duesseldorf Loan 07/2012 6.3 350 350 0

Banco Pastor, Alcorcon / Spain Current Account 06/2012 6.0 31 31 0

Gesamt       445 421 24

Interest expenses in 2012 include KEUR 19 (2011: KEUR 36) for liabilities to banks.



26. Trade accounts payable

Trade accounts payable at the balance sheet date 

amounted to KEUR 1,842 (2011: KEUR 1,440). 

The Group has payment periods of between 0 and 

60 days. The Group has implemented financial risk 

management measures to ensure that all trade  

accounts payable are paid within the agreed payment 

periods.

27. Other liabilities

Other liabilities comprise:

  31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

Current other liabilities KEUR KEUR

Audit of company / group financial statements 156 228

License fees 161 159

Deferred income 211 298

Personnel-related obligations 1,054 1,055

Outstanding invoices 193 194

Accrual for rent-free period 210 0

Payroll taxes for December 2012 109 0

Value added pay payable 10 258

Other 409 533

  2,513 2,725

Non-current other liabilities    

Other 103 0

  103 0

Total other liabilities 2,616 2,725

Personnel-related obligations comprise mainly holiday 

and bonus entitlements as well as social insurance 

obligations. 
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28. Other financial obligations

Obligations from 2013 2014 2015 2016 ab 2017 Total

KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

Rental contracts 665 602 537 537 183 2,524

Vehicle leases 363 211 74 8 0 656

Other service contractors 74 24 7 2 1 107

Supplier framework agreements 8,053 27 20 0 0 8,099

Purchase agreements 2,004 3,089 685 23 17 5,818

Total 11,158 3,952 1,323 570 201 17,205

The line “Open purchase orders” includes framework 

agreements totalling KEUR 744. Commitments under 

purchase agreements amounted to KEUR 5,818. The 

combination of these two instruments provides security 

for production planning on the basis of sales forecasts. 

Fixed purchase prices also help to avoid unexpected 

price increases and reduce the risk of overstocking.

Future total minimum lease payments on non-cancel-

lable operating lease arrangements were as follows:

  2012 2011

  KEUR KEUR

Up to 1 year 1,041 959

Later than 1 year up to five years 2,066 2,024

Later than 5 years 0 0

  3,107 2,983

As the lessee under operating leases: Group companies 

lease buildings and equipment for their own use. These 

leases are classified as operating leases and have orig-

inal terms of between 2 and 6 years. The obligations 

relate primarily the operating lease arrangements for the 

site in Feldkirchen based on rental agreements dated 

2 January 2008. The rental agreement for the produc-

tion site in Feldkirchen contains an option to extend the 

rental period. A lease expense of KEUR 1,405 (2011: 

KEUR 1,312) was recognized in the income statement 

for operating leases.

As the lessor under operating leases: PULSION SE 

rents out items reported as investment properties.  

PULSION SE also makes monitors available to custom-

ers in return for commitments to purchase PULSION 

products and in return for a fee. 

The only contingent liabilities remaining at 31 December 

2012 related to a performance warranty amounting to 

K’USD 2 (2011: K’USD 2) and a rental guarantee to 

landlords amounting to KEUR 170 (2011: KEUR 157).

29. Disclosures with respect to IFRS 7

The Standard requires that financial instruments are 

allocated to categories of similar instruments. Disclo-

sures are required to be made for the categories so 

defined. This information relates primarily to the signifi-

cance of financial instruments and the nature and scale 

of risks attached to financial instruments, in particular 

quantitative and qualitative disclosures relating to credit,  

liquidity and market risks. The fair value – the amount for 

which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled,  

between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s 

length transaction – is determined on the basis of 

stock exchange prices. Fair value gains and losses on  



available-for-sale financial assets are recognized directly 

in equity.

Detailed disclosures relating to the quantitative 

and qualitative risks attached to each category are 

presented in the notes to the individual balance sheet 

items or categories.

 

The classes of assets and liabilities (all attributable to the category “loans and receivables”) 

were as follows at 31 December 2012:

  Carrying 
amount

Amount  
relevant for  

IFRS 7 purpose

Amortized  
cost

Fair value recog-
nized directly  

in equity

Fair value rec-
ognized through 

income statement

Fair value

  KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

Cash and cash equivalents 11,387 11,387 11,387 - - 11,387

Trade accounts receivable 5,729 5,729 5,729 - - 5,729

Other assets 629 - - - - -

Trade accounts payables 1,842 1,842 1,842 - - 1,842

Liabilities to banks - - - - - -

Financial debts - - - - - -

Lease liabilities - - - - - -

Other liabilities 2,513 510 510 - - 510

At 31 December 2011, the classes of assets and liabilities (all attributable 

to the category “loans and receivables”) were as follows:

  Carrying 
amount

Amount  
relevant for  

IFRS 7 purpose

Amortized  
cost

Fair value recog-
nized directly  

in equity

Fair value rec-
ognized through 

income statement

Fair value

  KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

Cash and cash equivalents 8,758 8,758 8,758 - - 8,758

Trade accounts receivable 5,927 5,927 5,927 - - 5,927

Other assets 508 - - - - -

Trade accounts payables 1,440 1,440 1,440 - - 1,440

Liabilities to banks 445 445 445 - - 445

Financial debts - - - - - -

Lease liabilities - - - - - -

Other liabilities 2,725 581 581 - - 581

Only assets and liabilities which fall into the categories 

defined by IFRS 7 are shown, so that the total amounts 

disclosed do not correspond to the balance sheet totals 

reported for each year.

The following table shows the Group’s financial liabilities 

and derivative financial liabilities by maturity category, 

based on the remaining term on the items at the end of 

the reporting period and in relation to the contractually 

agreed maturity date. Derivative financial liabilities are 

only included where this is necessary to understand the 

cash flows involved. The amounts shown in the table 

are undiscounted cash flows.
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31 December 2012 Up to 1 year 1-5 years Above 5 years

  KEUR KEUR KEUR

Bank overdrafts 0 0 0

Other liabilities to banks 0 0 0

Trade accounts payable 4,458 103 0

31 December 2011 Up to 1 year 1-5 years Above 5 years

  KEUR KEUR KEUR

Bank overdrafts 31 0 0

Other liabilities to banks 390 24 0

Trade accounts payable 4,165 0 0

Other (losses) / Gains – net 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

KEUR KEUR

Fair value losses 

relating to allowances on trade accounts receivable 33 334

relating to exchange rate losses / gains 66 128

30. Legal disputes and claims for damages

A case has been pending at the level of the French sub-

sidiary since 2007 involving the revocation of appoint-

ment of an ex-director. After losing his claim in the court 

of first instance, the appeal count found in favour of the 

claimant, and ordered PULSION to pay an amount of 

KEUR 130. Criminal proceedings initiated in 2008 were 

dropped in 2012 due to poor chances of success. No 

expense was recorded in 2012 since a corresponding 

amount had already been recognized as a provision. 

The Company will not appeal against the ruling. 

Other legal disputes which arise in the normal course 

of business are not material, taken individually or as a 

whole.

31. Earnings per share

PULSION’s basic earnings per share are calculated 

based on the Group net profit and the weighted aver-

age number of shares in circulation during the reporting 

period. Diluted earnings per share include additional  

dilution from potential issuance of common stock, such 

as stock issuable pursuant to the exercise of outstand-

ing stock options. This is not the case, however, when 

earnings per share increase due to the fact that the 

shares are withdrawn from circulation and therefore do 

not result in dilution.



2012 2011

Weighted average number of shares (undiluted) Number 8,579,720 8,877,724

Dilutive effect of options Number 22,568 10,279

Weighted average number of shares (diluted) Number 8,602,288 8,888,003

       

Group net profit / loss (after minority interests) KEUR 7,027 4,569

     

Earnings per share (undiluted) EUR 0.82 0.51

Earnings per share (diluted) EUR 0.82 0.51

The computation of diluted earnings per share does not 

take account of 69,350 options (2011: 28,350 options) 

which have an anti-diluting effect. A diluting effect arises 

in 2012 due to the fact that the average market price in 

2012 was higher than the exercise price of exercisable 

options. The decrease in the average number of shares 

from 9,528,232 to 8,579,720 was due to share buy-

backs executed in 2012 and to the reduction in total 

number of shares to 8,900,000 as a result of the can-

cellation of shares in 2012.

 
32. Financial instruments / Risk management

Significant accounting policies: Details of the Group’s 

principal accounting policies, including recognition 

criteria, measurement principles and the principles 

for recognizing income and expenses, are reported 

– separately for each class of financial asset, liability and 

equity instrument – in Note 4 of the notes to the con-

solidated financial statements. Impairment losses are 

analysed in Note 18.

 

Categories of financial instruments:

 

  31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

  KEUR KEUR

Financial assets    

Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 17,116 14,685

Financial assets 17,116 14,685

     

Financial liabilities    

Measured at fair value through profit or loss 0 0 

Other financial liabilities measured at amortized costs 4,458 4,610
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In the course of its operating activities, PULSION is ex-

posed to a number of risks which inevitably arise in con-

nection with entrepreneurial activities. All companies are 

faced with a two-fold challenge – on the one hand, they 

must promptly recognize economic opportunities and 

make the best possible use of them; on the other hand, 

they must be able to identify the risks accompanying 

every business activity, analyse the effects they may 

have on the enterprise and, as far as possible, use pre-

ventive measures to avoid or stave off dangers which 

could arise.

Under the leadership of PULSION’s risk manager, the 

relevant members of staff within each function perform 

regular checks on processes, transactions and de-

velopments with regard to potential and existing risks. 

PULSION’s risk management manual, which is contin-

ually revised to take account of internal and external 

changes, provides staff with a tool for identifying and 

correctly evaluating potential damage and the probabil-

ity of occurrence. Current and potential future risks, and 

the factors influencing them, are reported regularly to 

management. These issues are discussed thoroughly 

at board meetings so that appropriate measures can be 

initiated in good time.

Capital risk management: The Group’s objectives 

when managing capital are to maximize the return of the 

various parties involved in the company by optimizing 

the relationship between equity and debt capital. This 

also helps to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern. The Group’s capital structure com-

prises debt, cash and cash equivalents and the equity 

of the parent company attributable to shareholders. The 

latter comprises issued share capital, additional paid-in 

capital, other reserves and retained earnings.

Market risk: The Group is exposed to currency and 

interest rate risks. 

Foreign currency risks arise from expected future 

transactions, recognized assets and liabilities and the 

net investment in foreign operations. A foreign currency 

risk arises when expected future transactions as well as 

recognized assets and liabilities are denominated in a 

currency other than the functional currency. The Group 

operates internationally and is therefore exposed to a 

foreign currency risk. This risk is mitigated by the fact 

that most transactions are denominated in the function-

al currency and that only a small volume of foreign cur-

rency transactions (USD, GBP, AUD, CHF, PLN, MXN, 

TRY) were transacted. The carrying amounts of the 

Group’s foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities 

at the balance sheet date were as follows:

  Assets Liabilities

  31 Dec. 2012 
KEUR

31 Dec. 2011 
KEUR

31 Dec. 2012 
KEUR

31 Dec. 2011 
KEUR

USD 1,719 926 89 92

AUD 725 635 17 (17)

GBP 893 909 268 219

CHF 397 680 123 101

PLN 275 182 (1) 8

MXN 44 37 39 0

TRY 112 11 26 2



The following tables show, from a Group perspective, 

the sensitivity to a 10% change in the euro against other 

currencies to which the Group has an exposure. The 

potential impact of a 10% increase in the exchange rate 

against the euro is shown; if the change were in the 

other direction the impact would be the same (but with 

negative amounts).

  Assets Assets

  Carrying amount Change +10% Difference Carrying amount Change +10% Difference

31 Dec. 2012 
KEUR

31 Dec. 2012 
KEUR

31 Dec. 2012 
KEUR

31 Dec. 2011 
KEUR

31 Dec. 2011 
KEUR

31 Dec. 2011 
KEUR

USD 1,719 1,891 172 926 1,018 93

AUD 725 797 72 635 699 64

GBP 893 982 89 909 1,000 91

CHF 397 436 40 680 748 68

PLN 275 302 27 182 200 18

MXN 44 48 4 37 40 4

TRY 112 123 11 11 12 1

  4,164 4,581 416 3,380 3,718 338

  Liabilities Liabilities

  Carrying amount Change +10% Difference Carrying amount Change +10% Difference

31 Dec. 2012 
KEUR

31 Dec. 2012 
KEUR

31 Dec. 2012 
KEUR

31 Dec. 2011 
KEUR

31 Dec. 2011 
KEUR

31 Dec. 2011 
KEUR

USD 89 98 9 92 102 9

AUD 17 19 2 (17) (19) (2)

GBP 268 294 27 219 240 22

CHF 123 135 12 101 112 10

PLN (1) (2) 0 8 9 1

MXN 39 43 4 0 0 0

TRY 26 29 3 2 2 0

  561 617 56 406 446 41

The interest rate risk is restricted by the fact that exist-

ing long-term loans generally have fixed interest rates.  

Operating cash flow is almost entirely unaffected by 

changes in the market interest rate.
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Fair value measurement: The fair value measurement 

of assets and liabilities is performed in accordance  

with IAS 39. 

Credit risk: Credit risk is defined as the risk that the 

Group could incur a loss as a result one of its counter-

parties not fulfilling its contractual obligations. Internal 

rules are in place to ensure that business transactions 

are only entered into with creditworthy counterpar-

ties and that where appropriate adequate collateral is  

obtained to reduce risk of non-fulfilment of contractual 

obligations by counterparties. Trade accounts receiv-

able mostly relate to public sector organizations and 

distributors and are spread over various geographical 

regions. The financial standing of debtors is evaluated 

regularly in the form of credit assessments. The default 

risk relating to cash is very small since the counter

parties are banks. There have been no incidences of 

default in the past.

Credit and liquidity risk: The Group manages liquidi-

ty risk by ensuring it has adequate reserves and credit 

lines with banks, by continually monitoring forecast and 

actual cash flows and by matching wherever possible 

the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

 

The following tables show the expected cash outflows 

(including interest) for liabilities to banks and financial 

debt based on contractually agreed maturity dates.

31 Dec. 2012 Due 
immediately

Due within  
3 months

Due within  
3 to 12 months

Due within  
1 to 5 years

Due after more  
than 5 years

  KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

Liabilities to banks subject to variable 
interest rates 0 0 0 0 0

Liabilities to banks subject to fixed 
interest rates 0 0 0 0 0

  
0 0 0 0 0

31 Dec. 2011 Due 
immediately

Due within  
3 months

Due within  
3 to 12 months

Due within  
1 to 5 years

Due after more  
than 5 years

  KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

Liabilities to banks subject to variable 
interest rates 0 0 0 0 0

Liabilities to banks subject to fixed 
interest rates 0 16 389 25 0

  
Financial debt 0 0 0 0 0

  
0 16 389 25 0



33. Business unit reporting

In accordance with IFRS 8, PULSION reports on its  

operating business units based on the way information 

is reported internally to the chief operating decision 

maker and in line with the way that the chief operating 

decision maker in each operating business unit checks 

that information. 

Reporting is presented for the Critical Care and Perfu-

sion business units. The two business units are different 

in nature and are managed separately. This includes  

responsibilities for sales, procurement and regulatory 

affairs on the one hand and planning and management 

reporting on the other.

Both business units report segment information from 

external revenues down to EBIT.

Business unit information at 31 December 2012 is analysed as follows:

in KEUR Critical Care Perfusion Group

Total sales 28,805 5,816 34,621

Cost of sales (7,948) (1,926) (9,874)

Gross profit 20,857 3,890 24,747

% of sales 72 % 67 % 71 %

Operating expenses

    - Selling and marketing expenses (9,222) (864) (10,086)

    - Research and development expenses (1,909) (516) (2,425)

    - General and administrative expenses (2,967) (471) (3,438)

Other operating expenses (191) 0 (191)

Other operating income 993 0 993

Exchange gains / losses (66) 0 (66)

EBIT (profit before interest and taxes) 7,494 2,040 9,535

% of sales 26.0 % 35.1 % 27.5 %
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The Perfusion business unit recorded a gross margin of 

67% in 2012, and hence slightly lower than that of the 

Critical Care business unit. The main reason for this is 

the comparatively higher level of production and quality 

assurance costs incurred to produce the pharmaceuti-

cal agent indocyanine green (ICG).

The Perfusion business unit also has a very lean struc-

ture in personnel terms, with low marketing and selling 

costs. Thanks to the lower level of operating costs, its 

reports an EBIT margin of over 35.1%. 

The EBIT margin of the Critical Care business unit rose 

to 26.0% (2011: 17.9%). This improvement was partly 

due to a change in the product mix (in favour of prod-

ucts with lower production costs which in turn gave a 

higher gross profit margin) and partly due to fact that 

savings in the areas of development and administration 

were primarily attributable to this business unit.

Business unit information at 31 December 2011 is analysed as follows: 

 in KEUR Critical Care Perfusion Group

Total sales 27,918 5,031 32,949

Cost of sales (8,370) (1,851) (10,221)

Gross profit 19,548 3,180 22,728

% of sales 70 % 63 % 69 %

Operating expenses

    - Selling and marketing expenses (9,176) (456) (9,632)

    - Research and development expenses (2,631) (405) (3,036)

    - General and administrative expenses (3,048) (549) (3,597)

Other operating expenses (428) 0 (428)

Other operating income 860 0 860

Exchange gains / losses (134) 0 (134)

EBIT (profit before interest and taxes) 4,991 1,770 6,761

% of sales 17.9 % 35.2 % 20.5 %

The Group’s customer portfolio does not give rise to any risks in terms of dependence on individual customers.



34. Representative bodies of PULSION 

During the financial year 2012, the Executive 

Director(s) comprised the following:

Herr Patricio Lacalle 

Chairman of the Executive Directors;

Other mandates:

�� Member of the Board of Directors of PULSION 

Medical UK Ltd., United Kingdom 

�� Gérant of PULSION France S.A.R.L., France 

�� Member of the Board of Directors of PULSION 

Austria GmbH, Austria 

�� Director of PULSION Medical Inc., USA 

�� Member of the Board of Directors of PULSION 

Benelux N.V. , Belgium  

�� Member of the Board of Directors of PULSION 

Pacific PTY., Australia 

�� Member of the Board of Directors of PULSION 

Switzerland GmbH, Switzerland 

�� Member of the Board of Directors of PULSION 

Poland Sp.z.o.o., Poland

�� Member of the Board of Directors of PULSION 

Iberica S.L, Spain 

�� Member of the Board of Directors of PULSION 

Medical Systems S. de RL de CV, Mexico 

�� Member of the Board of Directors of PULSION 

Medical Systems Medikal Ürünler Ticaret Limited 

Sirketi 

During the financial year 2012, the Adminis-

trative Board comprised the following:

Herr Dr. Burkhard Wittek 

MBA, Entrepreneur, Chairman;  

Other mandates:

�� Immunodiagnostic System Holdings plc, Boldon 

Tyne & Wear, UK (non-executive Board Member)

Herr Jürgen Lauer 

Dipl.-Betriebswirt, MBA, Deputy Chairman;

Director of JüLa Beteiligungs GmbH, Weißenhorn;

Other mandates:

�� Medica Medizintechnik GmbH, Hochdorf (member 

of the Advisory Board)

�� WashTec AG, Augsburg (Deputy Chairman of the 

Supervisory Board; to 10 May 2012)

Herr Frank Fischer 

Dipl.-Kaufmann

�� Chairman of the Shareholder Value  

Management AG, Frankfurt am Main

�� Chairman of the Shareholder Value  

Beteiligungen AG, Frankfurt am Main 

�� Director of Value Focus Beteiligungs GmbH, 

Hofheim

No further mandates

35. Related parties

The parent company is PULSION Medical Systems 

SE, based in Munich, Germany. Transactions between 

PULSION SE and its subsidiaries that are also related 

parties were eliminated on consolidation. These trans-

actions are not commented on in this note on related 

parties. Transactions with related parties were charged 

on the basis of arm’s length principles.

In order to secure the financing of the subsidiaries 

PULSION Pacific Pty. Limited, PULSION Medical UK 

Ltd. and PULSION Medical Systems S. de RL de CV, 

Mexico, the parent company has agreed to defer the 

payment of those entities’ intra-Group payables until 31 

December 2013.

In accordance with IAS 24, the Group also reports all 

transactions between it and its related parties (including 

family members). Members of the Administrative Board 

and the Executive Director(s) (up to 9 June 2011 mem-

bers of the Management Board and Supervisory Board) 

– in all cases also including and family members – have 

been defined as related parties. 
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The Chairman of the Administrative Board, Dr. Burkhard 

Wittek is also the Managing Director of FORUM Euro-

pean Smallcaps GmbH, Munich, Germany (“FES”). FES, 

together with Forum Private Equity GmbH and a num-

ber of private individuals known to PULSION through 

notifications given to it pursuant to §35 (1) of German 

Securities Acquisition and Takeover Act (WpÜG) (in 

conjunction with § 10 (3) WpÜG) have joined to form 

an shareholders’ pool. The pool gave notice on 16 Feb-

ruary 2009 that its shareholding in PULSION Medical 

Systems SE had exceeded the 30% threshold and 

that it represented the majority of the participants pres-

ent at the Annual General Meeting 2009. Since then,  

PULSION has prepared an annual Dependant Compa-

ny Report.

Compensation report for the Executive Directors

2012 2011

  Fixed Variable Other Total Fixed Variable Other Total

* ** ***   * ** ***  

 KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

Patricio Lacalle 245 69 0 314 238 50 0 288

Christoph R. Manegold (until 31 Oct. 2011) 0 0 0 0 162 0 195 357

*  incl. private use of car, reimbursement of social security contributions and insurance benefits	
**  estimated entitlement for 2012 and 2011								      
*** remuneration earned on the exercise of stock options and redundancy payments						    

No share options were granted to Executive Directors in 

2012 (2011: none). The remuneration of the members 

of the Executive Directors totalled KEUR 314 (2011: 

KEUR 645). Out of the total amount accrued at the end 

of the previous year for variable remuneration, KEUR 80 

was not disbursed in 2012.

The Executive Directors’ service contracts do not con-

tain any specific commitment to pay compensation in 

the event of either the early or regular termination of 

their contracts. Compensation may arise, however, in 

conjunction with a future specific contract termination 

agreement. 

Further disclosures with regard to the share-based  

remuneration of the Executive Directors for 2012 are 

presented in Note 22.

Compensation report for the Administrative 

Board 

The expense recognized for compensation of the  

Administrative Board during the financial year 2012 

by way of fixed remuneration totalled KEUR 56 (2011: 

KEUR 51). Variable remuneration for the financial year 

2012 (based on EBIT) amounted to KEUR 56 (2011: 

KEUR 51). Amounts paid to the members of the Admin-

istrative Board were as follows:

  2012 2011

  Fixed
KEUR

Variable*
KEUR

Other
KEUR

Total
KEUR

Fixed
KEUR

Variable
KEUR

Other
KEUR

Total
KEUR

Dr. Burkhard Wittek 25.00 25.00 0 50.00 23.00 23.00 0.00 46.00

Jürgen Lauer 18.75 18.75 0 37.50 17.00 17.00 0.00 34.00

Frank Fischer 12.50 12.50 0 25.00 11.00 11.00 0.22 22.22

Total 56.25 56.25 0 112.50 51.00 51.00 0 102.22

*  estimated entitlement for 2012										        



Shareholdings of Executive Directors and members of the Administrative Board

At 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011, the Executive Directors of PULSION SE held the following number 

of shares and stock options:

  31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Executive Director Shares 
(Units)

Options 
(Number)

Shares 
(Units)

Options 
(Number)

Patricio Lacalle 56,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

Christoph R. Manegold (until 31 Oct. 2011) 0 0 20 0

Total 56,000 50,000 50,020 50,000

Administrative Board gave notice to the Company of 

reportable shareholdings in the Company as at 31 De-

cember 2012 as follows:

Based on the conclusion of a shareholders’ agreement, 

Dr. Burkhard Wittek reported at 31 December 2012 that 

he held 4,541,676 shares which were attributable jointly 

to pool participants pursuant to § 30 (2) p.1. of the Ger-

man Securities Acquisition and Takeover Act (WpÜG). 

Close family members of Dr. Wittek hold a further 4,000 

shares at 31 December 2012.

Jürgen Lauer directly held 10,525 shares of the Compa-

ny at 31 December 2012.

At 31 December 2012 Frank Fischer, together with 

close family members, holds 56,611 of the Company’s 

shares. In total, 607,231 shares are attributable directly 

and directly via Mr. Fischer’s activities as Management 

Board member of Shareholder Value Management AG 

and Shareholder Value Beteiligungen AG.

Reportable transactions

A summary of transactions of members of the Adminis-

trative Board and of Executive Directors with PULSION 

securities, as notified to PULSION SE in accordance 

with § 15a of the German Securities Trade Act (Wert-

papierhandelsgesetz), can be accessed on the Compa-

ny’s website at www.pulsion.com. During the financial 

year 2012, the following notifications of transactions 

were given to PULSION SE:

�� 28 February 2012, the purchase of 920 shares at 

EUR 5.50 for a total amount of EUR 5,060.00 by  

Mr Patricio Lacalle, Executive Director

�� 29 February 2012, the purchase of 80 shares at 

EUR 5.50 for a total amount of EUR 440.00 by  

Mr Patricio Lacalle, Executive Director

�� 30 March 2012, the purchase of 5,000 shares at 

EUR 5.905 for a total amount of EUR 29,579.66 

(339 shares at EUR 5.89; 1,161 shares at EUR 5.92; 

339 shares at EUR 5.89; 3,161 shares at EUR 5.92) 

by Mr Patricio Lacalle, Executive Director

�� 24 May 2012, the purchase of 1,600 shares at  

EUR 6.00 for a total amount of EUR 9,600.00 by  

Mr Jürgen Lauer, Member of the Administrative 

Board

�� 14 June 2012, the purchase of 1,119 shares at  

EUR 6.00 for a total amount of EUR 6,714.00 by  

Mr Nikolas Wittek, natural person closely related to 

the Chairman of the Administrative Board

�� 19 June 2012, the purchase of 881 shares at  

EUR 6.00 for a total amount of EUR 5,302.00 by  

Mr Nikolas Wittek, natural person closely related to 

the Chairman of the Administrative Board

�� 19 June 2012, the purchase of 3,359 shares at  

EUR 6.00 for a total amount of EUR 20,154.00 by 

Mr Jürgen Lauer, Member of the Administrative 

Board

�� 20 June 2012, the purchase of 205 shares at  

EUR 6.00 for a total amount of EUR 1,230.00 by  

Mr Jürgen Lauer, Member of the Administrative 

Board

�� 25 June 2012, the purchase of 502 shares at  

EUR 6.10 for a total amount of EUR 3,062.20 by  
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Mr Jürgen Lauer, Member of the Administrative 

Board

�� 29 June 2012, the purchase of 3,159 shares at  

EUR 6.10 for a total amount of EUR 19,269.90  

by Mr Jürgen Lauer, Member of the Administrative 

Board

�� 5 July 2012, the purchase of 1,700 shares at  

EUR 6.40 for a total amount of EUR 10,810.00  

by Mr Jürgen Lauer, Member of the Administrative 

Board

36. Auditors’ fees

In 2012, an expense of KEUR 105 (2011: KEUR 132) 

was recognized for the audit of the Company and 

Group financial statements and dependent company 

report pursuant to § 313 AktG (German Stock Corpo-

ration Act). Of this amount KEUR 43 related to the au-

ditors’ international organization. In 2012, fees of KEUR 

16 (2011: KEUR 34) were incurred for other services.

37. Corporate-Governance-Kodex 

A compliance declaration pursuant to § 161 of the Ger-

man Stock Corporation Act (AktG) has been issued and 

is available to shareholders on PULSION SE’s website 

www.pulsion.com/fileadmin/pulsion_share/ 

Investor/Corporate_Governance/ 

Entsprechenserklaerung_2011.pdf

38. �Disclosures pursuant to § 160 (1)  
no. 8 of the German Stock  
Corporation Act (AktG)

Felix Beteiligungen AG, Frankfurt am Main, Germa-

ny, notified us on 3 January 2012 pursuant to § 21 (1) 

WpHG (German Securities Trading Act) that its voting 

rights in PULSION Medical Systems SE, Feldkirchen, 

Germany, exceeded the 3% threshold on 5 October 

2011 and amounted to 3.00% at that date (correspond-

ing to 287,439 votes). 

Christiane Weispfenning, Germany, notified us on 24 

April 2012 pursuant to § 21 (1) WpHG (German Se-

curities Trading Act) that her voting rights in PULSION 

Medical Systems SE, Feldkirchen, Germany, exceeded 

the 3% threshold on 2 November 2011 and amounted 

to 4.36% at that date (corresponding to 417,132 votes).

4.11% of the voting rights (corresponding to 393,332 

votes) are attributable to Christiane Weispfenning via Fe-

lix Beteiligungen AG pursuant to § 22 (1), sentence 1, no. 

1 WpHG (German Securities Trading Act). 

Christiane Weispfenning, Germany, notified us on 24 

April 2012 pursuant to § 21 (1) WpHG (German Securi-

ties Trading Act) that her voting rights in PULSION Med-

ical Systems SE, Feldkirchen, Germany, went below the 

3% threshold on 5 March 2012 and amounted to 1.23% 

at that date (corresponding to 117,540 votes).

1.00% of the voting rights (corresponding to 95,990 

votes) are attributable to Christiane Weispfenning pur-

suant to § 22 (1), sentence 1, no. 1 WpHG (German 

Securities Trading Act). 

The following notifications on the part of Dr. Burkhard 

Wittek, FORUM European Smallcaps GmbH, Gabriele 

Wittek, FORUM Private Equity GmbH, Dr. Irmgard Wit-

tek and Prof. Dr. Klaus Kühn relate to a shareholders’ 

pool.

Dr. Burkhard Wittek, Germany, notified us on 16 May 

2012 pursuant to § 21 (1) WpHG (German Securities 

Trading Act) that his voting rights in PULSION Medical 

Systems SE, Feldkirchen, Germany, exceeded the 50% 

threshold on 2 April 2012 and amounted to 52.06% at 

that date (corresponding to 4,633,543 votes).

52,06% of the voting rights (corresponding to 4,633,543 

votes) are attributable to Dr. Wittek pursuant to § 22 (2) 

WpHG (German Securities Trading Act) via Forum Pri-

vate Equity GmbH and Prof. Klaus Kühn, whose voting 

rights in PULSION Medical Systems SE amount to 3% 

or more.

FORUM European Smallcaps GmbH, Munich, Germany, 

notified us on 16 May 2012 pursuant to § 21 (1) WpHG 

(German Securities Trading Act) that its voting rights in 

PULSION Medical Systems SE, Feldkirchen, Germa-

ny, exceeded the 50% threshold on 2 April 2012 and 

amounted to 52.06% at that date (corresponding to 

4,633,543 votes).



29.38% of the voting rights (corresponding to 2,615,004 

votes) are attributable to the company pursuant to § 22 

(2) WpHG (German Securities Trading Act) via Forum 

Private Equity GmbH and Prof. Klaus Kühn, whose vot-

ing rights in PULSION Medical Systems SE amount to 

3% or more.

Gabriele Wittek, Germany, notified us on 22 May 2012 

pursuant to § 21 (1) WpHG (German Securities Trading 

Act) that her voting rights in PULSION Medical Systems 

SE, Feldkirchen, Germany, exceeded the 50% threshold 

on 2 April 2012 and amounted to 52.06% at that date 

(corresponding to 4,633,543 votes).

51.86% of the voting rights (corresponding to 4,615,543 

votes) are attributable to Gabriele Wittek pursuant to  

§ 22 (2) WpHG (German Securities Trading Act) via  

FORUM Private Equity GmbH, FORUM European Small-

caps GmbH and Klaus Kühn, whose voting rights in 

PULSION Medical Systems SE amount to 3% or more.

FORUM Private Equity GmbH, Munich, Germany, noti-

fied us on 22 May 2012 pursuant to § 21 (1) WpHG 

(German Securities Trading Act) that its voting rights in 

PULSION Medical Systems SE, Feldkirchen, Germa-

ny, exceeded the 50% threshold on 2 April 2012 and 

amounted to 52.06% at that date (corresponding to 

4,633,543 votes).

28.68% of the voting rights (corresponding to 2,552,285 

votes) are attributable to FORUM Private Equity GmbH 

pursuant to § 22 (2) WpHG (German Securities Trading 

Act) via Forum European Smallcaps GmbH and Klaus 

Kühn, whose voting rights in PULSION Medical Systems 

SE amount to 3% or more.

Dr. Irmgard Wittek, Germany, notified us on 29 May 

2012 pursuant to § 21 (1) WpHG (German Securities 

Trading Act) that her voting rights in PULSION Medical 

Systems SE, Feldkirchen, Germany, exceeded the 50% 

threshold on 2 April 2012 and amounted to 52.06% at 

that date (corresponding to 4,633,543 votes).

50.73% of the voting rights (corresponding to 4,514,904 

votes) are attributable to Dr. Irmgard Wittek pursuant 

to § 22 (2) WpHG (German Securities Trading Act) via 

FORUM European Smallcaps GmbH, FORUM Private 

Equity GmbH and Prof. Dr. Klaus Kühn, whose voting 

rights in PULSION Medical Systems SE amount to 3% 

or more.

Prof. Dr. Klaus Kühn, Germany, notified us on 27 May 

2012 pursuant to § 21 (1) WpHG (German Securities 

Trading Act) that his voting rights in PULSION Medical 

Systems SE, Feldkirchen, Germany, exceeded the 50% 

threshold on 2 April 2012 and amounted to 52.06% at 

that date (corresponding to 4,633,543 votes).

47.60% of the voting rights (corresponding to 4,236,436 

votes) are attributable to Prof. Dr. Kühn pursuant to § 22 

(2) WpHG (German Securities Trading Act) via FORUM 

European Smallcaps GmbH and FORUM Private Equity 

GmbH, whose voting rights in PULSION Medical Sys-

tems SE amount to 3% or more.

PULSION Medical Systems SE, Feldkirchen, Germany, 

gave notice on 15 June 2012 pursuant to § 26 (1) sen-

tence 2 WpHG (German Securities Trading Act) that its 

holdings of treasury (own) shares on 2 April 2012 went 

under the thresholds of 5% and 3% of the voting rights 

and amounted to 1.41% at that date (corresponding to 

125,534 votes).

BNY Mellon Service Kapitalanlage-Gesellschaft mbH, 

Frankfurt, Germany notified us on 17 August 2012 pur-

suant to § 21 (1) WpHG (German Securities Trading Act) 

that its voting rights in PULSION Medical Systems SE, 

Feldkirchen, Germany, exceeded the 3% threshold on 

16 August 2012 and amounted to 3.50% at that date 

(corresponding to 311,323 votes).

The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Brussels, Bel-

gium, notified us on 17 August 2012 pursuant to § 21 

(1) WpHG (German Securities Trading Act) that its vot-

ing rights in PULSION Medical Systems SE, Feldkirch-

en, Germany, exceeded the 3% threshold on 16 August 

2012 and amounted to 3.50% at that date (correspond-

ing to 311,323 votes).

3.50% of the voting rights (corresponding to 311,323 

votes) are attributable to the company via BNY Mellon 

Service Kapitalanlage-Gesellschaft mbH pursuant to 
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§ 22 (1) sentence 1, no. 1 WpHG (German Securities 

Trading Act).

The Bank of New York Mellon, New York, USA, noti-

fied us on 17 August 2012 pursuant to § 21 (1) WpHG 

(German Securities Trading Act) that its voting rights in 

PULSION Medical Systems SE, Feldkirchen, Germany, 

exceeded the 3% threshold on 16 August 2012 and 

amounted to 3.50% at that date (corresponding to 

311,323 votes).

3.50% of the voting rights (corresponding to 311,323 

votes) are attributable to the company via The Bank of 

New York Mellon SA/NV and BNY Mellon Service Kap-

italanlage-Gesellschaft mbH pursuant to § 22 (1) sen-

tence 1, no. 1 WpHG (German Securities Trading Act).

The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation, New York, 

USA, notified us on 17 August 2012 pursuant to § 21 

(1) WpHG (German Securities Trading Act) that its vot-

ing rights in PULSION Medical Systems SE, Feldkirch-

en, Germany, exceeded the 3% threshold on 16 August 

2012 and amounted to 3.50% at that date (correspond-

ing to 311,323 votes).

3.50% of the voting rights (corresponding to 311,323 

votes) are attributable to the company via The Bank of 

New York Mellon, The Bank of New York Mellon SA/

NV and BNY Mellon Service Kapitalanlage-Gesellschaft 

mbH pursuant to § 22 (1) sentence 1, no. 1 WpHG (Ger-

man Securities Trading Act).

PULSION Medical Systems SE, Feldkirchen, Germa-

ny, gave notice on 21 December 2012 pursuant to  

§ 26 (1) sentence 2 WpHG (German Securities Trading 

Act) that its holdings of treasury (own) shares on 9 May 

2012 exceeded the 3% threshold of the voting rights 

and amounted to 4.61% at that date (corresponding to 

410,501 votes).

PULSION Medical Systems SE, Feldkirchen, Germany, 

gave notice on 21 December 2012 pursuant to § 26 (1) 

sentence 2 WpHG (German Securities Trading Act) that 

its holdings of treasury (own) shares on 1 October 2012 

exceeded the 5% threshold and amounted to 5.16% at 

that date (corresponding to 459,673 votes).

39. Appropriation of profit

The Executive Director proposes that the accumulated 

loss be carried forward.

40. �Events after the end of the  
reporting period

There have been no events after the end of the reporting 

period that required to be reported or which are worthy 

of mention.

Feldkirchen, 8 March 2013

PULSION Medical Systems SE

Patricio Lacalle	

Executive Director



Responsibility Statement

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with 

the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated  

financial statements give a true and fair view of the as-

sets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group, 

and the Group management report includes a fair review 

of the development and performance and position of  

the business and the position of the Group, together 

with a description of the principal opportunities and 

risks associated with the expected development of  

the Group.

Feldkirchen, 8 March 2013

PULSION Medical Systems SE

Patricio Lacalle	

Executive Director
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Auditors’ Report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements 

prepared by the PULSION Medical Systems SE, Feld-

kirchen, comprising the consolidated balance sheet, 

the Group income statement and reconciliation of result 

to total comprehensive income, consolidated statement 

of changes in equity, consolidated cash flow statement 

and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, 

together with the Group management report for the 

business year from 1 January 2012 to 31 December 

2012. The preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements and the Group management report in ac-

cordance with the IFRS, as adopted by the EU, and 

the additional requirements of German commercial law 

pursuant to § (Article) 315a Abs. (paragraph) 1 HGB 

(German Commercial Code) is the responsibility of the 

parent Company’s Board of Managing Directors. Our 

responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidat-

ed financial statements and on the Group management 

report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with § 317 HGB (German 

Commercial Code) and generally accepted standards 

in Germany for the audit of financial statements pro-

mulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute 

of Public Auditors in Germany) (IDW). Those standards 

require that we plan and perform the audit such that 

misstatements materially affecting the presentation of 

the net assets, financial position and results of opera-

tions in the consolidated financial statements in accor-

dance with the applicable financial reporting framework 

and in the Group management report are detected 

with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business 

activities and the economic and legal environment of the 

Group and expectations as to possible misstatements 

are taken into account in the determination of audit pro-

cedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related 

internal control system and the evidence supporting 

the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 

and the Group management report are examined pri-

marily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. 

The audit includes assessment of the annual financial 

statements of those entities included in consolidation, 

the determination of the entities to be included in con-

solidation, the accounting and consolidation principles 

used and significant estimates made by the Company’s 

Executive Director, as well as evaluating the overall pre-

sentation of the consolidated financial statements and 

the Group management report. We believe that our au-

dit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion based on the findings of our audit, the 

consolidated financial statements comply with the IFRS 

as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements 

of German commercial law pursuant to § 315a para-

graph 1 HGB (German Commercial Code) and give a 

true and fair view of the net assets, financial position 

and results of operations of the Group in accordance 

with these requirements. The Group management  

report is consistent with the consolidated financial 

statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of 

the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportu-

nities and risks of future development.

Munich, 11 March 2013

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Aktiengesellschaft

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Anita Botzenhardt

Auditor

ppa. Florian Horn

Auditor



Financial calendar 2013

The Annual Report can be downloaded under www.PULSION.com, Investor Relations section, and is also available 

in English. This section also includes comprehensive information on PULSION figures and stock. 

We are available to answer your questions under investor@pulsion.com. 

Important dates for our investors in 2013:

Financial report on first quarter 2013 8 May 2013

Annual General Meeting 16 May 2013

Financial report on first half-year 2013 9 August 2013

Financial report on first three quarters 2013 8 November 2013
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Glossary

Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS) 

Sudden respiratory failure which may be precipitated 

by one of several causes such as shock, respiratory 

disease or the aspiration or inhalation of water or toxic 

gases. In ARDS the lungs become almost incapable of 

gaseous exchange and the body is acutely at risk of 

being deprived of its oxygen supply. Between 30% and 

50% of cases of ARDS are fatal. 

Haemodynamics 

Haemodynamics is a term used to describe the flow of 

blood through the heart, blood vessels and organs. An 

adequate blood flow is essential for supplying cells and 

organs with oxygen and nutrients. Disruption of haemo-

dynamics leads swiftly to organ damage and life-threat-

ening situations. 

Haemodynamc monitoring 

In recent years “haemodynamic monitoring” has 

become the accepted term for the use of equip-

ment-based monitoring of the cardiovascular system. 

In simple haemodynamic monitoring, the pulse rate and 

heart rhythm are continuously monitored using sensors 

attached to the body. 

In addition, intermittent readings are made of the blood 

pressure, using an inflatable cuff, and of the arterial ox-

ygen level, using a sensor attached to the finger. “En-

hanced haemodynamic monitoring” – a field in which 

PULSION aims to lead the worldwide market – is con-

cerned with the needs of critically ill patients. It requires 

both an arterial line and a central venous line to be in 

situ. The worldwide standard includes the continuous 

measurement of arterial and venous blood pressure 

and intermittent measurement of central venous oxygen 

saturation. A range of important cardiovascular param-

eters can be measured continuously* using PiCCO2
®, 

which does not require any additional access lines, thus 

avoiding further risk to the patient. These parameters 

make it possible to recognize life-threatening cardio-

vascular situations and to make accurate therapeutic 

decisions earlier. 

Cardiac output 

The amount of blood pumped around the body by  

the heart per minute. Low cardiac output endangers 

a patient’s circulatory system and chances of survival. 

Cardiac output depends on several factors, such as the 

pumping strength and capacity of the heart, the quan-

tity of blood available and the diameter of the blood 

vessels. 

Cardiogenic shock 

A reduction in the heart’s pumping capacity which leads 

to diminished oxygen supply to the rest of the body. This 

may result in organ hypofunction or organ failure. The 

insufficient pumping action of the heart causes blood 

congestion in the lungs, leading to pulmonary oedema 

and breathlessness. Cardiogenic shock is associated 

with high mortality. 

Intensive (or critical) care medicine 

The area of medicine dealing with the diagnosis and 

treatment of life-threatening conditions and diseases. It 

is usually carried out on the intensive care unit, which 

is a specially equipped hospital ward. Intensive care 

units have specially trained staff and extensive technical 

equipment. Since patients are highly dependent, one 

nurse will have to look after 1 to 3 patients (the ratio on 

ordinary wards is approximately 1:20). 

Monitoring 

In intensive care medicine, this term refers to the use  

of equipment to carry out continuous observations 

of parameters and organ functions of intensive care 

patients. These parameters include, amongst others, 

heart rate, respiration, ECG, oxygen saturation and 

blood pressure. 



Monitoring systems (multi-parameter systems) 

Equipment used to carry out comprehensive monitoring  

of patients in hospital, above all on intensive care units. 

Throughout the world, a number of European and Amer-

ican companies have established themselves as manu-

facturers of patient monitoring systems, amongst them 

companies such as Philips-Healthcare, GE Medical, 

Dräger Medical, Datascope, Nihon Kohden, Mindray, 

Schiller and Spacelabs. They integrate an ever-increas-

ing number of observations into so-called multi-para

meter systems. PULSION technologies are also de-

signed for use in patient monitoring systems via special 

modules or interfaces. PULSION has already devel-

oped integrated modules for use with systems made 

by Philips and Dräger Medical. It is possible to attach 

individual pieces of PULSION equipment to monitoring 

systems made by a number of other manufacturers. 

Shock 

Shock is the body’s reaction to a critical situation in or-

der to restore stable blood pressure. The blood vessels 

become constricted and the ensuing reduction in the 

oxygen supply to the body may become life-threaten-

ing if it continues. Shock can be caused by infection, 

hypersensitivity, heart failure or fluid loss; it is therefore 

referred to as septic shock, anaphylactic shock, car-

diogenic shock, hypovolaemic shock etc. Shock is 

the most frequent and most serious problem arising in  

intensive care medicine. 

Sepsis 

Sepsis is commonly known as “blood poisoning”. It oc-

curs when an infection becomes widespread through-

out the entire body within a few hours. It is always 

caused by a local infection which the body is unable 

to contain. Shock occurring as a reaction to sepsis is 

known as septic shock and is fatal in more than 50% 

of cases. 

Disposables

PULSION’s Critical Care segment sells medical equip-

ment (monitors and modules) and disposables (cathe-

ters and probes). Whereas the equipment can be used 

continually, the disposables are designed as sterile 

products for single use and must be bought new for 

each application. 

Parameters measured using PiCCO2
® include:  

cardiac output index (HI, PCHI), stroke volume index 

(SVI), stroke volume variation (SVV), pulse pressure 

variation (PPV), preload volume index (GEDI), systemic 

vascular resistance index (SVR), global ejection fraction 

(GEF), cardiac function index (CFI), maximum velocity of 

left ventricular pressure increase (dpmx), extravascular 

lung water index (ELWI), pulmonary vascular permeability  

index (PVPI), cardiac power index (CPI), central venous 

oxygen saturation (ScvO2), oxygen consumption index 

(VO2I), oxygen delivery index (DO2I) and global liver 

function (PDR-ICG).





PULSION Medical Inc., USA
Phone +1-214-446 85 00
infoUS@pulsion.com

PULSION Austria GmbH
Phone +43-1-533 66 35
infoAT@pulsion.com

PULSION Benelux nv/sa
Phone +32-9-242 99 10
info@pulsion.be

PULSION Switzerland GmbH
Phone +41-41-500 37 92
infoCH@pulsion.com

PULSION Medical Systems Iberica S.L.
Phone +34-91-626 61 08
infoES@pulsion.com

PULSION Poland Sp.z.oo.
Phone +48-605 23 37 66
infoPL@pulsion.com

PULSION Medical Systems S. de R.L. de C.V.
Phone +52 (55) 5207 6115 /5674 /6506
info@pulsion.com

PULSION France S.A.R.L.
Phone +33-1-41 73 09 04
infoFR@pulsion.com

PULSION Medical UK Ltd.
Phone +44-208-814 79 74
infoUK@pulsion.com

PULSION MEDICAL SYSTEMS
Med. Ürün. Tic. Ltd. Sti.
Phone +90 212 337 57 2

PULSION Medical Systems SE · Hans-Riedl-Str. 17 · D-85622 Feldkirchen
Phone +49-(0)89-45 99 14-0 · Fax +49-(0)89-45 99 14-18
infoDE@pulsion.com · www.PULSION.com

Editor: PULSION Medical Systems SE · Design & Production: Zeilbeck Design Company
www.PULSION.com


